
  

 
 
 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING AGENDA 
 

  Healthy Communities without Poverty 
   

    

Date:  Wednesday, October 28, 2020 

Time:  1:30 PM or immediately following the adjournment of the 
Community Services Committee 

Location: By video conference while pandemic protocols are in place 

Join Zoom Meeting 
Uhttps://zoom.us/j/92660019819?pwd=UHFQb1pYdkpHUnVJd2tMQXNzL3Vodz09 U 
 
Meeting ID: 926 6001 9819 
Passcode: 361720 
One tap mobile 
+16473744685,,92660019819#,,,,,,0#,,361720# Canada 
+16475580588,,92660019819#,,,,,,0#,,361720# Canada 
 
Dial by your location 
        +1 647 374 4685 Toronto 
        +1 647 558 0588 Toronto 
Meeting ID: 926 6001 9819 
Passcode: 361720 
Find your local number: Uhttps://zoom.us/u/akK5XcyU2 U 

 

Members:  Councillor Mark King (Chair), Councillor Dan Roveda (Vice-Chair), 
Mayor Dean Backer, Councillor Mac Bain, Mayor Jane Dumas, Councillor Terry 
Kelly, Councillor Chris Mayne, Councillor Dave Mendicino, Mayor Dan O’Mara, 
Councillor Scott Robertson, Representative Amanda Smith, Councillor Bill 
Vrebosch. 

      

Item Topic 

1.0 1.1 0BCall to Order 

MOTION:  #2020-103  
Resolved THAT the Board of Directors accepts the Roll Call as read by the 
Recording Secretary for the Regular Board meeting of October 28, 2020 at 
_____PM. 

1

https://zoom.us/j/92660019819?pwd=UHFQb1pYdkpHUnVJd2tMQXNzL3Vodz09
https://zoom.us/u/akK5XcyU2


  

Item Topic 

 
1.2 Declaration of Conflict of Interest 

2.0 
 

1BOpening remarks by the Chair  

3.0 

 

2BApproval of Agenda for October 28, 2020 

MOTION:  #2020-104 
Resolved THAT Board members accept the Agenda as presented. 

4.0  
Approval of Minutes 
 
4.1 MOTION:  #2020-105-A 
Resolved THAT the Board adopt the minutes of the proceedings of the 
Regular Board meeting of September 23, 2020. 
 
4.2 MOTION:  #2020-105-B 
Resolved THAT the Board adopt the minutes of the proceedings of the 
Finance and Administration Committee meeting of September 23, 2020. 

5.0 
Delegations 

   6.0 
 
CAO VERBAL UPDATE:   

6.1 MOTION:  #2020-106 
THAT the District of Nipissing Social Services Administration Board 
(DNSSAB) receives the CAO Verbal Report for October 28, 2020. 

7.0 CONSENT AGENDA - Reports for Information Only – All items in the 
consent agenda are voted on collectively.  The Chair will call out each item 
for consideration. Any item can be singled out for separate vote - only the 
remaining items will be voted on collectively.  

MOTION:  #2020-107 
THAT the Committee receives for information purposes Consent Agenda 
items 7.1 and 7.2. 

7.1 B18-20 Organization Strategic Plan Update – update on the strategic 
planning process. 
7.2 EMS03-20 EMS Vehicle Maintenance RFP - 2020 EMS Vehicle 
Maintenance RFP process and results. 

8.0 MANAGERS REPORTS 

 8.1 B08-20 Updated Travel, Meals and Hospitality Policy.  

MOTION:  #2020-108 
THAT the draft revisions to the 2020 Travel, Meal and Hospitality policy, 

2



  

Item Topic 

previously approved under resolution 2020-16, be approved by the Board 
as presented in report B08-20.   

 8.2 B15-20 Draft Revisions to the Unsolicited Quotations or Proposals 
Policy   
 
MOTION:  #2020-109  
THAT the draft revisions to the 2020 Unsolicited Quotations or Proposals 
Policy, previously approved under resolution 2013-73, be approved by 
the District of Nipissing Social Services Administration Board as presented 
in Briefing Note B15-20. 

 8.3 HS34-20 NDHC EOA Plan  

MOTION:  #2020-110 
THAT the District of Nipissing Social Services Administration Board 
(DNSSAB) receives for approval report HS34-20 regarding the End of 
Operating Agreement for Nipissing District Housing Corporation’s 
Municipal Non-Profit project known as Maplecrest I, recommending 
continuing to fund the project following the project’s mortgage expiry.    

 8.4 HS31-20 West Nipissing Non Profit EOA Plan  
 
MOTION:  #2020-111   
THAT That the District of Nipissing Social Services Administration Board 
(DNSSAB) receives for approval report HS31-20 regarding the End of 
Operating Agreement for West Nipissing Non-Profit Housing Corporation’s 
Municipal Non-Profit project,  wherein the DNSSAB would continue to 
fund the 40 unit seniors apartment complex through the support of the 
COCHI funding for a 5-year term, subject to ongoing provincial funding; 
and  
Further that the Chair support the WNNPHC and Au Chateau with an 
advocacy position to the Ministry of Health for transitional funding for the 
102 units.  

 8.5 HS30-20   Service Manager Role in Addressing Homelessness  

MOTION:  #2020-112 
THAT the Advocacy and Next Steps identified in Briefing Note HS30-20 be 
adopted as direction from the Board to staff to proactively work towards 
the prevention of homelessness in the District of Nipissing in keeping with 
the DNSSAB 10 Year Housing and Homelessness Plan.  

 8.6 Move In Camera 

MOTION:  #2020-113 
THAT the District of Nipissing Social Services Administrative Board 

3



  

Item Topic 

(DNSSAB) moves in-camera at _______ to discuss matters involving: 
Negotiations; Legal Matter; Labour Relations; Identifiable individual.  

 8.7 Adjourn In Camera 
 
MOTION:  #2020-114 
THAT the District of Nipissing Social Services Administrative Board 
(DNSSAB) adjourns in-camera at _______. 

 8.8 Accept In Camera 

MOTION:  #2020-115 
THAT the District of Nipissing Social Services Administrative Board 
(DNSSAB) approves the action/direction agreed to in-camera. 

9.0 OTHER BUSINESS/CORRESPONDENCE 

 

10.0 NEXT MEETING DATE 
 

Wednesday, November 25, 2020 
 

11.0 ADJOURNMENT  

MOTION:  #2020-116 
Resolved THAT the Board meeting be adjourned at          p.m. 
 

 

4



 

 

 

 

 

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING – WEDNESDAY SEPTEMBER 23, 2020 
1:30 PM VIA ZOOM 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT: 

Mayor Dean Backer (East Nipissing)  
Councillor Mac Bain – (North Bay)  
Mayor Jane Dumas (South Algonquin)  
Councillor Terry Kelly (East Ferris) 
Councillor Mark King - Chair (North Bay)  
Councillor Chris Mayne (North Bay)  
Councillor Dave Mendicino (North Bay)  
Mayor Dan O’Mara (Temagami)  
Councillor Dan Roveda Vice Chair (West Nipissing) 
Councillor Scott Robertson (North Bay)  
Representative Amanda Smith (Unincorporated) 
Councillor Bill Vrebosch (North Bay) 
  
REGRETS: 
 
STAFF ATTENDANCE: 
Catherine Matheson, CAO 
Marianne Zadra, Executive Coordinator and Communications 
Melanie Shaye, Director of Corporate Services 
David Plumstead – Manager Planning, Outcomes & Analytics   
Justin Avery, Manager of Finance  
Stacey Cyopeck, Manager, Housing Programs 
Pierre Guenette, Manager, Housing Operations 
Lynn Demore-Pitre, Director, Children’s Services 
Michelle Glabb, Director, Social Services and Employment 

5



Dawn Carlyle, Project Manager 
 
Guest:  
Jennifer Hamilton McCharles – North Bay Nugget  
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Resolution No. 2020-90 

Moved by:  Dave Mendicino 
Seconded by: Jane Dumas 
 
Resolved THAT the Board of Directors accepts the Roll Call as read by the Recording Secretary 
for the Regular Board meeting of September 23, 2020 at 1:28 PM.   
 
The regular Board Meeting was called to order at 1:28 PM by Chair Mark King.  
Carried. 

DECLARATION OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

No conflicts were declared. 
 
 
The Board of Directors accepted the Roll Call as read for the Regular Board meeting of 
September 23, 2020.   

 
CHAIR’S REMARKS 
The Chair welcomed and thanked everyone for attending. He also thanked staff for their hard 
work over a busy summer with AMO, visits by Federal Minister Hussen and Provincial Minister 
Clark.  He extended a special thank you to senior staff for their work on the housing files and 
the low barrier shelter, and NDHC Chair Dave Mendicino for his support and direction 
surrounding the Chippewa site.  The Chair noted he has spoken with concerned neighbours 
near the YMCA and Pete Pelangio Arena, former sites of the COVID responsive shelter.  He also 
thanked police for their assistance.  He also noted that with the move to the Chippewa Street 
site, that he has had conversations with concerned neighbours and that their concerns are 
being worked through.  He thanked them for their understanding, committing to listen and to 
address issues in that area.  He added it is important to remember that it is not just housing 
issues, but health issues driving the discussion in the city, and that hopefully a resolution can be 
found.    

6



 
ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 
Resolution No. 2020-91 

Moved by: Dan Roveda 
Seconded by: Dan O’Mara 

That the Board accepts the agenda for the Regular Board meeting of September 23, 2020.   
 
Carried. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Resolution No. 2020-92-A 

Moved by: Dan O’Mara 
Seconded by: Amanda Smith  

THAT the Board adopts the minutes of the proceedings of the Regular Board meeting of June 
24, 2020. 
 
Carried. 
 
Resolution No. 2020-92-B 

Moved by: Chris Mayne 
Seconded by: Mac Bain 

Resolved THAT the Board adopt the minutes of the proceedings of the Community Services 
Committee meeting of June 24, 2020. 
 
Carried. 
 
DELEGATIONS 
There were no delegations. 
 
CAO VERBAL UPDATE 
Resolution No. 2020-93 
 
Moved by: Mac Bain   
Seconded by: Chris Mayne  

That the District of Nipissing Social Services Administration Board (DNSSAB) receives the CAO Report 
for September 23, 2020.  

7



CAO Catherine Matheson acknowledged the senior team and support staff at DNSSAB for their 
diligence and creativity in the current environment.  Any services requiring face to face 
meetings are continuing and where remote is possible, that is being done.  DNSSAB is in good 
position to manage through this. 
 
The Expression of Interest in housing development is closing September 30 and DNSSAB is 
looking forward to the responses. 
 
DNSSAB received great reactions from visiting ministers and another visit is expected soon. 
 
The pandemic has proved trying with respect to housing as noted by the Chair in his remarks, 
and DNSSAB continues to look for solutions. 
 
Staff are preparing for the budget will come with information and opportunities in the future. 
 
She informed the Board DNSSAB has two independent delegations at AMO and five through the 
NOSDA group.  
 
Carried. 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 
MOTION:  #2020-94 

Moved by: Jane Dumas 
Seconded by:  Dan O’Mara 

That the Board (DNSSAB) receives Consent Agenda Items 7.3 and 7.4 for information 
purposes only.   

7.3 B10-20 Covid-19 Human Resources Best Practice 

7.4 B09-20 AMO Conference 

7.1 HS27-20 Low Barrier Shelter – Status Report was pulled at request of Bill Vrebosch.  There 
was discussion about neighbours concerns and how the operator was trying to mitigate those 
concerns. There was an additional question regarding fencing.  The CAO responded there is not 
reimbursement for private fences.  The fence establishes a clear entry and exit.  Other 
organizations would have to take their own responsibility for a wooded area outside the fence.  

7.2 B11-20 Community Safety and Well-Being Plan – City of North Bay was pulled at request of 
Bill Vrebosch  

8



Manager Planning, Outcomes & Analytics, Dave Plumstead updated the members on the CSWB 
plan, adding that the scope and methodology was being finalized.  He expected the work with 
city staff to start soon.  While there is no due date a report is expected to be ready by the 
Spring.   

One member suggested that other municipalities might like to have the option of having 
DNSSAB do their plans. 

When asked if a safe injection site is part of the plan, Dave indicated not yet, but it may later.  

Carried 

MANAGER’S REPORTS 

HS25-20 Sale of 478 Second Avenue West, North Bay – Canada-Ontario Affordable Housing 
Program Extension (2003) Northern Component Project  
RESOLUTION:  #2020-95 
 
Moved by: Chris Mayne 
Seconded by:  Dan Roveda 

That the Board (DNSSAB) receives, for approval, report HS25-20 regarding the sale of the 
Affordable Housing Program (AHP) project at 478 Second Avenue West, North Bay. 

Housing Manager Stacey Cyopeck reviewed how the 18 affordable housing units were 
developed under a 20 year affordability period.  The owner had an interested buyer for the 
property, and the same process has to be applied to the interested purchasers.  Staff have gone 
through the necessary process and analysis for the purchaser and the recommendation is that 
the new purchaser be approved as new affordable housing operator. 

Carried 

 
HS26-20 Portable Housing Benefit Pilot Program 
RESOLUTION:  #2020-96 
 
Moved by: Amanda Smith 
Seconded by: Mac Bain 
 
That the Board (DNSSAB) approves ending the Portable Housing Benefit Pilot Program and 
transitioning the program into a permanent program in the District of Nipissing as set out in 
report HS26-20.  
 

9



Housing Manager Stacey Cyopeck asked for approval to end the pilot program and make it a 
permanent program.  The new program provides flexibility in the subsidy program where a 
person can take the subsidy with them wherever they chose to live.  It has been successful 
during the pilot period.  Portable status takes the person off the waitlist and those in the pilot 
agreed they would accept to be removed.  This can help to mitigate with the service level 
standards.  Subsidy for these people would have to be supplied going forward. 
 
Carried      
 
B12-20 COVID-19 Workplace Pandemic Plan 
RESOLUTION:  #2020-97 
 
Moved by: Dan O’Mara 
Seconded by: Chris Mayne 

THAT the District of Nipissing Social Services Administration Board accepts Briefing Note B12-
20 COVID-19 Workplace Pandemic Plan, dated September 23, 2020. 
 

Corporate Services Manager Melanie Shaye summarized the plan from the beginning of the 
pandemic to present. This includes protocols for staff to ensure safety for all.   
 
Carried      
 
 
B08-20 Updated Travel, Meal and Hospitality Policy  
RESOLUTION:  #2020-98 
 
Moved by: Dan O’Mara 
Seconded by: Dave Mendicino  
 
THAT the draft revisions to the 2020 Travel, Meal and Hospitality policy, previously approved 
under resolution 2020-16, be approved by the District of Nipissing Social Services 
Administration Board as presented in report B08-20.   

Melanie Shaye indicated this updated policy can contain costs through limiting overnight 
accommodations and travel for DNSSAB staff and Board members except for the CAO and Chair 
and Vice Chair, with the exception of in town conferences.  

Members indicated they had concerns that OMSSA and NOSDA conferences should not be 
included and that two or three other members should be able to attend these valuable 
conferences.  It was also suggested that there be flexibility in allowing an alternate to attend if 
the Chair or Vice Chair are unable to. 

10



It was decided to table this motion and asked staff to come back with a synopsis of what’s been 
recommended by the board.  
 
 
Move in Camera 
RESOLUTION:  #2020-99 
 
Moved by: Jane Dumas 
Seconded by: Scott Robertson  

That the District of Nipissing Social Services Administrative Board (DNSSAB) moves in-camera at 2:13 
PM to discuss a position or plan used in negotiation.   
 
Carried. 

 
IN CAMERA MINUTES ARE FILED SEPARATELY 
 
Adjourn In Camera 
RESOLUTION:  #2020-100 
 
Moved by: Mac Bain 
Seconded by: Chris Mayne 

That the District of Nipissing Social Services Administrative Board (DNSSAB) adjourns in-
camera at 3:25 PM.   
 

 
Approve in Camera 
RESOLUTION:  #2020-101 
 
Moved by: Dave Mendicino 
Seconded by: Jane Dumas 

That the District of Nipissing Social Services Administrative Board (DNSSAB) approves the 
action/direction agreed to in-camera.    
 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS  
 
There was no new business raised.  
NEXT MEETING DATE 

11



 
Wednesday, October 29, 2020   
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Resolution No. 2020-102 
 
Moved by: Bill Vrebosch  
Seconded by: Terry Kelly 

RESOLVED that the Board meeting be adjourned at 3:30 PM.   
 
 
Carried. 

 
 
 
 
 
     
              MARK KING 
    CHAIR OF THE BOARD 

    
CATHERINE MATHESON 

 SECRETARY OF THE BOARD

 
 

Minutes of Proceedings Recorder:  Marianne Zadra, Executive Coordinator 

12



 

 

 

 

 

 

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS 

FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE MEETING  
WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 23, 2020 

12:00 PM VIA ZOOM 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT: 

Mayor Dean Backer (East Nipissing)  
Mayor Jane Dumas (South Algonquin)  
Councillor Mark King - Chair (North Bay)  
Councillor Chris Mayne (North Bay)  
Councillor Dave Mendicino (North Bay)  
Mayor Dan O’Mara (Temagami) 
Councillor Scott Robertson (North Bay)  
Councillor Dan Roveda - Vice Chair (West Nipissing)  
Representative Amanda Smith (Unincorporated) 
Councillor Mac Bain – (North Bay)  
Councillor Bill Vrebosch (North Bay) 
 
 
STAFF ATTENDANCE: 
Catherine Matheson, CAO 
Marianne Zadra, Executive Coordinator and Communications 
Melanie Shaye, Director of Corporate Services 
Michelle Glabb, Director of Social Services and Employment 
Lynn Demore-Pitre 
Stacey Cyopeck, Manager, Housing Programs 
Pierre Guenette, Manager, Housing Operations 
Justin Avery, Manager of Finance  
Dawn Carlyle, Project Manager 
 
 

13



CALL TO ORDER 
The Finance and Administration Committee was called to order at 12:06 PM by Chair 
Mark King.  

DECLARATION OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

No conflicts were declared.  

CHAIR’S REMARKS 
The Chair welcomed everyone adding he hoped all are rested after vacations and ready 
to manage this difficult time.  He indicated the budget issues report will be brought 
forward and stressed there is still much of the year remaining before any decisions can 
be made. 
 
ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 
 
RESOLUTION:  FA #2020-07 
MOVED BY: Bill Vrebosch 
SECONDED BY: Scott Robertson 

That the Committee of the Whole accepts the agenda for the Finance and 
Administration Committee of September 23, 2020.   

Carried. 

 

DELEGATIONS – Budget Issues Report by Finance Manager Justin Avery  
Report FA12-20 provides the District of Nipissing Social Services Administration Board 
(DNSSAB) with a preliminary update on the issues that will impact the 2021 budget. 
    
Finance Manager Justin Avery gave a high level report on the budget issues, and 
stressed it is too early to estimate the levy impact and touched on issues like timelines 
and pressures.  The report was structured by department.  He began with Ontario 
Works and talked about while funding is frozen, there are costs affected by inflation and 
Collective Agreement increases. He talked about outcome targets set by the province, 
how they affect funding and how none have been set yet for 2021.   
 
In Children’s Services, funding was changed to 80% provincial/20% municipal in 2020 
and in 2021all administrative funding will be cost shared at a rate of 50/50.  He talked 
about how these changes might affect the levy in the future and how reserves may be 
used to phase in increases in the levy. 

14



 
In EMS, the funding formula is the same for 2020 as in 2019, with the exception of 
inflationary adjustments.  It is anticipated the funding formula for 2021 will stay the same 
as 2020.  Significant pressure due to COVID 19 is not expected.   
 
Housing Services is primarily funded through the levy with the exception of CHPI, some 
other ad hoc programs and additional funding related to COVID-19.  Service Level 
Standards also impact the levy.  There is a gradual investment plan over 10 years to 
address the service level standards shortfall. There are more pressures from COVID 
due to addressing homelessness needs, pressures on people who have lost jobs, etc. 
who can’t afford rents. 
 
In Corporate Services, there is less income from investments due to low interest rates.  
 
This is the second year of funding changes and the impact of that is still being felt. Also, 
there are no operating dollars for things like the low barrier shelter.  
 
The committee will have the final budget in December and any other issues that come 
up in the meantime will be brought to the Board. 
 
He clarified that any funding for the low barrier shelter, through the yet to be approved 
business case with Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, will have to be spent by 
March 31, 2021 and capital has to be spent by the December 31, 2021.  
 
There was a question about whether shelter use is being tracked so that health dollars 
may be provided for mental health and addiction needs and a comment on how three 
ministries should be involved in funding the low barrier shelter. 
 

Consent Agenda 

RESOLUTION:  FA #2020-08 
 
MOVED BY: Dan Roveda 
SECONDED BY: Amanda Smith 

That the Committee receives for information purposes Consent Agenda items 5.1 to 5.3. 
5.1 FA11-20 Year-to-date (YTD) Financial Report, January 1 to June 30, 2020 
5.2 CS07-20 Early Years & Childcare Sector Funding – Update 
5.3 HS18-20 COVID-19 Pandemic Pay for Frontline Workers 
 

15



Carried. 
 

MANAGERS REPORTS 

 FA13-20 New Reserves Policy and Annual Reserves Report  

RESOLUTION:  FA #2020- 09 

MOVED BY: Dave Mendicino  
SECONDED BY: Jane Dumas 

THAT the District of Nipissing Social Services Administration Board (DNSSAB) 
adopts the newly recommended Reserve Policy; and 

THAT the DNSSAB approves the reserves recommendations as outlined in 
briefing note FA13-20. 

Justin provided background information leading to the revised policy.  The plan is to 
maintain a minimum of 5% of annual expenditures for reserves.  This represents less 
than one month of cash flow.  He reminded members that the Auditor recommended 
three months of cash flow for reserves. He showed a chart that indicates Nipissing 
District’s reserves are underfunded compared with other DSSABs.  He will submit this 
report on an annual basis to ensure the Board is kept up to date.   He reviewed a 
summary page indicating recommended changes.   
 
 
Carried. 
 
OTHER BUSINESS  
There was no other business.  
 
NEXT MEETING DATE 
Wednesday, October 28, 2020 (Community Services Committee and Board) 
  
ADJOURNMENT  
RESOLUTION FA#2020-10 
 
Moved by: Scott Robertson  
Seconded by: Dan O’Mara 
 
That the Finance and Administration Committee meeting be adjourned at 12:54 PM.   
 

Carried. 

16



 
 
 
 
     
              MARK KING 
    CHAIR OF THE BOARD 

    
CATHERINE MATHESON 

 SECRETARY OF THE BOARD

 
 

Minutes of Proceedings Recorder:  Marianne Zadra, Executive Coordinator 

17



 
 

 
                                 BRIEFING NOTE B18-20 

 
☒ For Information                     ☐ For Approval    

 
                               

Date:                   October 28, 2020  
 
Purpose:            Strategic Plan Update 
 
Prepared by:    David Plumstead, Manager of Planning, Outcomes & Analytics;       

EMS Liaison 
                                                  
Reviewed by:     Catherine Matheson, CAO 
                           
                            
 

RECOMMENDATION  

That the Board receive this paper as an update on the strategic planning process. 

 

BACKGROUND 

In February, 2020 staff presented a paper to the Board stating that the Board’s current 
Strategic Plan 2020 is expiring this year and is up for renewal. The paper also proposed 
a planning framework and process for developing a new strategic plan which were 
subsequently approved by the Board. At the time, the strategic planning process was 
set to kick-off in March with the final plan being brought to the Board for approval in the 
fall. 

Heading into March, the strategic planning process was suddenly put on hold as the 
global pandemic intensified and COVID-19 was triggering public health measures and 
restrictions, and provincial lockdowns. By the middle of March the senior management 
team had morphed into the DNSSAB Emergency Operating Centre (EOC) and was 
dealing with the COVID-19 crises and pandemic planning on a daily basis. For the next 
couple of months COVID would dictate most of the DNSSB daily activities and many 
initiatives and projects, including strategic planning, were put on hold. 

By May – approximately two months into the pandemic - COVID showed signs of 
slowing and the province was starting to reopen parts of the economy (stage 1). At this 

18



point the DNSSAB EOC started shifting back from crisis management to more ‘regular’ 
activities and felt it was time to refocus on strategic planning and finally get the process 
started.  

Although conducting a strategic planning exercise during a nationwide pandemic seems 
a little out of place with no playbook to follow or even anathema to some, it is important 
to remain committed to the process. Even in the face of the present pandemic 
uncertainty and focusing on short-term events, the Board needs to develop its longer- 
term priorities and strategies to guide the organization through to the post-COVID-19 
era and the ‘next normal’. 

 

STEPS TAKEN/ CURRENT STATUS 

Although staff are generally following the strategic planning framework and process 
originally presented in February, adjustments have been made to accommodate the 
COVID-19 public health measures and restrictions and the remote work environment. 
Specifically, the adjustments involve a change in methodology for conducting the 
planning meetings, workshops, and stakeholder engagement (e.g., working virtually) 
and a change in the project timelines. 

In view of the above background, the following are the steps that have been taken since 
the strategic planning process got underway:  

 
• A strategic planning committee was formed with representation from each 

department. The committee helps to guide the planning process and assists with 
designing, organizing, and facilitating the planning workshops and other activities. 
The committee also assists with analyzing the information and data that is collected 
through the process and writing the plan. 

 
• Board one-on-ones consisting of personal interviews with respective Board members 

were completed during May and June. Most of the interviews were conducted over 
the phone (with some videoconferencing calls) and provided direct feedback for 
informing corporate strategy in a number of areas. The Board members reflected on 
DNSSAB’s purpose and mandate in view of the current pandemic and whether the 
current mission and vision remain relevant for the next strategic plan. Additionally, 
Board members provided input into the Board’s long-terms areas of focus and goals 
while also stating their priorities for the remainder of the term. Challenges and 
barriers that the Board will face over the next few years were also discussed as were 
potential opportunities to pursue going forward. 

This information and data collected from the Board members will largely determine 
the Board’s long-term corporate goals and strategic priorities for the future. The 

19



information will also help staff to consider action items and various projects that will 
need to be undertaken to meet the goals and priorities and as part of the plan’s 
implementation. 

 
• In total, 11 SWOT (strengths, opportunities, weaknesses and threats) sessions were 

conducted via videoconference between July and October. These sessions involved 
the majority of DNSSAB employees across all departments (as well as senior EMS 
leadership) and produced feedback on what’s working well, what’s not working well/ 
areas for improvement, and threats and opportunities to be aware of going forward.  

The above information and data provides valuable feedback from employees based 
on their knowledge, experience, and first-hand observations in their respective roles 
and positions within the organization. This information will be aligned with the Board’s 
goals and strategic priorities (above) and will largely drive the strategic plan’s 
implementation by identifying various strategies and activities to carry out in order to 
meet the Board’s priorities and goals. 

 
The majority of the internal information and data to inform the Board’s next strategic 
plan has now been collected (as described above) and is in various stages of review 
and analysis.    

The Board interview notes have been summarized and rolled-up to provide a corporate 
perspective and the corporate vision and mission are being reviewed in this context. 
Additionally, the overarching corporate goals and strategic priorities are currently in 
review and draft stage based on the Board’s input.   

The employee SWOT sessions have been summarized and rolled-up by department, 
and will be rolled-up once more to provide an overall corporate SWOT perspective. 
These results will be reviewed by the strategic planning committee and management 
team and incorporated into the plan based on the best strategic fit.  

 

NEXT STEPS 

Following the above work, a draft strategic plan outline will be in place consisting of the 
corporate vision, mission, values, goals, and strategic priorities. The draft plan will be 
brought to the Board in November for review and comment. The plan will also be 
presented to the DNSSAB community planning tables for comment and feedback. 
Depending on the timing of the planning table meetings and the feedback received, the 
final draft plan will be presented to the Board in December or January for adoption and 
approval. This final draft will include high-level implementation action items and 
projects, etc. with the full implementation plan and details to follow at the department 
level. 

  
  

  
  

 
  

 
 

20



CONCLUSION 

After delays associated with COVID-19 the strategic planning process is underway and 
most of the internal information and data to inform the plan has now been collected. 
There is still some analysis and work to do in developing the plan and the Board should 
see the first draft outline for review and comment, in the next few months. 

21



 
 

BRIEFING NOTE EMS03-20 
 

☒ For information     For Approval    
 

                                    
Date:   October 28, 2020 
 
Purpose:    Emergency Medical Services (EMS) Vehicle Maintenance 

Request for Proposal (RFP) Outcome 

Prepared by: Melanie Shaye, Director of Corporate Services 
  
Reviewed by: Catherine Matheson, CAO 
 
 
FOR INFORMATION 
 
Briefing Note EMS03-20 outlines the 2020 EMS Vehicle Maintenance RFP process and 
results. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The DNSSAB issued RFP 2020-08, which closed June 25, 2020. The only proponent 
that submitted a proposal for RFP 2020-08 was deemed disqualified, based on a bid 
irregularity. Therefore, the RFP was re-issued as RFP 2020-10, which closed August 
19, 2020. The RFP was seeking proposals for EMS vehicle maintenance services for 
paramedic services on an as needed and when requested basis. This non-exclusive 
contract was seeking service for a fleet of: 
 

- 19 ambulances 
- 3 primary response units (SUV’s) 
- 1 parabus 

 
Vehicle maintenance was budgeted at $207,492 for 2020, which is within the CAO’s 
threshold of being under $300,000. However, because this contract is a two year term, 
with the option to extend for two additional one-year terms, and because the Purchasing 
Policy currently states that multi-year commitments should consider the entire cost for 
the duration of the contract, this contract is being brought forward to the Board. This has 

22



not been the historical practice, so when the Purchasing Policy is updated later this 
year, the multi-year commitment section will be reviewed by the Board, to consider the 
interest of the Board in reviewing future contracts of this multi-year commitment nature. 
 
RFP Proponents and Results 
 
The DNSSAB considered three bids, and reviewed them prior to evaluation to ensure 
they complied with the specific requirements of the RFP. Using the pre-set evaluation 
outlined in the RFP, each evaluation team member reviewed and scored each proposal. 
The results were then tallied together to arrive at final scores and ranking, Paul Lamont 
Automotive (Canadian Tire) was the successful bidder. This was based on Paul Lamont 
Automotive (Canadian Tire) earning the highest score and meeting the requirements 
specified in the RFP, based on qualitative, technical and pricing considerations. 
 
Proponent Rank 
Paul Lamont Automotive (Canadian Tire) 1 
Kal Tire 2 
Lockerby Transportation Group 3 
 
 
NEXT STEPS 
 
Paul Lamont has been awarded this contract, effective October 1, 2020. As next steps, 
the Agreement will be signed by the Chair and CAO. The Purchasing Policy will be 
brought to the Board with draft amendments in late 2020 to consider the Board’s 
interest in reviewing multi-year commitment contracts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

23



 
 

 
Briefing Note B08-20 

 
For Information   or X For Approval 

  
 

                               
DATE:    October 28, 2020  
 
PURPOSE:    Draft Revisions to the Travel, Meal and Hospitality Policy 
 
PREPARED BY: Melanie Shaye, Director of Corporate Services 
 
REVIEWED BY: Catherine Matheson, CAO                           
                                                   
 
RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the draft revisions to the 2020 Travel, Meal and Hospitality policy, previously 
approved under resolution 2020-16, be approved by the District of Nipissing Social 
Services Administration Board as presented in report B08-20. 

 
PURPOSE 
 
This policy has been amended to contain travel, meal and hospitality expenses.  
 

 
PROPOSED CHANGES 
 
The Conference section of this policy has been amended, to state that Board 
member attendance at conferences and seminars that involves overnight travel is 
limited to the DNSSAB and NDHC Chairs and Vice-Chairs. The Chairs and Vice-
Chairs are able to delegate an alternate Board member to attend in their place. 
 
The exception to this rule is when either a NOSDA or OMSSA conference is 
occurring in the Nipissing District, in which case all Board members may be invited 
to attend.  
  
ATTACHMENT - Draft 2020 Travel, Meal and Hospitality Policy 

24



 Page 1 of 10 

 
TITLE: Travel, Meal and Hospitality 
Policy 

 
SECTION:  CORPORATE SERVICES 

 
DATE:   February 1, 2010 

 
POLICY NO.: FIN/ADM 03 

 
APPROVED BY:  Resolution No. 2020-
16 

 
REVISED:  OctoberJanuary 2020 

 
1.01 GENERAL STATEMENT OF POLICY AND PROCEDURE 
 
The purpose this policy is provide clarification to the manner and extent the District 
of Nipissing Social Services Administration Board (DNSSAB) will reimburse board 
members, employees, and guests for travel, meal, and hospitality expenses.   

 
This policy is guided by the best practices of the Travel, Meal and Hospitality 
Expenses Directive of the Management Board of Cabinet as modified for distribution 
to the Ministry of Community and Social Services Transfer Payment Agencies, 
January 2017 and the DNSSAB Collective Agreements with CUPE Local 4720-01 
and CUPE Local 4720-02. 
  
1.02 SCOPE 
 
This policy is to apply to all employees and board members of DNSSAB, except 
where otherwise specified in the DNSSAB Collective Agreements with CUPE Local 
4720-01 and Local 4720-02. 
 
1.03 OBJECTIVE 
 
Travel, meal and hospitality expenses as set out in this policy will be reimbursed. 
Expenses must: 

 Be work related, 
 Be modest and appropriate, and 
 Strike a balance among economy, health and safety, and efficiency of 

operations. 
 
DNSSAB assumes no obligation to reimburse expenses not in compliance with this 
policy. 
 
1.04 RESPONSIBILITY 
 
Employees have an obligation to be aware of the requirements of this policy, to 
comply with them, and seek clarification from their supervisor as needed.  
Supervisors are responsible for ensuring compliance to this policy and taking 
appropriate corrective action as needed. 
 
 

25



 Page 2 of 10 

1.05 DEFINITIONS 
 
Home Office –  
An employee’s regular place of business, permanent location associated with their 
position, or other place as designated by the employer.   
 
District of Nipissing –  
The District of Nipissing as defined under Ontario Regulations 278/98 Schedule 3 
 
Spending Authority -  
Managers with authority and responsibility to approve the expenses subject to this 
policy.  Spending authority must comply with the Purchasing Policy approval 
authority. 
 
Travel – 
Business travel authorized by the appropriate spending authority, and does not 
include commuting between residence and headquarters. 
 
Traveller –  
Employees of DNSSAB, guests and consultants. 
 
1.06 REFERENCES and RELATED STATEMENTS of POLICY and PROCEDURE 
 
Travelling and overtime. 
When the employee is travelling outside of regular working hours, overtime shall be 
incurred as described in the Human Resources Policy- Overtime. Travel that will 
incur overtime must receive prior approval their supervisor. 
 
Persons Travelling Together  
In determining the number of employees traveling together in the same vehicle 
(plane, train or automobile), consideration should be given to business continuity 
needs in order to reduce the risk of a major disruption in DNSSAB’s ongoing 
operations.  
 
Approval to Travel  
Prior approval by the appropriate authority is required for all business travel by 
travelers according to destination (see table below): 
 
Level of approval required for infrequent travel: 
 
 Staff Manager 
Within district Immediate supervisor  None 
Outside district (within Ontario) Supervisor and  

Manager  
Supervisor and  
Manager  

Out of Province Manager and CAO Manager and CAO 
 

26



 Page 3 of 10 

Insurance: 
 
Travel Accident Insurance  
DNSSAB employees have basic insurance for accidental injury or accidental death 
including reimbursement of emergency medical expenses. Extra insurance may be 
purchased at the traveler’s own expense.  
 
Vehicle Insurance  
Employees renting a vehicle for work travel purposes must make the booking under 
DNSSAB’s account, not the individual employee. This ensures that the appropriate 
insurance coverage is in place for the employee. The rental company insurance can 
be waived as long as the booking has been made under DNSSAB’s account.  
Personal vehicles used on DNSSAB business must be insured at the vehicle 
owner’s expense for personal motor vehicle liability. Coverage should be equal to or 
greater than the minimum liability specified in the Insurance Act. Drivers must satisfy 
themselves whether their motor vehicle insurance coverage should include business 
use of their vehicles. The DNSSAB will not reimburse costs of business use 
coverage or collision and liability coverage and DNSSAB assumes no financial 
responsibility for privately owned vehicles other than paying the kilometric rate when 
used for DNSSAB business. The DNSSAB is not responsible for reimbursing 
deductible amounts related to insurance coverage. Those driving a personal vehicle 
on DNSSAB business cannot make claims to the DNSSAB for damages as a result 
of a collision. 
 
Transportation: 
 
Road Transportation 
When road transportation is the most practical and economical way to travel, the 
order of preference shall be:  
 

1. Personal vehicle only when it is more economical than use of a rental vehicle. 
Travelers are strongly encouraged to rent cars for business travel instead of 
using their own vehicle when the total distance to be driven per day will 
exceed 300 kilometers.  

 
2. Bridge, ferry and highway tolls and necessary parking fees paid while driving 

on DNSSAB business will be reimbursed. Receipts must be obtained and 
submitted.  

 
Accidents must be reported immediately to local law enforcement authorities, the 
rental car agency (if applicable), the automobile insurance company (if using a 
personal vehicle), and the person’s immediate supervisor (and the corporate charge 
card company if applicable).  
 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Underline

27



 Page 4 of 10 

Car Rental  
The size of the rental car must be the most economical and practical required for the 
business task and number of occupants. Exceptions must be documented and 
approved by the appropriate spending authority. Luxury and sports car rentals are 
prohibited. The rental car must be refueled in accordance with the rental contract.  
 
Where a traveler accumulates more than 1600 km/month on a regular basis, the 
manager should investigate lower cost options. Where a traveler continues to use a 
personal vehicle, the rationale for this practice should be documented.  
 
Other Road Transportation  
Whenever practical, local public transportation/hotel shuttles must be used. Receipts 
for reimbursement are not required.  
 
Taxi expenses are also justified where group travel by taxi is more economical than 
the total cost of travelling separately. 
 
Air and Rail Travel 
Travel by air or rail is permitted when this is the most practical and economical way 
to travel. Travel must be arranged in advance and be booked by fixed dates; open-
ended tickets are prohibited. Only economy class seating is permitted. 
 
Accommodations: 
 
Reimbursement for overnight accommodation within an employee’s home office 
area will not normally be authorized. Exceptional or emergency situations that 
require employees to remain close to their home office for periods long in excess of 
normal working hours. 
 
Reimbursement will be made for single accommodation in a standard room, and no 
reimbursement will be made for suites, executive floors, or concierge levels.  
 
Private stays with family or friends are encouraged. A maximum of $30.00 per night 
for gratuitous lodging expenses is allowed. No receipt is required.  
 
For extended stays at one location, long-term accommodation must be arranged on 
the approval of an immediate supervisor, to take advantage of lower weekly or 
monthly rates. This may include the rental of a housekeeping facility. 
 
Gratuities:  
Reasonable gratuities for meals and taxis will be reimbursed. Receipts are 
necessary to support reimbursement of these expenses. 
 

Formatted: Underline

28



 Page 5 of 10 

Dependent Care:  
Actual dependent care expenses that are incurred as a result of travelling and are 
additional to expenses the person would incur when not travelling, will be 
reimbursed up to a daily maximum as set out in Schedule 1.  

A written explanation of the circumstances must be provided with prior verbal/written 
approval from the appropriate spending authority. Reimbursement will not be made 
where business travel is regular and a requirement of the job. 

Meals: 
 
Reasonable and appropriate actual meal expenses will be reimbursed, subject to 
approval by the employee’s supervisor’s, if the expenditure is incurred when the 
employee is required to work during or through normal meal periods or when, during 
a normal meal period, the employee is away on DNSSAB business from his or her 
home office base for a distance exceeding twenty-five (25) kilometers and such 
travel is infrequent and occasional in nature and does not fall within his/her regular 
duties. 
 
Reimbursement of actual meal expenses incurred is subject to the rates set out in 
Schedule 1. 
 
Itemized receipts must be provided for reimbursement. Reimbursement must not 
exceed the amount actually spent (including taxes and gratuities) as validated by a 
receipt accompanying the claim, and in accordance with the meal reimbursement 
limits in Schedule 1.  
 
Gratuities are restricted to a maximum of 15% for reimbursement. Any gratuities 
beyond this limit will not be reimbursed. 
 
The limits set out in Schedule 1 are before taxes and gratuities. For example, if you 
were to purchase a lunch outside of the district and the meal cost $25 before taxes 
and gratuities, the total cost for the meal would be $32.49 ($25 + 13% HST + 15% 
gratuity). The full $32.49 would be reimbursed in accordance with this policy 
because the pre-tax and gratuity amount was within the stated limits. Any costs 
above the stated limits must be paid for personally and not with a corporate credit 
card. 
 
Receipts must be submitted through the Portal. 
 
Reimbursement of meal costs must not include the reimbursement for any alcoholic 
beverages. No reimbursement shall be made for meals consumed at home prior to 
departure or on return, or for meals included in the cost of transportation, 
accommodation, seminars and/or conferences.  
 
 

Formatted: Underline

Formatted: Font: Bold, Underline

29



 Page 6 of 10 

Conferences: 
 
Employee attendance at conferences and seminars that involves overnight travel 
must be approved in advance by their supervisor. 
 
Board member attendance at conferences and seminars that involves overnight 
travel is limited to the DNSSAB and NDHC Chairs and Vice-Chairs.  If the Chairs 
and/or Vice Chairs are unable to attend, they are able to delegate an alternate 
Board member to attend in their place. The exception to this rule is when either a 
NOSDA or OMSSAB conference is occurring in the Nipissing District, in which case 
all Board members wouldmay be invited to attend.  
 
 
Hospitality: 
 
The DNSSAB CAO and senior management may provide hospitality to board 
members, employees, working group members, guests, visitors, volunteers, and 
other individuals as part of the business meeting. 
 
Meals or light refreshments provided in the course of a business meeting must be a 
necessary and integral part of the business meeting, not a matter of personal 
convenience, whether the meeting is for internal purposes or includes external 
organizations.  When a meeting takes place over an extended period of time and the 
agenda includes a working meal, there may be justification that the meal is integral 
to the business function.  Examples of such events: 
 

 A meeting where there is a scheduled luncheon speaker. 
 A meeting where participants work through a lunch period. 
 Circumstances where it would be too time-consuming or disruptive to event 

continuity for participants to take a meal break away from the meeting 
location. 

 
DNSSAB does not permit reimbursement when two of more employees choose to 
go to lunch (or dinner) together to continue their regular business.  In such cases the 
meal would be considered incidental to the meeting. 
 
DNSSAB does not permit reimbursement when the catered meeting is used as an 
enticement for meeting attendance. 
 
It is preferred that meetings involving employees are not to be scheduled during 
lunch break as employees should be given an opportunity to receive a break from 
work during the day. 
 
Frequency of meals and light refreshments 
 
Meals and light refreshments should be provided to employees on an infrequent 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0
cm, Tab stops: Not at  1.59 cm

30



 Page 7 of 10 

basis. 
 
Hospitality costs  
Functions should minimize costs but be consistent with:  

 The status of the guest(s); 
 The number of persons attending; and,  
 The business purpose to be achieved.  

 

31



 Page 8 of 10 

Hospitality internal control  
Hosts must ensure that hospitality expenses are recorded, and records contain 
information for each function:  

 The circumstances, including any requiring special authority;  
 The form of hospitality (meal, reception, etc.); 
 The cost supported by receipts;  
 Name and location of the establishment;  
 The number of attendees listed by category (i.e. guests, employees);  
 Names of individuals entertained, their titles and company name; and,  
 Approvals by appropriate individuals.  

 

Gifts of Appreciation:  
 
Token gifts of appreciation, valued at up to $30, may be extended to persons who 
are not attached to DNSSAB in exchange for pro bono services. Gifts valued above 
$30 must be justified and approved by an immediate supervisor. 
 

1.07 PROCEDURE/ADMINISTRATION 
 
Non-Reimbursable Expenses 
 
Expenses of a personal nature will not be reimbursed.  Such expenses include, but 
are not limited to; 

 recreational purposes (movie rentals, mini-bar, etc...); 
 personal items; 
 traffic and parking violations; 
 social events that do not constitute hospitality as described above; 
 alcoholic drinks 
 friends or family members. 

 
Receipts 
Receipts must be submitted with claims.  Credit card slips by themselves are 
insufficient to support claim for reimbursement. 
 
Time Limit for Claims  
All claims must be submitted on a timely basis, and no later than 4 weeks after the 
date which the expense was incurred.  Managers may extend this time limit using 
the principles to guide exceptions set out in this Policy. 
 

32



 Page 9 of 10 

Guidance on Exceptions to Rules  
Requests for reimbursement should not be rejected solely because they arose from 
mistakes or misinterpretations of the requirements of this Policy. Decisions whether 
to approve reimbursement or to require repayment must be reviewed on a case-by-
case basis.  
 
Principle to guide exceptions to the rules:  
Where a manager decides to exercise discretion in making an exception, and in 
order to ensure a proper record for audit purposes, the rationale for the exception 
must be documented and accompany the claim. 
 
Responsibilities of Employees  
Employees must:  

 consider alternatives to travel such as teleconferencing; and, obtain approval 
from appropriate authority levels for travel;  

 request and accept the lowest fare practicable;  
 use the corporate charge card for payment of expenses under this policy;  
 supply an itinerary to and notify their supervisors in the event of any changes, 

so that travelers may be contacted in an emergency;  
 in the event of changes, cancel hotel bookings within the allowable 

cancellation period set by the hotel to avoid “no-show” charges. Penalties 
incurred for non-cancellation of guaranteed hotel reservations will be the 
employee’s responsibility and will be reimbursed only in exceptional 
circumstances;  

 become familiar with, and adhere to, the provisions of this policy; and  
 follow applicable conflict of interest rules and/or regulations  

 
Responsibility of Approval Authority  
Those authorized to approve expense claims must:  

 ensure that expenses are consistent with the principles of this Policy and 
comply with other relevant DNSSAB policies;  

 determine and authorize when business travel is necessary;  
 ensure that all travel arrangements are consistent with the provisions of this 

Policy;  
 ensure that appropriate receipts are provided to support expense claims  
 ensure that any unusual items are explained appropriately or proof is given of 

prior approval; and,  
 ensure that employees and appointees are aware of all conflict of interest 

rules and/or regulations.  
 
 

33



 Page 10 of 10 

SCHEDULE 1 
 
Kilometre rates, meal reimbursement, reimbursable dependent care rates 
 
 (Updated April 24, 2019)  
Kilometre rate:    $0.58 per km 
Kilometre rate in excess of 5,000:  $0.52 per km 
 
The above kilometre rates apply to DNSSAB Board members and non-union 
employees only. 
 
Meal reimbursement (before taxes and gratuities) 
  (Within District): Breakfast $10.00 
     Lunch  $20.00 
     Dinner  $25.00 
 
      (Outside District): Breakfast $15.00 
     Lunch  $25.00 
     Dinner  $45.00 
 
Dependent Care Allowance:  
 
 Daily maximum with written declaration $35.00 
 Daily Maximum with receipt of caregiver $75.00 

34



 
 

 
BRIEFING NOTE B15-20 
 

   For information   X For Approval 
 

 
                               

DATE:    October 28, 2020  
 
PURPOSE: Draft Revisions to the Unsolicited Quotations or Proposals Policy 
 
PREPARED BY: Melanie Shaye, Director of Corporate Services 
 
REVIEWED BY: Catherine Matheson, CAO                           
                                                   
 
RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the draft revisions to the 2020 Unsolicited Quotations or Proposals Policy, 
previously approved under resolution 2013-73, be approved by the District of Nipissing 
Social Services Administration Board as presented in briefing note B15-20. 

 
PURPOSE 
 
This policy has not been reviewed since 2013. Given the heightened focus on open, fair, 
efficient, accountable, competitive and transparent procurement, and the increasing 
number of unsolicited quotations or proposals the DNSSAB/NDHC receive, this policy 
has been amended to reflect current procedures and industry best practices.  

 
PROPOSED CHANGES 
 
The revised Unsolicited Quotations or Proposals Policy: 
 

• Clearly links the Unsolicited Quotations or Proposals Policy to the DNSSAB/NDHC 
Purchasing Policy 

• Adds the involvement of the Contract and Purchasing Specialist in the process of 
overseeing the merit of an unsolicited quotation or proposal 

• Adds an Unsolicited Quotations or Proposal Form to the process, which is 
completed by the supplier 

35



• Provides a process for the Evaluation Team to follow, including specifying: 
- the evaluation process 
- weighing of aspects of the quotation or proposal in relation to the 
DNSSAB/NDHC’s long term objectives 
- considers risk to the organization 

• Outlines what information would be reported to the Board, requesting its authority 
to invite counter quotations or proposals 

• If the Board approves, further outlines how to ensure transparency, fair 
competition and best value for the DNSSAB  
  

ATTACHMENT 
 
Draft 2020 Unsolicited Quotations or Proposals Policy 

36



 
PO

LI
C

Y 

POLICY NAME Unsolicited Quotations or Proposals Policy 

POLICY NUMBER #CORP-02 

POLICY REFERENCE #CORP-01 Purchasing Policy 

REVISION DATE N/A 

SUPERSEDES FIN/ADM 05 Unsolicited Quotations or Proposals 
Policy 2013 

IMPLEMENTATION DATE October 2020 

INTENT OF POLICY 
 
The District of Nipissing Social Services Administration Board (DNSSAB) and the 
Nipissing District Housing Corporation (NDHC) are committed to ensuring publically 
funded goods and services are acquired through a process that is open, fair, efficient, 
accountable, competitive, and transparent. 
 
DEFINITIONS 

The words and phrases listed below when used in this policy shall have the following 
meanings ascribed to them: 

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Nipissing District Social Services 
Administration Board and/or Nipissing District Housing Corporation; 

”Contract” means any agreement, regardless of form or title, for the lease purchase or 
disposal of Goods, Services or Construction authorized in accordance with this policy; 

“CAO” refers to position title who has responsibility and authority to bind the District of 
Nipissing Social Services Administration Board and may refer to the CAO or their 
designate; 

“CEO” refers to position title who has responsibility and authority to bind the Nipissing 
District Housing Corporation and may refer to the CEO or their designate. 

“Evaluation Criteria” is a benchmark, standard or yardstick against which 
accomplishment, conformance, performance and suitability of an individual, alternative, 
activity, product or plan is measured to select the best supplier through a competitive 
process. Criteria may be qualitative or quantitative in nature.  

37



“Evaluation Team” are individuals designated/responsible to make award 
recommendation. The evaluation team would typically include representatives from the 
purchasing organization and subject matter expert(s). Each member participates to 
provide business, legal, technical and financial input. 

POLICY 

1. Unsolicited quotations or proposals should not be allowed to circumvent 
DNSSAB/NDHC Purchasing Policy #CORP-01 or the procurement process as 
further defined in the Purchasing Procedure Manual. An unsolicited quotation or 
proposal should not be considered if any one of the following conditions applies: 
 
1.1. It resembles a current or upcoming competitive procurement that has or will be 

requested; 
 

1.2. It requires substantial assistance from DNSSAB/NDHC to complete the 
quotation or proposal; 
 

1.3. The good or services are already available from other sources; 
 

1.4. It is not deemed by the Department or CAO to be of sufficient value to 
DNSSAB/NDHC. 

 
2. If the unsolicited quotation or proposal does not meet any of the criteria in section 1 

above, and the Department and/or CAO  is willing to consider it, the following 
minimum information must be submitted to the CAO as part of the unsolicited 
quotation or proposal, as applicable: 
2.1. Vendor profile; 
2.2. Proposal or Quotation overview; 
2.3. Project scope or specifications and time frames; 
2.4. Deliverables and work plan; 
2.5. Project controls and constraints; 
2.6. Reporting and project management; 
2.7. Supplier and DNSSAB/NDHC responsibilities; 
2.8. Pricing and benefit/risk sharing; 
2.9. Proposed contractual terms; 
2.10. Acknowledgement that the supplier will abide by the DNSSAB and NDHC’s 

Policies and Procedures.  
 

38



3. If the CAO feels the unsolicited quotation or proposal has merit, the CAO must 
assemble an Evaluation Team with sufficient expertise to evaluate the unsolicited 
quotation or proposal. The Contract and Purchasing Specialist shall oversee the 
process. 
 

4. Prior to any evaluation of the unsolicited quotation or proposal, the Contract and 
Purchasing Specialist must obtain in writing: 

 
4.1. the supplier’s agreement to abide by this policy; 
4.2. the supplier’s acknowledgement that DNSSAB/NDHC is under no obligation to 

accept the quotation or proposal; 
4.3. the supplier’s acknowledgement that all cost incurred in relation to the 

unsolicited quotation or proposal are incusrred at the supplier’s own risk; 
4.4. agreement that the DNSSAB/NDHC shall not be liable for any costs or damages 

in connection with the rejection or non-acceptance of the quotation or proposal.  
 

See attached Unsolicited Quotations or Proposal Form.  
 

5. The Evaluation Team: 
 

5.1. Evaluates the supplier’s technical, commercial, managerial and financial 
capability to determine whether the participant’s capabilities are adequate for 
undertaking the project; 
 

5.2. Weighs the technical, commercial, managerial and financial aspects of the 
unsolicited quotation or proposal and determines if the scale and scope of the 
project is in line with the requirements, the funding ability, or the interests of the 
DNSSAB/NDHC; 
 

5.3. Determines whether the sharing of risks as proposed in the proposal or 
quotation is acceptable to the DNSSAB/NDHC and if the project is in conformity 
with long term objectives of the DNSSAB/NDHC; 
 

5.4. Based on the evaluation, the Evaluation Team may decide to reject the 
proposal, to request amendments to the quotation or proposal, or to continue 
with the process. 
 

5.5. If the Evaluation Team recommends any modification in the technical, scale, 
scope and risk sharing of the proposal, the supplier will be allowed to consider 

39



the recommendations and resubmit its quotation or proposal within a given time 
period determined by the Evaluation Team. 

 
6. If the Evaluation Team and CAO conclude that the unsolicited quotation or proposal 

is acceptable, the CAO shall: 
 

6.1. Prepare a report to the Board requesting authority to invite counter quotations or 
proposals, as described in Section 7 below in accordance with the Purchasing 
Policy, #CORP-01; 
 

6.1.1. Exception to 6.1 above: If the supplier’s proposal or quotation meets the 
requirements for direct negotiation (single sourcing or sole sourcing), the 
DNSSAB/NDHC shall proceed in accordance with the process outlined in 
Schedule B of the Purchasing Policy, #CORP-01 and complete the 
required Direct Negotiation Form which shall be approved at the 
appropriate delegated authority.  

 
7. If the Board approves, the CAO must ensure transparency, fair competition and best 

value for the DNSSAB/NDHC in accepting an unsolicited quotation or proposal by: 
 

7.1. Advising the original supplier that components of their proposal as outlined in 
Section 2 may be used in the development of a request for quotation or 
proposal; 
 

7.2. Inviting, through the Purchasing Policy in consultation with the Contract and 
Purchasing Specialist, competing counter quotations or proposals giving 
adequate notice. The unsolicited quotation or proposal and contract principles of 
the quotation or proposal will be made available to any interested party 
(proprietary information contained in the unsolicited quotation proposal would 
remain confidential and would not be disclosed) for the purpose of providing the 
DNSSAB/NDHC with counter quotations or proposals; 
 

7.3. Ensuring the Evaluation Team that evaluated the unsolicited quotation or 
proposal evaluate all counter quotations or proposals received; 
 

7.4. Giving the original supplier an opportunity to match any competing counter 
quotations or proposals that may be superior to the original unsolicited quotation 
or proposal. In the case the original supplier matches or improves on the 
competing counter quotation or proposal, the project will be awarded to the 
original supplier. In the event that the original supplier does not match or 

40



improve on the competing counter quotation or proposal, the DNSSAB/NDHC 
can award the project to others, and the original quotation or proposal prepared 
by the original supplier becomes the property of the DNSSAB/NDHC. 
 

7.5. The results of the acceptance of an unsolicited quotation or proposal or counter 
quotation or proposal under this policy shall be reported to the Board before 
entering into a contract with any bidder or proponent resulting from the 
application of this policy. 

UFORMS 

1. Unsolicited Quotations or Proposal Supplier Declaration Form 
2. Direct Negotiation Authorization Form (see Schedule V, Purchasing Policy, 

#CORP-01) 

 

 

 

 

41



 

 

Unsolicited Quotations or Proposals Form 

 

Unsolicited Quotation/Proposal Title:         

 

I,      , hereby acknowledge that I have read and reviewed 

the Unsolicited Quotations and Proposal Policy #CORP-02 and shall abide by such 

policy throughout the Unsolicited Quotations or Proposals process. 

 

I,      , hereby acknowledge that DNSSAB/NDHC is under 

no obligation to accept the quotation or proposal, that all cost incurred by the myself in 

relation to this unsolicited quotation or proposal are incurred at my own risk and 

DNSSAB/NDHC shall not be liable for any costs or damages in connection with the 

rejection or non-acceptance of the quotation or proposal.  

 

Supplier Name Supplier Signature Date 

 

DNSSAB/NDHC receipt date:      

42



 
 

 
 

BRIEFING NOTE HS34-20 
 

For Information or ☒For Approval 
 

                               
Date:   October 28, 2020  
 
Purpose:    End of Operating Agreement – NDHC – Phase 1 

Prepared by:  Stacey Cyopeck, Manager, Housing Programs 
  
Reviewed by:   Catherine Matheson, CAO 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
That the District of Nipissing Social Services Administration Board (DNSSAB) receives for 
approval report HS34-20 regarding the End of Operating Agreement for Nipissing District 
Housing Corporation’s Municipal Non-Profit project known as Maplecrest I, recommending 
continuing to fund the project following the project’s mortgage expiry. 

BACKGROUND:  

In 1986, the MMAH and CMHC approved a housing project for the North Bay Municipal Non-
Profit Housing Corporation, now amalgamated with the Nipissing District Housing Corporation 
(NDHC). This housing project is comprised of 50 family townhouse units (12 2-bedroom & 38 3-
bedroom units). The Operating Agreement is set to expire in September 2021. 

The required subsidy for social housing providers is provided from a mix of provincial funding 
and municipal levy.  In 2020, the portion of funding from the municipal levy for NDHC’s 
Municipal Non-Profit (MNP) program totaled $101,770, representing 8% of the total MNP 
budget.  Another portion of the municipal levy was dedicated to the Federal Non-Profit Program 
totaling $2,534 or 2% of the Federal Non-Profit program budget.  Combined, the total municipal 
levy that has been dedicated to NDHC’s Maplecrest I project $104,304. 

CURRENT STATUS/STEPS TAKEN TO DATE: 

The combined operating and mortgage subsidies for the NDHC (Maplecrest I) project currently 
amount to $231,559/year. The mortgage payments for this project are $162,354 and as noted in 
Appendix “A” NDHC will have a $69,205.00 yearly cash flow decrease for the project should all 
funding cease. 

As a result of the end of operating agreements, the provincial funding associated with the 
Federal Section 95 mortgage subsidies and Provincial Municipal Non-Profit Housing Program 
(MNP) for this project will substantially decrease in 2021 and will no longer exist beyond 2021. 
There is currently no legislated obligation for Service Manager’s to continue funding MNP 
projects post Operating Agreement expiry.  

43



 
CONSIDERATIONS: 
 

• Maplecrest I is owned by NDHC (with DNSSAB as the sole shareholder) and is operated 
by the DNSSAB’s Housing Operations department. As such, the DNSSAB has full 
control over the future direction of this project. 

 
• Funding can currently be covered by the existing levy contribution, and therefore will 

have no additional impact/increase on the levy. 
 

• These family units, which are in the City of North Bay, have strong demand and 
contribute greatly to the stock of community  housing options in the City. 

 
• Recent upgrades funded through the SHEEP program have improved the efficiency and 

the environmental impact of these units.  
 

• Currently the 30 RGI units at this location count toward the SLS target and to 
discontinue funding would leave a further shortfall to the SLS current total. 

 
 
RESOURCES REQUIRED: 
 
The total subsidies required after mortgage expiration for NDHC is estimated at $69,205.00 
 

• The total Municipal levy provided in the previous year totaled $104,304 for MNP 
projects. 

• COCHI-Transitional Operating Funding is available in 2021 to offset the subsidy for this 
project in the amount of $14,096. 

• The Levy requirement to continue funding this project is approximately $55,109, leaving 
a cost saving on the Levy in the amount of $49,195. 

 

RISK IDENTIFICATION AND MITIGATION 

The expiry of social housing operating agreements is becoming a prominent issue across the 
country, and as these agreements expire, many housing providers are finding that they cannot 
afford to provide the same levels of affordable or rent-geared-to-income (RGI) housing without 
continued subsidies.  

The end of operating agreements is creating a large gap at the affordable end of the housing 
spectrum. 

This in turn becomes a crisis for the many households who cannot afford market rents and rely 
on subsidized housing.  Housing providers will have limited options to be able to continue 
providing RGI units.  This means that for housing providers to be able to continue providing 
housing, many providers are selling some of their stock and/or raising rents on some or all units.  

When RGI units are sold or rents are raised beyond an RGI level, the total number of RGI unit 
availability drops. These changes will make it more difficult for low-income households to 
access and retain quality housing. 
 

44



 

 

 

IMPLEMENTATION PLAN: 

Option #1 - Continue to fund NDHC as it is now, minus the mortgage requirement. 
 

• With the mortgage expiring that would remove $162,354 from funding provided  through 
the levy in the past 
 

• Funding for this NDHC project would be provided by the municipal levy in the amount of 
$55,109 and COCHI-TOF in the amount of $14,096. 

 

Option #2 - Cease all subsidy funding to NDHC for this project. 

• This project could face some economic hardship should all funding be terminated 
when the mortgage matures without subsidy assistance. 
 

• Currently Maplecrest I has a complement of 20 market rent units (do not count toward 
SLS) and 30 RGI units (do count toward SLS).   

o To build new infrastructure would be quite costly that would then have to be 
subsidized to count towards SLS.   

o These units are currently in place, well maintained and occupied by RGI tenants 
already which count toward SLS. 

• Other points noted in Risk Identification 
 

RELATIONSHIP TO STRATEGIC PLAN: 

Out of the 50 available townhouse units at Maplecrest I, the waitlist is sitting at 172 applicants (a 
combination of RGI & market) which is over 3.4 times what the available units are.   

The demand for affordable housing within the District has and will continue to be a top 
commodity and priority within the district and it is the DNSSABs role to facilitate, support and 
maintain the integrity of the social housing system through financial programs and assistance. 

 

 

 
 

45



 

 

Appendix A – Financial Implications 
 

  
NDHC 

  

Maplecrest I 
 

  
Pre-Expiry Post-Expiry 

    Subsidy 
 

$231,559.00 $0.00 
Other Revenue 

 
$263,616.00 $263,616.00 

Total Revenue 
 

$495,175.00 $263,616.00 

    Mortgage 
Expense 

 
$162,354.00 $0.00 

Other Expenses 
 

$332,821.00 $332,821.00 
Total Expenses 

 
$495,175.00 $332,821.00 

    Net Surplus/Loss 
 

$0.00 -$69,205.00 
 

 

46



 
 

 
 

BRIEFING NOTE HS31-20 
 
 

For Information or ☒For Approval 
 

                               

Date:   October 28, 2020  
 
Purpose:    End of Operating Agreement – WNNPHC  

Prepared by:  Stacey Cyopeck, Manager, Housing Programs 
  
Reviewed by:   Catherine Matheson, CAO 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
That the District of Nipissing Social Services Administration Board (DNSSAB) receives for approval report 
HS31-20 regarding the End of Operating Agreement for West Nipissing Non-Profit Housing Corporation’s 
Municipal Non-Profit project,  wherein the DNSSAB would continue to fund the 40 unit seniors apartment 
complex through the support of the COCHI funding for a 5-year term, subject to ongoing provincial funding, 
and further that the Chair support the WNNPHC and Au Chateau with an advocacy position to the Ministry of 
Health for transitional funding for the 102 units  

 
BACKGROUND:  
 
In 1984, a new housing project was approved by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing (MMAH) and the 
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) for West Nipissing Non-Profit Housing Corporation 
(WNNPHC).  That project comprised of 40 senior’s apartment units and 102 shelter beds that would operate as 
residential beds in a “Home for the Aged”.  In 1993, following legislation changes, “Homes for the Aged” 
became Long-Term Care facilities, and were funded though the Ministry of Health.  In 2001, the province 
downloaded the responsibility of the administration of all social housing units in the district to the DNSSAB.  In 
doing so, so did the responsibility to fund the units, in accordance with the legislated funding formulas.  Any 
shortfall between funding transfers from the province and funding requirements of the housing providers fell 
onto the municipal levy. 

The project is currently funded using a combination of Federal override assistance, Provincial Municipal Non-
Profit Program (MNP) operating subsidy and Municipal Levy.  In 2020, the total Provincial and Federal funding 
received for this project was $429,310.  

In 2020, the portion of the municipal levy that was dedicated to WNNPHC’s MNP program was $742,206 which 
represents 51% of the total MNP budget.   

Over the term of the Operating Agreement and through the funding provided by the Province and the Municipal 
Levy, the provider has been investing funds into a Capital Reserve Fund.  As of the end of the last fiscal year 
(2019), the capital reserve fund balance for this project is $884,836. As a result of the end of operating 
agreements, the funding associated with the Federal override assistance and Provincial Municipal Non-Profit 
Housing Program (MNP) will substantially decrease in 2021 to $53,555 (due to the project expiring in January), 
and will no longer exist post 2021.  Following the End of Operating Agreement, there is currently no legislated 
requirement for Service Managers to continue to fund MNP projects.  

47



CURRENT STATUS/STEPS TAKEN TO DATE: 

The 102 bed facility and 40 unit apartment building combined operating and mortgage subsidies for the 
WNNPHC project currently amount to $1,171,516/year, while the mortgage payments for this project are 
$353,085.00.  At the end of the Operating Agreement, the mortgages will be paid in full, leaving an estimated 
operating variance of $818,431 yearly should the DNSSAB funding cease. 
 

Currently, only the 40-unit seniors’ apartment building is included in Nipissing’s Service Level Standards. The 
102 long-term care beds, despite being funded like RGI units, are not taken into consideration for SLS. A 
question had been posed to MMAH as to whether these could be counted as RGI units and included in the 
Service Level Standards, however, they are currently long term care beds. 

WNNPHC is looking to redevelop the long-term care portion of their project to create a more modern long-term 
care space. As such, the provider requested a 5 year extension to their existing funding arrangement with 
DNSSAB until they can finalize their redevelopment plans.  
 
Filling vacancies for senior’s RGI apartments in West Nipissing is often challenging. Often, those housing 
providers request that RGI units be filled as market units because there are simply no RGI applicants available 
to fill the vacancy. Those requests are granted on a case-by-case basis.  LTC beds on the other hand do have 
a high demand and WNNPHC serves the needs of citizens who are looking to stay in West Nipissing to age in 
place.  

RISK IDENTIFICATION AND MITIGATION 

 The expiry of social housing operating agreements is becoming a prominent issue across the 
country, and as these agreements expire, many housing providers are finding that they cannot 
afford to provide the same levels of rent-geared-to-income (RGI) housing without subsidies.  

 Without subsidies, housing providers will have limited options to be able to continue providing RGI 
units.  This means that for housing providers to be able to continue providing housing, many may 
sell some of their stock and/or raise rents on some or all units.  

 When RGI units are sold or rents are raised beyond an RGI level, the total number of RGI unit 
availability drops. These changes will make it more difficult for low-income households to access 
and retain quality housing. 

 As mentioned in this report, only 40 of the 142 units count toward Service Level Standards.  If 
funding ceases for the 40 seniors units, they will no longer count towards Nipissing’s SLS, 
increasing the shortfall of RGI units in the district. 

 The recommendation is that the DNSSAB continue funding the 40 seniors’ apartments for a 5 year 
term with the possibility to extend beyond the end of the term (subject to continued provincial 
funding).  With an estimated cost of $230,544 per year, this would equate to $1,152,720 in funding 
over the initial 5 year term.   

 Furthermore, should the WNNPHC Board choose to not enter an agreement for the 40 seniors 
apartments only, this will create an additional 32 RGI shortages in the District of Nipissing.  These 
can be replaced through Rent Supplements or Portable Housing Benefits throughout the district. 

 While the 40 seniors units can be completely funded using COCHI-TOF in the 2021/22 fiscal year, 
confirmation that this funding will continue beyond 2021/22 has not yet been received.  Should the 
DNSSAB enter a 5 year agreement with WNPPHC at the expiry of the Operating Agreement, 
funding beyond 2021/22 would be contingent on available funding under COCHI-TOF or another 
program.  If no provincial funding is available, the decision to continue funding this project from the 
Municipal Levy will be brought back to the DNSSAB Board for consideration. 

 

 

 

48



RELATIONSHIP TO STRATEGIC PLAN: 

For the 40 available senior units at Villa du Loisir, the waitlist is sitting at 266 applicants (a combination of RGI 
& market) which is over 6.5 times the number of available units.   

The demand for affordable housing within the District has and will continue to be a top priority and it is the 
DNSSABs role to facilitate, support and maintain the integrity of the social housing system through financial 
programs and assistance. 

Recommendation: 

Continue to fund the 40 unit WNNPHC project that contributes towards SLS for the duration of a 5-year 
agreement, subject to continued provincial funding.  

 
The subsidy requirement is estimated based on anticipated operating deficit for the entire project at mortgage 
expiry, calculated on a per unit subsidy, and multiplied by the 40 units, as indicated below: 
 
$818,431 (post expiry deficit) / 142 total units = $5,763.60 * 40 SLS units = $230,544 
 
Funding WNNPHC utilizing funding from COCHI-Transitional Operating Funding in the amount of $230,544 to 
cover the 40 units counted toward SLS, would require no additional funds from the Municipal Levy.  As such 
the total cost saving to the levy would be approximately $742,206 for end of operating of the 102 long term 
care units. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
49



 

Financial Implications 

 

 
WNNPHC - Villa du Loisir/Au Chateau 

 
 

   
 

 
Pre-Expiry Post-Expiry 

 
  

    
  

Subsidy $1,171,516.24 $0.00 
 

 

Other Revenue $450,588.00 $450,588.00 
 

 

Total Revenue $1,622,104.24 $450,588.00 
 

 

    
 

Mortgage 
Expense $353,085.00 $0.00 

 
 

Other Expenses $1,269,019.24 $1,269,019.24 
 

 

Total Expenses $1,622,104.24 $1,269,019.24 
 

 

    
 

Net Surplus/Loss $0.00 -$818,431.24 
 

 
 

50



1 
 

 
 

BRIEFING NOTE HS30-20 
 

 For information   X For Approval    
 

                                    
Date:   October 28, 2020 
 
Purpose:    Addressing Homelessness and Supportive Housing, and 

Advocacy Opportunity to the Provincial Government 

Prepared by: Stacey Cyopeck, Manager Housing Services  
  
Reviewed by: Catherine Matheson, CAO 
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
THAT the Advocacy and Next Steps identified in Briefing Note HS30-20 be adopted as 

direction from the Board to staff to proactively work towards the prevention of 

homelessness in the District of Nipissing and promotion of supportive housing in 

keeping with the DNSSAB 10 year Housing and Homelessness Plan. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 

 

The role of housing Service Manager is one held by DSSABs and CMSMs across the 
province of Ontario, as it relates to their legislative obligations under the Housing 
Services Act, 2011. Specifically, the Act establishes the legislative framework for social 
housing in Ontario, and states that the fundamental purpose of the Act is: 
 

 to provide for community based planning and delivery of housing and 
homelessness services with general provincial oversight and policy direction; 
and 

 to provide flexibility for Service Managers and housing providers while 
retaining requirements with respect to housing programs that predate this Act 
and housing projects that are subject to those programs.   

 



2 
 

Further, the Act describes the Provincial interest in providing a system of housing and 
homelessness services that:  

 
(a) is focused on achieving positive outcomes for individuals and families; 
(b) addresses the housing needs of individuals and families in order to help address 

other challenges they face; 
(c) has a role for non-profit corporations and non-profit housing co-operatives; 
(d) has a role for the private market in meeting housing needs; 
(e) provides for partnerships among governments and others in the community; 
(f) treats individuals and families with respect and dignity; 
(g) is co-ordinated with other community services; 
(h) is relevant to local circumstances; 
(i) allows for a range of housing options to meet a broad range of needs; 
(j) ensures appropriate accountability for public funding; 
(k) supports economic prosperity; and 
(l) is delivered in a manner that promotes environmental sustainability and energy 

conservation.   
 

Through the provincially funded Community Homelessness Prevention Initiative (CHPI) 
and the federally funded Reaching Home program, Service Managers have more 
specific housing and homelessness goals. 
 

Community Homelessness Prevention Initiative (CHPI)  

CHPI is an outcome-based program that aims to prevent and end homelessness by 
improving access to adequate, suitable, and affordable housing and homelessness 
services for people experiencing homelessness and for people at-risk of homelessness. 
CHPI is administered under a service agreement between the Ministry of Municipal 
Affairs and Housing (MMAH) and each Service Manager. 

The CHPI program includes a poverty reduction strategy, and it has a vision of being: 

- Housing First Model: based on the principle that people are better able to move 
forward with their lives if they’re first housed 

- People Centred: a people-centred approach focuses on positive results for 
individuals and families who are homeless or at risk of homelessness 

- Partnership Based: meaning strong partnerships at all levels of government and 
in the community are required 

- Locally Driven: goals must be locally relevant and based on peoples’ needs. 



3 
 

- Inclusive: all people have the right to equal treatment and protection from 
discriminatory practices 

- Fiscally Responsible: intended to give due regard for an economic, efficient and 
effective approach 

- Outcome Focused: all initiatives should be informed by the principles listed 
above. 

Reaching Home 

Reaching Home is a federally funded community-based program aimed at preventing 
and reducing homelessness by providing direct support and funding to Designated 
Communities (urban centers), Indigenous communities, territorial communities and rural 
and remote communities across Canada. 

The Reaching Home directives provide guidance, details and expectations related to the 
program requirements to assist communities in preventing and reducing homelessness.  

The DNSSAB is the appointed community entity representative in the District of 
Nipissing and is responsible for organizing the Community Advisory Board (CAB) and 
for setting the direction to address homelessness issues in the District. The CAB is 
responsible for addressing homelessness issues by aiming to increase access and 
options to a range of programs supports and accommodations for those experiencing 
homelessness, and aim to act as a link to the sector serving homeless individuals in the 
District. 

 

HOUSING AND HOMELESSNESS PLANNING 

In 2019 the DNSSAB conducted a five year review of the DNSSAB’s 10-year housing 
and homelessness plan to provide insight into the progress made over the first five 
years of the Plan.  The review also provided a strong framework for guiding DNSSAB’s 
housing policy, planning, and investments over the next five years of the 10 year plan.  

Overall, six key themes and 43 associated sub-themes related to housing and 
homelessness emerged through consulting with service providers, municipalities, and 
private market representatives. The six key themes include: 
 

 More affordable housing options along the continuum;  

 Addressing housing condition;  

 Increased funding geared to housing need;  

 Increased coordination of services and supports; 

 Addressing stigma, awareness & accountability; and 

 Addressing legislative and economic barriers. 



4 
 

 
The plan was developed through community consultation with a goal of addressing the 
needs of the most vulnerable in the District. Specifically, consultation occurred with the 
CAB, which has elected co-chairs who represent the interests of homelessness 
stakeholders across the District. 

 
HOMELESSNESS CHALLENGES 

With a recent increase in the degree of homelessness and related complexities, the role 
of support to homelessness is stretched and requires significant additional resources. 
Although the DNSSAB is funded to support programs of housing and homelessness, 
there are many other programs involved in direct delivery and reducing homelessness 
requiring an approach that involves a significant focus on the integration of housing and 
health-related support and coordination.  

Typically, an individual experiencing homelessness cannot identify the cause of their 
homelessness as related to one specific reason or event. The origins of homelessness 
are complex, and require a network of resources and a multi-faceted approach. Some of 
the most common causes of homelessness include:1  

 Mental Health  

 Addictions 

 Family breakdown 

 Violence and/or abuse 

 Unemployment 

 Health crisis 

 Lack of affordable and appropriate housing 
 

Although under the Housing Services Act, the DNSSAB has a mandate to support 
housing and homelessness issues, there is an intersection with the mandate of other 
ministries, such as: 

 The Ministry of Health’s programs that predominantly assist all Ontarians with 
their health care needs, in addition to those with mental health and addictions 
issues.  
In September 2019, a new Associate Minister of Mental Health and Addictions 
was named, giving optimism of additional attention being paid to this important 
area. 
 

                                                           
1
 https://www.fredvictor.org/2019/06/14/7-common-causes-of-homelessness/ 

https://www.fredvictor.org/2019/06/14/7-common-causes-of-homelessness/


5 
 

 MCCSS supports the Ontario Works program, as well as assisting people with 
developmental disabilities, as well as serving youth and Indigenous people, and 
people experiencing or who are at risk of experiencing gender-based violence 
and human trafficking. 

Because of the intersection between homelessness and health, it’s clear that 
responding and addressing the root causes of homelessness requires a multi-Ministry, 
multi-sector and collaborative approach. Currently, although DSSAB’s and CMSM’s are 
funded for community planning and to deliver housing and homelessness programs, the 
funding does not provide sufficient financial support to address the complexities of 
mental health and addictions of those experiencing homelessness.  

For example, at 365 Lakeshore Drive (Edgewater Apartments), a Nipissing District 
Housing Corporation property, there was in 2017 over 100 emergency calls made 
related to mental health and addictions, criminal activity and disturbances. Staff 
identified of 133 tenants in the building, and 72 of the tenants had complex tenancies.  

Short term funding was secured for this building, which meant having a physical 
presence in the building daily. The funding was not from MMAH but instead Ministry of 
Health funding provided through the Canadian Mental Health Association (CMHA). 

In the first year when staff was in place, there was a significant reduction in the number 
of emergency calls being placed, see Figure #1 below. In 2019 there were a total of 72 
calls. 

Figure #1: 

 
 

Unfortunately, this funding is not stable and currently the funding is not available. As a 
result, the number of calls to Emergency Services as increased in 2020 From January 1 
to June 30, 2020 alone there have already been 100 emergency calls for service to the 

2017 2018 2019 2020 (Jan-Jun)

0

20

40

60

80

100

120



6 
 

building. Police have identified the calls as being primarily related to mental health 
issues, criminal activity and disturbances, and police assistance.  

The Edgewater Apartments example illustrates that the addition of a Ministry of Health 
funded support worker in the building had the ability to reduce the number of emergency 
calls significantly, and to support tenants in staying housed. The staff, who had 
knowledge of mental health and addiction resources, often could connect tenants with 
the supports they needed to avoid them losing their tenancy and facing homelessness. 

 

COMMUNITY CONCERNS 

A growing number of business owners in the city of North Bay are expressing concerns 
over the impact visible homelessness is having on their business. In an October 13, 
2020 North Bay Nugget article “I’m appalled, but more than that I’m scared” two 
downtown North Bay business owners describe ‘people urinating, shooting heroin, 
yelling and screaming’2 as scenes outside of their newly opened business. One 
indicated they had phoned the police ten times to help individuals who are homeless or 
appear to be suffering from addiction. The City of North Bay mayor added that it is a 
complex issue, and that the City is working with provincial counterparts and health 
agencies to find assistance and shelter for those that need it. 

Additionally, two business owners attended the City of North Bay’s council meeting 
October 13, 2020 and spoke to their experience interacting with those who were 
experiencing homelessness in downtown North Bay. They indicated a feeling of fear for 
their safety, and a lack of police presence in the downtown area. 

 

HOUSING AND HEALTH, 2016-2019 

In the North-East Local Integrated Health Network (NE-LHIN) Innovative Housing with 
Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario Strategic Plan: 2016-2019 report (Appendix A), 
it’s stated that the NE-LHIN has taken a leadership role in the conversation about 
housing and health. The report highlights the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and 
threats to the development of innovative housing with health supports in NE Ontario. It 
specifically identifies the lack of coordination between ministries, sectors and 
organizations as a weakness, along with lack of housing with adequate levels of 
support.  

The NE-LHIN was the first if not only LHIN to bring strategy to the intersection of 
housing and health. The report identified that the timing was ‘right’ to cooperate and 
collaborate with senior levels of government, municipalities, housing providers, health 
and social services and the private sector, in terms of developing innovative housing 
with health supports. 

                                                           
2
 https://www.nugget.ca/news/local-news/im-appalled-but-more-than-that-im-scared 

https://www.nugget.ca/news/local-news/im-appalled-but-more-than-that-im-scared


7 
 

Working towards the goal of innovative housing and infrastructure, the report states it 
will identify a range of innovative funding mechanisms to aid in the development/ 
creation, renovation or re-purposing of a range of adequate, affordable, safe and energy 
efficient housing through the judicious and accountable use of government, public and 
private sector funds to reduce/eliminate homelessness and/or inadequate housing. 
Some of the NE-LHIN’s objectives include: 

 Develop objective methods to measure need, including households experiencing 
homelessness/inadequate housing, moving beyond Point in Time counts, which 
they state ignore ‘hidden homelessness’ 

 Engage the private sector to seek innovative ways to involve them in investing in 
affordable housing 

 Where agencies providing concentrated health services within close proximity to 
social housing project, these organizations coordinate health and ancillary 
services 

Working towards the goal of innovative health/social support provision, the report states 
some of the NE-LHIN’s objectives for the development of innovative health and social 
supports include: 

 Developing a system of support for social housing tenants/providers to allow 
streamlined access to health and social services to allow them to remain in their 
home 

 Address collaboration with community partners and provincial ministries to 
reduce and prevent homelessness amongst those transitioning from provincially 
funded institutions and service systems 

 Develop coordinated ‘success teams’ which could include housing, financial, 
health, system navigation, employment or other supports to provide ‘wrap 
around’ service to clients 

 Where managed alcohol programs are implemented across the NE to deal with 
the chronic homeless issue crossing over the housing and health continuum, the 
shelter component be prioritized by the DSSAB’s, and the supports funded by the 
NE LHIN 

 A centralized client registry of persons requiring health or social supports and/or 
housing should be established, using best practice technology to maximize 
support and minimize wait times 

Working towards the goal of innovative leadership and sponsorships, the report states 
some of the NE-LHIN’s objectives include: 

 Coordination, consultation and collaboration amongst DSSAB’s and the NE-LHIN 
should occur with respect to new capital housing considerations for investments 
and LHIN considerations for supports for assisted living and/or other support 
services within affected communities 



8 
 

THE GATEWAY HOUSE IN RESPONSE TO HOMELESSNESS 

In follow up to the Mayor’s Roundtable report in February 2020, the DNSSAB along with 
community partners created a solution-oriented response to the Roundtable’s 
expressed need for a low barrier shelter and transitional housing. This solution, known 
as the Gateway House, located at 590 Chippewa Street in North Bay, is a wellness-
based approach, including a low barrier shelter (currently open) and a16 bed transitional 
housing project scheduled to open in 2021. The goal of the Gateway House will be to 
have an open door with no judgement, to provide holistic, wrap-around services, and to 
be a bridge to addiction and mental health supports. 

Advocacy on the gaps in housing and health in Nipissing were also raised by the Chair 
and DNSSAB board members at ROMA and AMO in 2020. In addition, Minister Clark 
MMAH, in September 2020 met with the DNSSAB representatives at the Chippewa site. 
There the DNSSAB highlighted amongst other points, the impact of unmanaged 
homelessness on the community, see Figure #2: 

 

 

SUPPORTIVE HOUSING ENGAGEMENT OCTOBER 2020 

Supportive housing refers to a combination of housing assistance (ex. rent-geared-to-
income and rent supplements) and support services (ex. counselling and life skills 
training) to enable people to live as independently as possible in a community setting.  



9 
 

The Ministries of Municipal Affairs and Housing, Children, Community and Social 
Services along with Health have undertaken a multi-ministerial approach to supportive 
housing in the Province. In their recent Engagement on Improving Ontario’s Supportive 
Housing Programs Regional  Sessions in October 2020 supportive housing is seen in 
the housing continuum as being a progression an individual moves to after an 
emergency shelter, but before being ready to live in social housing. 

Three Ministry programs that are required to successfully enable supportive housing, 
which include: 

 Ministry of Health 

 Ministry of Children, Community and Social Services 

 Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 

Key challenges to Ontario’s supportive housing system are currently: 

 Supply: lack of supply to meet demand 

 Access: multiple system access points that are difficult for people to navigate 

 Efficiency: 20 individual programs across 3 Ministries 

 Complex Needs: people with complex needs not well-served by individual 
programs 

As the province endeavours to collaboratively respond to need for coordination of 
housing the DNSSAB is positioned to take a leadership role on the coordination of 
housing and health locally and in response to the Ministry Consultation. It is 
recommended that a meeting of organizational leads be brought together given this 
recent opportunity to develop a coordinated community submission for the Province – 
specific to Nipissing District.  

The Nipissing District has ample community evidence of leadership within the sectors of 
ministerial programs. Community based tables such as the Community Advisory Board 
(CAB) has made strides in bringing agencies in the community to the table to discuss 
issues of homelessness. The role of the CAB in supporting issues of homelessness is 
better explained in the Role of the CAB Report being presented to the Community 
Services Committee in October 2020. However, as you’ll see in that report, the CAB 
makes recommendations, provides a forum for information sharing and defines needs 
and gaps. Unfortunately, because the table is ultimately one focused on planning, but 
as a consensus based planning table, it’s difficult for the CAB to steer long –term 
strategic change.  

The community has taken strides in coming together. In 2019 the Mayor’s round table 
identified the absence of a low barrier shelter and the absence of transitional supportive 
housing as significant gaps in the community. In 2020 a low barrier shelter was opened 
with support from Social Services Relief Fund MMAH funding. Nipissing Mental Health 
Housing and Support Services (NMHHSS) is the operator for both the shelter and 
transitional housing program, which is in development.  



10 
 

A multi-sectoral and collaborative approach with key community stakeholders outside of 
ministerial boundaries would best enable advocacy for the individual clients, resident, 
and families in the District of Nipissing. This would also open doors indicating the 
readiness of the community for new Provincial models and programs and tangible 
outcomes. 

ADVOCACY 

Two potential recommendations would be brought to community partners for further 
consideration and in a coordinated response to the Ministry’s’ call for engagement 
around supportive housing. 

1. Need for Additional Funding and Coordinated Supports to Housing Along the 
Continuum  

The Nipissing District communities need adequate funding and a coordinated financial 
and program commitment from the Ministry of Health, Ministry of Children, Community 
and Social Services, and the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing to be better able 
to support the complex issues that impact individuals experiencing homelessness.  
 
The Edgewater Apartments is an example identified in Figure #1 demonstrates the 
value in having a Ministry of Health funded support worker in a housing building, as their 
presence is able to support tenants in staying housed, and ultimately prevent 
homelessness. The low barrier housing program is another example where housing 
requires significant program supports to enable individuals to reach a state of health 
and wellness, independently thriving in community. 

2. Need for Additional Supply of Safe / Accessible Housing Stock.  

 

NEXT STEPS 

 

Given Board direction staff will pull together a task force of organizational leaders which 
would develop a position specific to Nipissing advocating to the province within their 
engagement process calling for recommendations for supportive housing. The response 
would be action oriented, solution focused, and would aim to aid in mitigating the risk of 
homelessness by offering a more sustainable solution to housing for those with chronic 
and complex barriers.  
 
This approach wouldn’t prevent any agency from its own advocacy, but would 
demonstrate multi-sectoral and collaborative approach that is fundamentally needed to 
support inter-sectoral planning amongst three ministries on these matters of 
homelessness, supportive housing, health and coordinated access to services. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Innovative Housing with Health 
Supports in Northeastern Ontario  
Strategic Plan: 2016-2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 

62

zadram
Typewritten Text

zadram
Typewritten Text
Appendix A



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 2 

 

Table of Contents 
 
Acknowledgements ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

Executive Summary ...................................................................................................................................... 4 

Background ................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Innovative LHIN-funded Housing Models ..................................................................................................... 8 

Strategic Planning ......................................................................................................................................... 9 

Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats .................................................................................. 10 

Mission, Vision, Values ... ........................................................................................................................... 12 

Goals and Objectives  ................................................................................................................................. 14 

Conclusion  ................................................................................................................................................. 21 

Appendix 1: Housing Expert Panel Member List ......................................................................................... 22 
 
Appendix 2: Vulnerable Tenants Research Study ....................................................................................... 23 
 
Appendix 3: Innovative Housing with Health Supports in NE Ontario: Financial Modelling Tool. ............. 74 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

63



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 3 

 

Acknowledgements 
 
The North East Local Health Integration Network (NE LHIN) Expert Panel with support from the 
Northern Ontario Service Deliverers Association (NOSDA), Housing Services Corporation, SHS 
Consulting, Canadian Mental Health Association Manitoulin-Sudbury formulated this Strategic 
Plan to guide Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario.  As a 
social determinant of health, housing is an all-government agenda item and has been identified 
by the NE LHIN as a key element supporting health care transformation and quality of life.  
 
The NE LHIN sponsored a forum entitled “Building for the Future” in October, 2015. That first 
forum on housing and health in Northeastern (NE) Ontario was dedicated to fostering 
partnerships, identifying barriers and opportunities, as well as exploring creative solutions to 
meet the future housing and health needs of NE Ontario communities.  As a result of that forum, 
there was a request for the NE LHIN to undertake additional work on the matters of housing and 
health. The NE LHIN created an expert panel on the matter and has sponsored this innovative 
housing and support-related, strategic initiative.   
 
The Expert Panel chaired by Gary Scripnick, NE LHIN Board member and Past Chair of 
NOSDA, led a second housing forum (see Appendix 1) in June 2016 which was attended by 
over 100 participants. The draft plan was further discussed at the forum and was circulated to 
community partners for comment and feedback. The final version will be presented to the NE 
LHIN Board in September 2016.  
 
This strategic plan is the result of significant community engagement, consultation and 
collaboration. The vision, mission, values, goals and objectives as put forth by the Expert Panel 
are clear and actionable. Further to NE LHIN Board endorsement, it is recommended that the 
plan be brought forward to the City of Greater Sudbury (CGS) and DSSABs across NE Ontario 
for endorsement.  
 
 
August, 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

64



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 4 

 

Executive Summary 
 

General population health is dependent upon appreciation and investment into social 
determinants of health. As such, the NE LHIN has taken a leadership role in the conversation 
about housing and health. A dialogue with experts in housing, health, development, and 
government in the fall of 2015 resulted in the formation of an expert panel on housing and 
health. Consideration of the facts, opinions, and opportunities in NE Ontario has resulted in this 
strategic plan.  
 
The foundation of this strategy is the recognition that there is a shortage of affordable and/or 
appropriate housing stock across NE Ontario. In addition, with growing pressures on the acute 
care sector and appreciation of the importance of housing individuals in community with 
appropriate supports to advance quality of life and population health has resulted in a series of 
recommendations to increase the housing stock, and to provide adequate supports in 
community. 
 
The intention of the expert panel was to stretch limits, leverage opportunity and funding to 
support investments into housing, and health and enable care close to home. 
 
The values guiding development of the plan include: 
 

 Client-Centered, People-Oriented 
 

 System Driven, Service Provider Sensitive 
 

 Mutually Accountable  
 

Four overarching themes from were identified during the course of planning and include: 
 

1. Clients /  People 
 
2. Innovative Housing and Infrastructure 

 
3. Innovative Health / Social Support Provision 

 
4. Innovative Leadership and Sponsorships 

 
Within this report, the expert panel has prepared a comprehensive list of objectives that cascade 
from the overarching themes.  It is proposed that the expert panel will meet on an annual basis to be 
briefed on the progress on the strategy and advise the NE LHIN accordingly.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

65



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 5 

 

Background 
 
Northeastern Ontario includes the Districts of Sault Ste. Marie, Algoma, Manitoulin-Sudbury, the 
City of Greater Sudbury, Cochrane, Nipissing, Temiskaming, James Bay Coast and Parry 
Sound.  To say the population in NE Ontario, indeed all Northern Ontario, deserves special 
attention when it comes to developing innovative housing with health supports is an 
understatement.   
 
It is well documented that Canada’s population is aging. This is especially evident in the 
demographic makeup of Northern Ontario. The proportion of senior households is increasing 
relative to its’ overall population. One reason is that younger people are moving out of the North 
in search of education and employment, while older people tend to stay in their communities  
 
Fewer young and working aged adults (e.g. aged 15 to 54) results in a tax burden on older 
adults who may be on fixed incomes. Further, high numbers  of seniors in communities put 
pressures on municipal services (e.g. EMS, Housing) which are funded by the municipal service 
manager. Seniors may have a reduced ability to pay the resulting increased costs of the 
property tax burden due to fixed incomes. An aging population has implications on social 
housing as persons on fixed or low incomes may have increasing difficulty maintaining and 
living in their own homes.  An aging population has implications on Emergency Medical 
Services as need for medical services increases with age.  
 
Historically, culturally or linguistically appropriate specialized health or social services have been 
developed where there have been critical masses of demand. This means that services are 
diffused throughout the region, and that people with specific health or social service needs often 
have to travel great distances or sometimes move to access specific, needed services.   
 
Over ten percent of the population in the North is Indigenous, representing about 40% of all 
indigenous people in Ontario. 26% of Ontario’s Francophones live in Northern Ontario. There 
are 15 Friendship Centres and one satellite office located in Northern Ontario – six of which are 
located across the NE (including one satellite office). Friendship Centres are community hubs, 
providing multi-sectoral services to urban Indigenous people and in many cases have been 
serving the community in their respective towns or cities for over 20 years and may be the only 
urban Indigenous organization in their location. 
 
Considering that 84.1% of Indigenous people in Ontario live off-reserve1, and that Indigenous 
people represent one-third of the total population in northern Ontario2, urban Indigenous 
engagement in creating social service delivery in Northern Ontario is crucial. Key factors 
influencing the increased migration to urban centres by Indigenous people are the perceived 
educational and employment opportunities, the perception of greater access to supports and 
                                                            
1 Statistics Canada., National Household Survey (Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada, 2011). 
2 Service Canada., Client Segment Profile: Aboriginal Peoples, Ontario (Ottawa, ON: Service Canada, 
2014). 

66



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 6 

 

services, and the hope of adequate housing. Nonetheless, for many, the socio-economic 
challenges that have influenced their migration continue to impact their daily lives and a 
disproportionate percentage of urban Indigenous people continue to live below the poverty line.3  
 
Another issue affecting housing and services in the North is the regular need to evacuate 
communities in the Far North to more southern communities in Northern Ontario due to climate 
change and fires.  This puts, short term, but severe pressure on housing and support services. 
 
In the rural areas of the region, there is a higher than national/provincial average dependency 
on government transfer payments (pensions, assistance, etc.) due to a lack of earning 
opportunities. There is relatively high mobility of younger families across the region and into and 
out of the North in search of education and employment. They are adversely affected by 
externally driven, resource-based cyclical economic downturns, limited economic diversity and 
job opportunities, an aging-in-place workforce reducing upward occupational mobility, lower 
literacy, at-risk youth, lower than average family incomes and higher than average low income 
families and single parents. Poverty rates are higher due to a lack of employment opportunities; 
disability is more prevalent in Northern Ontario. This also has a negative impact on the 
availability of informal caregivers to address the needs of aging relatives and neighbors. These 
determinants of health factors have an impact on the health status of Northern Ontarians: on 
average the health status of Northern Ontarians is lower than their Southern Ontario 
counterparts. As a result of these phenomena, northern communities are generally more 
immediately and severely affected by economic and demographic changes.  All of these 
challenging factors are affecting the long-term viability of some depopulating, de-serviced 
municipalities. 
 
As noted in the research conducted by SHS Consulting for this project(see Appendix 2), there is 
great concern across the province regarding the lack of supports for the growing number of 
vulnerable individuals being housed within social housing portfolios and particularly in Northern 
communities. There are many vulnerable populations in communities across the NE LHIN who 
are at risk of suffering poor health outcomes and, at the same time, likely to experience difficulty 
managing those outcomes.  While the Housing First policy is strongly supported and there is 
widespread agreement that social housing provides a critical foundation for helping reduce 
poverty among these individuals, these providers are finding a widespread lack of supports for 
addressing their clients’ needs.  It is also worth noting that indigenous housing providers have 
noted Housing First is too narrow a focus to holistically address social housing needs. In 
addition to the need for supportive services, investments are required across the housing 
continuum starting with both homelessness and emergency housing and supportive and 
transitional housing.  Staff responsible for operating social housing, such as property managers 
and building superintendents, or volunteer boards themselves, are often left to try and cope with 
meeting these needs; most are lacking in the required skills and resources and are not trained 

                                                            
3 OFIFC, OMAA, ONWA, Urban Aboriginal Task Force: Final Report (Toronto, ON: Ontario Federation of 
Indigenous Friendship Centres, Ontario Métis Aboriginal Association, Ontario Native Women’s 
Association, 2007). 185-186 

67



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 7 

 

to fulfill this role.  This issue is being experienced not only among the mainstream population; 
Indigenous housing providers and agencies such as Ontario Aboriginal Housing Services are 
also finding similar concerns within their social housing portfolios as well. 
 
At the same time, the support system for these individuals consists of a dizzying array of 
services, programs and agencies that can be difficult for clients to navigate. Clients often have 
to tell their story over and over.  There isn’t dedicated, long-term funding for such services and 
no coordinated approach to providing a consistent and effective level of support for these 
individuals between and among the various services a client may need at a given time.  On top 
of that, data on which to plan appropriate services is disparate and limited.  
 
Findings from research activities suggest that there is a need to enhance home and community 
care across the NE LHIN and indeed across Ontario.  This includes increasing access to in-
home services and expanding the supply of specialized supportive housing.  This housing with 
health support services should provide long-term, flexible and, when necessary, more intensive 
supports to particular population groups who may not be appropriate candidates for long-term 
care. Currently, it appears that there are significant populations of vulnerable groups suffering 
from multi-vulnerability.  Their unmet needs many not only create a risk for poor health 
outcomes and potentially avoidable health crises for these clients, but also could lead to a loss 
of independence through an inability to sustain their housing, a frequent use of emergency 
services, increased demand on Alternative Levels of Care, increasing caregiver burnout and 
can lead to premature admission to long-term care homes.  This may or more likely may not be 
a good fit for the individual. 
 
All levels of government along with the private sector need to strategically plan and execute 
projects that bring social housing and services together across Ontario to maximize the impact 
of scarce public resources.  Nowhere is this initiative more urgent than in NE Ontario, where the 
population of seniors and persons with low income is higher than the provincial average. The 
NE also contains numerous small communities with aging populations and few options for 
people who require supports to live in their own homes and remain in their own communities. 
The concept behind planning for the development and/or integration of social housing with 
health supports is to take advantage of the current climate and growing need for affordable 
housing in this region of the province.   
 
Why now?  Interest rates are at historic lows in Ontario.  With the stimulative budgets tabled by 
the Federal and Ontario governments earlier this year, it’s time to address social housing and 
infrastructure deficits that have accumulated in this province over the past number of years.  
Further, integrated health and service delivery should be less expensive to the taxpayer to 
deliver.  However, these plans must recognize that the historical approach of funding 
infrastructure and putting increasing demands on local property taxes is insufficient to meet the 
challenges ahead. The monies for social housing required are substantial, and will require 
judicious project evaluation and selection.   
 

68



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 8 

 

Innovative LHIN-funded Housing Models 
 
Creativity and innovation are critical to meeting the varying health care needs of the population. 
More creativity is required to tackle the shortage of affordable housing. The NE LHIN has 
supported a number of innovative programs and some are listed below and were also identified 
at the October, 2015 Forum: 
 
Carruthers Home (Permanent Housing Model)  
 
Three men have moved from North Bay Regional Health Centre to live in this community home 
for clients living with acquired brain injury. The core transition team from the hospital is a 
registered nurse, social worker and behavioural therapist, with additional access to an 
occupational therapist, with peer support staff from People for Equal Partnership in Mental 
Health (PEP) to complement the clinical staffing of the home.  
 
North Bay-based Physically Handicapped Adults’ Rehabilitation Association (PHARA)  
 
PHARA started providing supports to people with physical disabilities in 1982. Its services have 
expanded to providing housing opportunities for low to moderate income families. It owns and 
operates three housing complexes in North Bay with a total of 143 housing units. There are 36 
totally accessible units for people with physical disabilities and the persons in these units are 
part of the Attendant Care Program. The Outreach program provides supports to people in their 
home in communities from Mattawa to Warren. In partnership with the North Bay Regional 
Health Centre, PHARA has a Transition to Home program that enables people to leave the 
hospital and enter the program for a period of 90 days. 
 
Wade Hampton House, March of Dimes  
 
The renovated former Ridgemount Public School now houses 10 people, the majority under the 
age of 44, with moderate to severe brain injuries. Prior to its construction, most of these young 
adults would have ended up in long term care homes. Wade Hampton House is now the only 
congregate care home for individuals with an acquired brain injury (ABI) between Etobicoke and 
Thunder Bay.  
 
Moonlight Residential Home  
 
The Sudbury residence supports up to eight people as they transition back into community after 
being in hospital. This housing model represents a unique partnership between the North Bay 
Regional Health Centre, the CMHA Sudbury-Manitoulin and the Northern Initiative for Social 
Action (NISA). The home uses a Peer Support staffing model. Peer Support Workers are those 
who have lived experience of mental illness and who offer recovery-based support using their 
own experience.  
 
A further example of innovation undertaken by the NE LHIN is the development of a behavioural 
support program for individuals who have been traditionally housed in hospital but who can be 
supported in long term care with enhanced staffing support. It is examples such as these which 
provide incentive to continue to seek appropriate accommodations for individuals. 

69



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 9 

 

Strategic Planning 
Key to planning for systems change in government is identifying areas of alignment with the goals 
and aspirations of potential partners.  The proposed Innovative Housing and Health Supports 
Strategy has been developed in the context of the Ministry of Health and Long Term Care’s new 
Patients First initiatives, the NE LHIN’s Integrated Health Services Plan 2016-2019, the 
Ministry of Housing’s March, 2016 Long Term Affordable Housing Strategy and its July, 2016 
Housing and Homelessness Policy Statement, as well as NOSDA’s November, 2014 
Consolidated Pan Northern Housing and Homelessness Report and its’ most recent 
Strategic Plan (2013-2016).  Another key component of the current provincial policy and program 
context is the Province’s The Journey Together: Ontario’s Commitment to Reconciliation 
with Indigenous Peoples (2016), which highlights the collective responsibility to work with 
Indigenous communities to address the range of social service gaps that face these communities 
in the North. 
 
Aligning this strategic plan with the above initiatives and plans will maximize their collective 
impact and improve quality of life for those requiring housing with health and social supports in 
NE Ontario. 
 
While there is considerable variety in the form, content, process and duration of strategic plans 
in the public and not-for-profit sectors, each tend to have some common elements.  First, the 
process reflects on recent history, current accomplishments and future challenges. Most include 
an internal diagnostic – a so-called SWOT analysis – looking at the organization’s Strengths- 
Weaknesses-Opportunities-and-Threats and in this case, an external assessment – also 
referred to as a PEST review – looking at relevant Political, Economic, Social and Technological 
impacts that have a direct bearing on the local operating environment.  This information 
provides a frank assessment of current issues and future trends.  
 
Next, the organization reviews the activities with which it is involved – its reason for existing. 
These mandates are then expressed in a Mission Statement. In parallel with this exercise, the 
organization determines the direction that their leadership wishes to take over the term of the 
strategic plan. This Vision Statement sets the overall direction for the organization in a way that 
all those involved can understand.   
 
Finally, the strategic planning process describes what is to be achieved as well as the manner in 
which to achieve it. The Strategic Plan aims to establish broad Goals for the organization. To 
achieve these goals, the plan then identifies Objectives that will either achieve or advance the 
goals.  These objectives require action plans on the part of all system players with identified 
lead organizations for accountability purposes. 
 
The Strategic Plan addresses the ways in which progress will be driven, actions taken and measured, 
course corrections made and overall achievements evaluated when the Strategic Plan comes up for 
renewal.  Successful strategic planning is a shared process – it’s about engagement. 
 
 

70



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 10 

 

Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats 
 
The Expert Panel and ex-officio advisors were surveyed and the following is a summary of the 
panel’s assessment of the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats that have 
significant impact on the development of Innovative Housing with Health Supports in NE 
Ontario. 
 
Strengths 
 
Strengths identified by the Expert Panel included: 
  
 Communities are its greatest strength.  
 Well-developed infrastructure 
 Northern people are a strength (resilient, growing Indigenous population both on-reserve 

and off, etc.) 
 Generally positive and cooperative relationships among providers and between sectors 
 
Weaknesses 
 
Weaknesses identified by the Expert Panel included: 
 
 Large geographic area   
 Higher construction, service and energy costs/affordability 
 Cyclical economy 
 Low population densities and an aging population with slow to negative population growth. 
 Lack of expertise/understanding in a wide variety of areas – lack of people with the right 

skills to develop appropriate housing and/or support service networks in all communities 
 Lack of coordination/bureaucracy/silo mentality between ministries, sectors, organizations 
 Discrimination – against race, gender, age, ability, sexual orientation, persons with mental 

health issues by service providers, landlords, other tenants, general public 
 Lack of volunteers to assist people (diminishing informal support networks) 
 Long-term care not always able to handle some individual behaviours 
 Alternative levels of care needs are growing 
 Lack of housing with adequate levels of support 
 Service gaps between rural and urban population 
 
Opportunities 
 
Opportunities identified by the Expert Panel included: 
 
 Alignment with other levels of government/timing is ‘right’ 
 Cooperation/collaboration between senior levels of government, municipalities, housing 

service providers, health and social services, private sector 
 Addressing the needs of an aging population 

71



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 11 

 

 Use of a wide variety of educational facilities to develop knowledge, training opportunities, 
research on better housing techniques, better data for planning of health and social services 
delivery 

 Use of technology  
 Affordable, serviced land is available in many communities across NE Ontario  
 Need for cross-sectoral funding support 
 
Threats 
 
Threats identified by Expert Panelists included: 
 
 Aging public housing stock  
 Lack of funding for ‘bricks and mortar’ and supports 
 Geography – vast rural and isolated areas 
 Aging population and declining population 
 Capacity – widely distributed, low population base leads to many areas not having people 

with needed expertise 
 Discrimination 
 Disparity of availability of housing/services 
 Silos/leadership that will witness the continued diminishment of delivery capacity in NE 

Ontario 
 Inadvertent creation of care homes in social housing – as social housing residents continue 

to ‘age in place’ increasing pressure is put on social housing staff to provide support 
services  

 
Political, Economic, Social and Technological Implications for Innovative Housing with 
Health Supports in NE Ontario 
 
The Expert Panel identified political, economic, social and technological trends that impacts 
Innovative Housing with Health Support development in NE Ontario. 
 
Political Implications 
 
 Limited political representation/voice in senior levels of government 
 Need for inter-ministerial cooperation and understanding and the reduction of ‘silos’ 
 Need for inter-agency cooperation 
 Need for recognition of limitations of municipalities to fund housing and/or health in the 

North off of local property tax bases 
 Need for First Nations Accords in health and housing funding agreements 
 
What are the Economic Implications? 
 
 Housing and healthy population are economic drivers 
 Lack of economies of scale, higher construction costs  
 The need for a poverty reduction strategy specifically in the North 
 The need for capital grants and more public/private partnerships and new ways to fund and 

deliver housing and health and social supports 

72



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 12 

 

What are the Social Implications? 
 
 Aging population 
 Cultural diversity 
 Geographical isolation and the need for transportation 
 Vulnerable populations 
 Health and social programs and the private sector have not historically worked together in 

NE Ontario 
 Social isolation 

 
What are the Technological Implications? 
 
 Opportunities for technology in housing construction and renovation 
 Opportunities for technology in health care – telemedicine/record keeping 
 Opportunities for technology applications in telecommunication (need for speed) 
 Issues/concerns about technology – lack of adoption by aging Northern population; variety 

of vendors and formats; FOI concerns 
 

Mission 
 
The Mission of the Expert Panel is to enable progress toward achieving the goals and objectives 
contained within this Innovative Housing with Health Supports Strategic Plan, to meet on an 
annual basis to develop and maintain activity in these sectors in NE Ontario and to advise the 
North East Local Health Integration Network, the Northern Ontario Service Deliverers 
Association, DSSABs, the Ministry of Housing, City of Greater Sudbury, the Ministry of Health 
and Long-Term Care and others as appropriate on related issues. 
 

Vision 
 
The vision of the Expert Panel is that every person in Northeastern Ontario has an affordable, 
suitable and adequate home to provide shelter with high quality and well-coordinated health and 
social services available to support independence. 
 

Values 
 
Values identified by the Expert Panelists, through focus group and stakeholder research and 
during the June 8, 2016 Forum are highlighted below: 
 
Client-Centered, People-Oriented 
 
The Expert Panel values a ‘People First’, anti-racist, non-discriminatory, Indigenous cultural 
competency-trained approach, which fosters trust between clients and service providers and 
which ensures that no client is ever turned away because they tried to access services through 

73



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 13 

 

the ‘wrong door’.  Cooperation between service providers is valued as is a willingness to make 
organizational or corporate cultural changes for the betterment of the well-being of clients.  

 
System Responsive, Service Provider Sensitive 
 
The Expert Panel values a system which is collaborative, communicative, coordinated and 
adaptable, and which encourages flexible funding and information sharing among all service 
providers.  The care system must be responsive and supportive of clients and their informal 
networks. Bureaucratic barriers and ‘red tape’ needs to be eliminated.  The housing, health and 
social service network in NE Ontario needs to be accessible, responsive and respectful of all 
clients (including but not limited to First Nations, urban Indigenous, Lesbian, Gay, Bi, Trans-
sexual, racialized, mentally or physically challenged persons, victims of violence, youth at risk, 
seniors and other marginalized populations).  The service network and the services provided 
should be community-driven; responsive to objective measures (i.e. data); and open to changes 
that data supports; and be affordable to users and accountable for monies spent.  Most 
importantly, the dignity of the individual – including both staff and clients – must always be 
respected. 
 
Mutually Accountable 
 
The Expert Panel would value a new approach to government funding which promotes longer-
term funding that is flexible enough to deal with unforeseen issues or opportunities.  Funding 
decisions should be data driven, applying a ‘wellness’ lens, encourage the breaking down of 
silos and be made in a thoughtful, logical fashion.  Mutual accountability of funders, service 
providers and clients is valued as is open, ongoing and clear communications.  These values 
promote a ‘pro-active, can-do’ attitude among service providers and are reassuring to clients.  
Finally, service providers should take all possible steps to engage the private as well as the 
public sectors, promote affordability, energy efficiency and above all, service integration for the 
benefit of clients and the public. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

74



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 14 

 

Goals and Objectives 
 
There are more than 10,000 vulnerable tenants who live in social housing and many other 
vulnerable adults who live on their own across NE Ontario (SHS, 2016).  It is critical that a 
coordinated system of innovative housing with health supports be in place to help meet the 
needs of these vulnerable persons.  To support this, parties involved need to engage in a 
collaboration of committed public and private partners with shared responsibility to better, 
objectively meet the needs of clients.  This can be done through the development of innovative 
solutions and addressing District Housing and Homelessness Ten Year Plan directions and 
service provider housing gaps developed by DSSABs and the CGS.  Below are four goals and 
related objectives:  
 

 Goals provide a broad set of themes    
 

 Objectives are categorized by related Goals and identify observable activities.  They are 
further broken down by Time to Implement: Immediate Term (less than 6 months); Short 
Term (six months to one year); Intermediate Term (one year to two years) and Long 
Term (over two years).  
 

 There will need to be further definition of this strategy by assigning prioritized objectives 
to leads / organizations. 

 
GOAL 1: Clients/People 

 
To develop a ‘People First’ approach to the development of Innovative Housing with Health and 
Social Supports in NE Ontario, citizens must be involved in a meaningful, ongoing way in the 
design and provide input into that development process. 

 
Objective: 

 
1) Develop strategies to engage, reduce and prevent the number of people experiencing 

chronic homelessness and homelessness among vulnerable persons, youth and 
Indigenous peoples, as appropriate to the local context incorporating innovative 
approaches and a Housing First philosophy (INTERMEDIATE TERM) 
 

GOAL 2: Innovative Housing and Infrastructure 
 
Identify a range of innovative funding mechanisms to aid in the development /creation, 
renovation or re-purposing of a range of adequate, affordable, safe and energy efficient housing 
through the judicious and accountable use of government, public and private sector funds to 
reduce/eliminate homelessness and/or inadequate housing. 
 
 
 
 

75



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 15 

 

Objectives: 
 

1) Explore and develop innovative funding and construction/renovation/repurposing/energy 
conservation methodologies (ONGOING) 
 

2) Develop/use consistent, objective methods of measuring need, including households 
experiencing homelessness/inadequate housing.  These methods must go beyond the 
Housing First policy’s reliance on Point in Time counts, which ignore issues of ‘hidden 
homelessness’ (INTERMEDIATE TERM) 
 

3) ‘Bench test’ and modify the financial analysis tool developed by Housing Services 
Corporation, with a view to maximize its utility for communities/organizations considering 
developing innovative housing in NE Ontario (IMMEDIATE TERM) 
 

4) Engage the private sector to seek innovative ways to involve them in investing in 
affordable housing (ONGOING; INTERMEDIATE TERM) 

 
5) Housing builders and providers need to know how to engage Home Care and/or service 

providers if they are to develop or provide units for the "frail" community members or a 
hospital discharge program. This link needs to exist to emphasize the connection 
between integrated service delivery and the development of community homes for high 
needs citizens (INTERMEDIATE TERM) 

 
6) Mandate more education for property managers/building superintendents to help them 

link tenants with service providers.  If a social housing provider or developer doesn’t 
want to invest in expanding the role of their staff, they could partner with a support 
services agency who could a) provide assessments b) deliver care/interventions where 
appropriate.  Property owners could accelerate this process by offering some space in 
their building where agencies delivering care (could be multiple agencies) can write their 
reports/share information with other caregivers where appropriate as well as reach out to 
tenants or provide several units that an agency is responsible to fill and provide 
care.  This approach allows for a natural nucleus of service delivery in the building while 
respecting the fact that there will be all levels of independence represented in the 
housing (INTERMEDIATE TERM) 
 

7) Where there are buildings housing vulnerable citizens such as frail seniors, or adults 
with physical disabilities and where a minimum of 4 individuals require personal support 
care services and there are a minimum of 12 individuals living in that building: 

 
a. A single provider be contracted to service all personal support needs to the 

citizens of the building 
b. Personal support hours are extended for each eligible individual in that location 

to enable variability and flexibility on a daily basis to care of all individuals in that 
building. 

c. Consistency in attendant care be a standard of expectation 
d. Flexibility in range of type of services provided be pursued and supported 

76



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 16 

 

e. The facility be utilized as a ‘community hub’ to serve the health needs of 
neighboring residents – volume permitting 

f. A model that supports these concepts be developed by the NE LHIN by 
December 31, 2016 and implemented by April 1, 2017 (SHORT TERM) 

8)  
Where there are buildings and neighborhoods where this is a high concentration of 
vulnerable citizens: 
 

a. Satellite support offices be positioned within a close geographic proximity 
b. Social housing complexes be encouraged to provide rental arrangements to such 

support agencies using a variable cost recovery for rent  
c. The LHIN and local health service providers commit to supporting a community hub 

model which is premised upon improving the social determinants of health be 
prioritized for the most marginalized neighborhoods across the NE LHIN in particular 
in alignment with the rural health hub strategy and urban areas of the NE LHIN 

d. When new health care models are being developed such as community health 
centres they be prioritized to areas where there are a high concentration of 
vulnerable citizens. 

e. Within the social housing portfolios of local communities where there are units  
that are 3-4 bedrooms and identified as surplus, they be identified as sites 
supported for accommodations for individuals identified as Alternative Level of 
Care (ALC), pending service commitment (SHORT TERM) 

 
9) Where there are long term care, hospital, or agencies providing concentrated health 

services within close proximity to assisted or retirement living or social housing projects, 
these organizations coordinate health and ancillary services (INTERMEDIATE TERM) 
 

10)  Ensure energy efficiency is prioritized (SHORT TERM) 
 

11)  The funding complexities at start-up could be eased if there was a basic Memorandum 
of Understanding that assigned a matrix of funding available for the creation of Home 
Care units e.g.  "5+ Bachelor apartments with Home Care available will be awarded 
$7,000 each for initial construction costs." Having such a commitment would encourage 
easier facilitation of loans or grants for the builders and still allow the actual amount of 
funding to be controlled with-in predetermined limits (INTERMEDIATE TERM) 

 
GOAL 3: Innovative Health/Social Support Provision (Service Design and Delivery) 
 
Goals for the development of innovative health and social supports in NE Ontario include: 
 

-The development of effective, innovative and inclusive partnerships/networks that are 
responsive and flexible in addressing client needs and apply a No Wrong Door 
approach.  These ‘Resource hubs’ should employ ‘best practice’ identification, capture 
and communication of these practices.  These groupings should be adequately 
resourced and have skilled workers.   
 

77



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 17 

 

-These organizations are oriented to providing early intervention/prevention (i.e. 
assessment tool), provide appropriate transitional support, responsive crisis care and 
use a ‘wrap around’, integrated care team approach/continuum of support 
(prevention/early intervention to life skills to intensive care to crisis support).   
 
-These organizations provide equal access to support services that provide accessible 
and available support systems in all communities.  They make effective use of 
technology, 211 services and mobile options to address geographic, physical and 
psychological isolation.   
 

Objectives: 
 

1) Develop a system of support for social housing tenants/providers to allow streamlined 
access to health and social services to allow them to remain in their homes (LONG TERM) 

 
2) Address collaboration with community partners and provincial ministries to reduce and 

prevent homelessness amongst those transitioning from provincially funded institutions 
and service systems, as appropriate to the local context (ONGOING; IMMEDIATE TERM)   

 
3) A System and Patient ‘navigator’ or a Transitional Support Worker approach should be 

pilot tested between agencies providing services in housing, including First Nations and 
Urban Indigenous organizations with a view to improving quick access to services for 
clients and early resolution of issues clients face (SHORT TERM) 

 
4) Develop coordinated ‘success teams’ which could include housing, financial, health, 

system navigation, employment or other support(s) to provide ‘wrap around’ service to 
clients where warranted (SHORT TERM) 
 

5)  Where managed alcohol programs are implemented across the NE to deal with the 
chronic homeless issue crossing over the housing and health continuum, the shelter 
component be prioritized by the DSSABs and the City of Greater Sudbury, and the 
supports funded by the NE LHIN (INTERMEDIATE TERM)  

 
6)   A Central Client Registry of persons requiring health or social supports and/or housing 

should be established, using ‘best practice’ technology to maximize support and 
minimize wait times (SHORT TERM)  

 
7)   Develop standardized data on clients.  Develop a common intake form that identifies all 

services a client is receiving.  Work in collaboration with First Nations/Urban Indigenous 
organizations to develop appropriate methods of data collection (SHORT TERM) 

 
8)  Enhance use of 211 system technology to provide coordinated and timely health and 

social service information and referral (INTERMEDIATE TERM) 
 
9)   Mandate that front-line service and health care treatment promotes well-being by 

ensuring all service providers are trained in human rights and Indigenous cultural 
competency.  Implement human-rights based frameworks that are incorporated in 

78



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 18 

 

service delivery operations and audited regularly for compliance (INTERMEDIATE 
TERM) 

 
10) Support the training, hiring and promotion of service providers and health care 

professionals who reflect the community they serve (INTERMEDIATE TERM) 
 
 

GOAL 4: Innovative Leadership and Sponsorships 
 
Funding should come with appropriate, flexible, objective oversight and advice and both the 
funder and funded agencies should be accountable for monies spent.  Funders/sponsors should 
be pro-active, responsive and listen to community needs, engaging service providers, cultural 
and Indigenous groups and clients.  Funders/sponsors should promote integration, energy 
efficiency and affordability of housing and/or supports.  There should be ongoing engagement 
with communities and local level partnerships should be encouraged. Finally, cultural 
competency training should be promoted. 
 
Objectives: 
 

1) Intensify the link between housing and health and support services and continue the 
work of the Expert Panel. The Expert Panel should meet annually and report to the NE 
LHIN on action associated with this strategic plan.  A  ‘report card’ should be developed 
to report results back to the community for transparency and accountability(IMMEDIATE 
TERM) 

 
2) Prioritize action for housing and health which supports Alternative Levels of Care 

solutions. (ONGOING; SHORT TERM) 
 

3) Pilot projects should be evaluated for Return on Investment and other objective 
measures and if value is proven, longer term funding should be allocated.  Pilot projects 
should not exceed eighteen months (SHORT TERM) 

 
4) Coordination, consultation and collaboration amongst DSSABs/CGS and the NE LHIN 

should occur with respect to new capital housing considerations for investments and 
LHIN considerations for supports for assisted living and/or other support services within 
affected communities or client groups.  LHIN contracts with existing service providers 
should have built in mechanisms to allow collaboration between organizations and use 
of collective resources is to be encouraged/incentivized (e.g. nursing, cafeteria, 
maintenance, custodial, etc.) (INTERMEDIATE TERM) 

5) Funding should be transferable between line items to achieve outcomes as identified in 
work plans.  Make Service Agreements more flexible, provide more flexibility to expend 
funds (SHORT TERM) 
 

6) Service providers should be allocated funds for longer than one year intervals in order to 
leverage these funds by evidencing stability to enable housing and service development 
in their areas (INTERMEDIATE TERM) 
 

79



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 19 

 

7) Align service boundaries between health and social services to promote efficiencies in 
service delivery for clients (INTERMEDIATE TERM) 

 
8) Where the NE LHIN receives community investment dollars on an annual basis  
 

a. 25% of the community funding envelope be allocated to supports and services 
for vulnerable populations across the NE LHIN and half of those investments be 
for services in the new builds in communities, with long term commitments to 
housing providers. 

b. New investments in supports be cognizant of the holistic needs of individuals 
recognizing health, social, cultural and spiritual differences (INTERMEDIATE 
TERM) 

9) The NE LHIN educate service providers and front line staff on alternative support     
services available to citizens within their communities with the purpose of assisting 
vulnerable citizens transitioning to varying levels of support closest to home (SHORT 
TERM) 

 
10) Identify ways to reduce bureaucracy and develop a simplified regulatory framework 

(INTERMEDIATE TERM) 
 

11) Promote communication between NE LHIN, DSSABs, City of Greater Sudbury, 
hospitals, housing providers and health and social service providers at the local level.  
Develop clear lines of communication between those writing policies and those whose 
work is governed by those policies.  (SHORT TERM) 

 
12) Ensure rural and urban differences are taken into account when planning expenditures 

to ensure equity (LONG TERM) 
 

13) Research and develop options between institutional care and home care. Fund pilot 
projects that provide the most promise. (INTERMEDIATE TERM)  

 
14) Fund a system ‘navigator’ pilot test across the NE LHIN catchment between agencies 

providing service including First Nations and Urban Indigenous organizations to help 
clients with a view to improving quick access to services for clients and early resolution 
of issues clients face (SHORT TERM) 

 
15) Where the ALC continues to pressure access to acute care services across the NE, a 

commitment from the NE LHIN and health service providers needs to be given, in order 
to: 
 
a. Develop urgent priority wait lists for social housing for persons without shelter or with 

inadequate shelter or supports prioritize individuals identified as ALC in hospital to 
return to community via urgent local priority status for social housing, and provide NE 
LHIN assistance for their personal care and support needs in that setting. 

b. Consideration be given to determine what is required to assist individuals in ALC 
who do not quality for social housing to be given incentive to move to non-subsidized 
units in the community (SHORT TERM) 

80



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 20 

 

16) Recognizing variability in eligibility for support care hours:  
 
a. The Provincial Government permit equitable service level maximum for care 
regardless of an individual’s type of residential setting. 
b. The NE LHIN  coordinate a regional policy discussion amongst sector leaders which 
seeks equity and patient centred care regardless of the individual’s residential type by 
December 31, 2016 and implemented before April1, 2017 (SHORT TERM) 

17) The document, "Community Hubs in Ontario: A Strategic Framework & Action Plan"  
suggested that an action item for removing barriers and creating incentives could be, 
"Increase Local Health Integration Networks' capital approval authority for community 
health projects." p. 38. This Provincial recommendation should be pursued as a method 
of promoting and controlling more investment in supportive housing/ community and 
health hubs creation (SHORT TERM) 

 
18) The NE LHIN, CGS and DSSABs lead efforts for the continuation of the community 

paramedicine program which supports individuals in their homes (INTERMEDIATE 
TERM)  

 
19) The NE LHIN establish a coordinated roster of college and university placements and 

promote placements in the health and social services fields through the development of 
partnerships via Memoranda of Understanding with post-secondary institutions to 
address health professional capacity shortages.   

 
20) The NE LHIN provincially escalate the importance of additional housing and health 

investments as a means of keeping individuals in their homes longer which is in keeping 
with the provincial directives for access to care close to home (Poverty Reduction 
Strategy, Patients First, Policy Statement on Housing and Homelessness, etc.) 
(ONGOING; SHORT TERM) 

 
21) This document be sent to DSSABs and the City of Greater Sudbury (IMMEDIATE 

TERM) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

81



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 21 

 

Conclusion 
 
It is the Expert Panel’s hope that supports to housing will improve over the next three years.  
This improvement will only occur if all stakeholders – the NE LHIN, DSSABs, CGS, Mental 
Health and Addictions specialists, First Nations, urban Indigenous organizations, francophone 
health providers, their respective associations and a host of others work together.  .   
 
As outlined in this plan, important next steps will include stakeholder review of the plan. 
Following that a focused effort to prioritize and assign the objectives in order to ensure that the 
plan is actionable and achievable needs to be undertaken.   
 
The physical and mental well-being and sense of independence of citizens will improve and our 
local communities will be stronger as a result of such effort.  This collective effort will make for a 
stronger and healthier Northern Ontario. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

82



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 22 

 

Appendix 1: Housing Expert Panel Member List 
 Name Title Organization 
Panelists 

1  Andrea Lee Director of Rehabilitation and Community Care Program Health Sciences North 

2  Angele Desormeau Executive Director South Cochrane Addiction Services 

3  Brian Marks Director Housing Services Cochrane DSSAB 

4  Dan O'Mara Retired CEO MICs  Retired  

5  Don McBain Executive Director Ontario Aboriginal Housing Services 

6  Gail Spencer Homelessness Coordinator City of Greater Sudbury 

7  Gary Scripnick Board Liaison NE LHIN Board 

8  Janice Bray Manager of Housing and Community Services Parry Sound DSSAB 

9  Janice Newsome Director of Planning, Town of Hearst Secretary, Town of Hearst Non-Profit Housing Corp. 

10  Jeff Barban Service Manager City of Sault Ste. Marie/District of SSM Social 
Services Board 

11  Jeff Perry President Perry + Perry Architects Inc. 

12  Joe Bradbury CAO Nipissing District Social Services Admin. Board 

13  Joe Dipietro President Autumnwood Mature Lifestyle Communities 

14  Sharad Kerur Executive Director The Ontario Non-Profit Housing Association 
(ONPHA) 

15  Kris Longston Acting Manager, Community and Strategic Planning City of Greater Sudbury 

16  Lisa H. Meawasige Mental Health Expert Maamwesying North Shore CHS 

17  Lyle Hall Mayor Mayor of Sundridge  

18  Marion Quigley CEO Canadian Mental Health Association S/M 

19  Marliese Gause CEO The Friends 

20  Maury O'Neill CEO Economic Development Corporation of Wawa 

21  Michael Cullen Executive Director United Way Sudbury & Nipissing Districts 

22  Michel Mayer Executive Director Centre de santé communautaire de Sudbury Est 

23  Padraic Taaffe Support Services Manager Service de santé de Chapleau Health Services 

24  Tanya Nixon Vice President - Mental Health North Bay Regional Health Centre 

Ex-Officio Members & Resources 

25  Bill Bradica Chief Administrative Officer District of Thunder Bay SSAB 

26  Catherine Matheson Senior Director NE LHIN 

27  Chris Stewart Expert Panel Coordinator/ Executive Coordinator Northern Ontario Service Deliverers Association 
(NOSDA) 

28  Cindy Couillard Team Lead - Regional Housing Services North Municipal Service Office,  MMAH  

29  Denis  Desmeules Director of Housing Services City of Greater Sudbury 

30  Ed Starr Principal SHS Consulting 

31  Fern Dominelli CEO Lead NOSDA 

32  Howie Wong CEO Housing Services Corp. 

33  Jeff Kolibash Affordable Housing Consultant Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 

34  Kate Fyfe Senior Director NE LHIN 

35  Mike O’Shea MHA Officer NE LHIN 

36  Siobhan Farrell Senior Planning and Integration Consultant (MH and 
Addiction Lead) 

NW LHIN 

 

83



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 23 

 

Appendix 2 

 
 

84



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 24 

 

Acknowledgements 
The Vulnerable Tenants Research Study was undertaken on behalf of NE LHIN in partnership Canadian 
Mental Health Association Sudbury/Manitoulin, NOSDA, and Housing Services Corporation (HSC).  We 
would like to thank Marion Quigley, Chief Executive Director at CMHA Sudbury/Manitoulin, Karen 
Henze, Manager of Community Development and Housing at CMHA Sudbury/Manitoulin, Mike O’Shea, 
Senior Officer – Mental Health at the NE LHIN, Catherine Matheson, Senior Director, Health System 
Transformation & Implementation at the NE LHIN, Chris Stewart, C.J. Stewart Consulting, as well the 
members of the Northern Ontario Service Deliverers Association (NOSDA) - Expert Housing Panel for 
their input and direction during the preparation of this report and throughout all research activities.     
 
We would like to also thank local District Social Services Administration Boards (DSSAB)/ Consolidated 
Municipal Service Managers (CMSM) for providing data on the supply and demand of social housing 
across the study area and for their assistance in identifying and engaging local stakeholders. 
 
We would also like to thank local housing providers and support service agency staff for completing our 
study survey and attending focus groups.  In particular, we would like to acknowledge and thank the 
twenty social housing tenants who completed a tenant questionnaire and shared their experiences with 
us. 
 
Together, the experiences from this range of stakeholders coupled with other research activities has 
contributed towards a better understanding of the support needs of tenants currently living within 
social housing across the NE LHIN and provides a foundation for moving forward in developing a 
coordinated service delivery model.   
 

Thank-you. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

85



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 25 

 

1.0 Table of Contents 
 

1.0 Table of Contents ........................................................................................................ 25 

2.0 Background ................................................................................................................. 26 

2.1 Innovative Housing and Health Strategic Models for North Eastern Ontario ............................... 27 

3.0 Study Purpose and Approach ...................................................................................... 28 

3.1 Study Approach ............................................................................................................................. 28 

4.0 Context for Vulnerability within the NE LHIN .............................................................. 29 

4.1 Demographics ................................................................................................................................ 29 

4.2 Vulnerability .................................................................................................................................. 31 

4.3 Summary ....................................................................................................................................... 35 

5.0 Findings from the Literature ........................................................................................ 35 

5.1 Defining Vulnerability in Social Housing ........................................................................................ 35 

5.2 Support Needs in Social Housing ................................................................................................... 35 

6.0 What We Heard .......................................................................................................... 38 

7.0 Social Housing Needs Analysis .................................................................................... 40 

7.1 Introduction ................................................................................................................................... 40 

7.2 Inventory of Social Housing ........................................................................................................... 41 

7.2.1 Supply of Social Housing across NE LHIN ............................................................................... 41 

7.2.2 Supply of Social Housing By Community ................................................................................ 43 

7.2.3 Modified/ Accessible Units in the NE LHIN ............................................................................ 48 

7.2.4 Rent Supplement Supportive Housing Units in the NE LHIN ................................................. 51 

7.2.5 Waiting for Social Housing in the NE LHIN ............................................................................. 52 

7.2.6 Waiting Lists By Community .................................................................................................. 53 

7.3 Support Service Inventory ............................................................................................................. 57 

7.3.1 Support Service Network in the NE LHIN ............................................................................... 58 

7.4 Estimating Number of Vulnerable People in Social Housing ......................................................... 59 

7.4.1 Vulnerable Tenants ................................................................................................................ 59 

7.4.2 Tenants with a Serious and Persistent Mental Illness ........................................................... 60 

7.4.3 Seniors Requiring Supports .................................................................................................... 60 

7.4.4 Tenants with a Disability ........................................................................................................ 61 

7.4.5 Summary of Vulnerable Persons Living in Social Housing across NE LHIN ............................ 62 

7.5 Summary of Social Housing Needs Analysis .................................................................................. 63 

8.0 Summary of Gaps and Opportunities .......................................................................... 64 

8.1 Supports ........................................................................................................................................ 64 

8.2 Housing .......................................................................................................................................... 65 

8.3 Partnerships................................................................................................................................... 65 

9.0 The Way Forward ........................................................................................................ 67 

10.0 Bibliography ................................................................................................................ 70 

11.0 Appendix A: Support Services by Area ........................................................................ 71 

  

86



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 26 

 

2.0 Background 
Ontario’s social housing stock plays a particularly significant role in helping vulnerable individuals, such 
as those with mental health and addictions challenges and the frail elderly, reduce the risk of poverty by 
providing a stable, secure and affordable place to live.  Across the province, aided by the Housing First 
policy that is the foundation for most of the Ten Year Housing and Homelessness Plans developed by 
Ontario’s 47 Service Managers and approved by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, a 
growing number of these individuals are being housed within social housing being operated by Local 
Housing Corporations (which have Service Managers as their sole shareholder) and other social housing 
providers, providing a crucial element towards the goal of poverty reduction among these segments of 
the population. 
 
At the same time, however, discussions with Service Managers and other housing providers have found 
great concern across the province about the lack of supports for the growing number of vulnerable 
individuals being housed within social housing portfolios.  While the Housing First policy is strongly 
supported and there is widespread agreement that social housing provides a critical foundation for 
helping reduce poverty among these individuals, these providers are finding a widespread lack of 
supports for addressing their needs.  Staff responsible for operating social housing, such as property 
managers and building superintendents, or volunteer boards themselves, are often left to try and cope 
with meeting these needs; most are lacking in the required skills and resources and are not trained to 
fulfill this role.  This issue is being experienced not only among the mainstream population; Aboriginal 
housing providers and agencies such as Ontario Aboriginal Housing Services are also finding similar 
concerns within their social housing portfolios as well. 
 
At the same time, the support system for these individuals consists of a “mishmash” of services, 
programs and agencies.  There is no dedicated funding for such services and no coordinated approach to 
providing a consistent and effective level of support for these individuals.   

 
To better understand the above concerns and to identify solutions, in June 2015, CMHA Sudbury-
Manitoulin submitted a proposal under the Ontario Local Poverty Reduction Fund.  Funding from this 
proposal was to be used to develop an innovative and coordinated service delivery model, or system, to 
assist vulnerable individuals living in social housing to maintain their housing, thereby reducing the risk 
of homelessness and improving housing security.  While the submission was not successful in getting 
funded, more recently, CMHA Sudbury-Manitoulin has been given the opportunity to work in 
collaboration with the NE LHIN to conduct research that would help lay the foundation for the proposed 
system; in particular conducting a needs analysis and capacity assessment of vulnerable tenants living 
within social housing across the NE LHIN.  This research would then form the foundation of a more well-
informed submission to the Poverty Reduction Fund for the funding to move ahead with development of 
an effective support system across the NE LHIN service area. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

87



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 27 

 

2.1 Innovative Housing and Health Strategic Models for 
North Eastern Ontario  

Further to the above context, the NE LHIN has created an expert housing panel under the guidance of 
the Northern Ontario Service Deliverers Association (NOSDA) to create a strategy entitled: Innovative 
Housing and Health Strategic Models for North Eastern Ontario. This initiative stems from the NE LHIN 
2016-2019 Strategic Plan and the commitment to building a better future for housing and health across 
communities, 
 
The Northern Ontario Service Deliverers Association (NOSDA) is an incorporated body of Service 
Managers in Northern Ontario who are responsible for local planning, coordination and delivery of a 
range of local health and social services.  The Panel includes representation from housing, health, 
private, public, and not-for-profit organizations at the senor administration level.   
 
The strategic plan was initiated in in February 2016 with a housing forum held in June 2016.  The 
strategic plan will be completed and presented to the NE LHIN Board in September 2016.  The research 
and findings conducted as part of this study – Vulnerable Tenants Research Study – will inform direction 
of the strategic plan.   
 

 

  

88



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 28 

 

3.0 Study Purpose and Approach 
The purpose of this study is to create an improved understanding of the support service needs of 
vulnerable persons living in social housing, and to evaluate these needs within the current capacity of 
housing providers and support agencies.  Ultimately, it is the goal of this research study to identify 
opportunities for a regional approach to meeting the support service needs of vulnerable persons living 
within social housing across the NE LHIN. 
 
To realize this, the study aims to achieve the following objectives: 
 

1. To identify the current support needs of vulnerable persons living in social housing within the NE 
LHIN service area 

2. To identify the current capacity for meeting the identified needs 
3. To conduct a gap analysis 
4. To recommend a methodology for the development of a service delivery system, aimed at 

maintaining housing for vulnerable tenants, that would form the basis of a revised funding 
submission to the Poverty Reduction Fund 

 
 

3.1 Study Approach 
In order to achieve the above objectives, a number of activities were undertaken as part of this 
research study.  These include: 

 
The following sections will present a summary of the above initiatives and outline the key 
findings in understanding the support needs of vulnerable people currently living within social 
housing across the NE LHIN.  Following this summary, a series of recommendations are put 
forth for consideration in moving forward in creating a regional service delivery system.  
 
 
 

Scan of the 
Literature

•Defining 
vulnerability

•Vulnerability across 
the NE LHIN

•Support needs in 
social housing

Gap Analysis

•Inventory of social 
housing

•Estimates of 
vulnerable 
population

•Inventory of 
support services

Stakeholder 
Engagement

•Study team

•Focus groups

•Surveys

•Think Tank

•Interviews

Research 
Report

•Recommendations 
on potential service 
delivery system

•Poverty Reduction 
Funding Submission

89



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 29 

 

4.0 Context for Vulnerability within the NE LHIN 
This section introduces the North East LHIN (NE LHIN) in terms of its geography and population 
distribution and sets out the context for vulnerability within the NE LHIN service area. 
 
 

4.1 Demographics 
The NE LHIN is divided into five Hub Regions:  Sudbury, Manitoulin & Parry Sound, Algoma, Nipissing-
Temiskaming and the James and Hudson Bay Coasts. These are shown below, in a map prepared by the 
NE LHIN. 
 
As pictured in grey in the map below, the NE LHIN is bordered immediately to the south by the North 
Simcoe-Muskoka LHIN, and to the west by the Northwest LHIN.  
 
In terms of population distribution, the LHIN’s 2013-2016 Integrated Health Services Plan provides the 
following breakdown by hub region using data from the 2011 National Household Survey: 
 
Table 1:  Population of NE LHIN Hub Planning Areas, Statistics Canada (2011) 

Hub Planning Area Total Population % of NE LHIN 
Algoma 115,870 20.95 
Cochrane 76,856 13.90 
James Bay & Hudson Bay Coasts 6,213 1.12 
Nipissing & Temiskaming 117,370 21.22 
Sudbury, Manitoulin & Parry Sound 236,782 42.81 
NE LHIN Region 553,091 100 

 
Important to note is that approximately 9.5% of the LHIN’s population identifies as Aboriginal / First 
Nations / Metis and over 100,000 residents are seniors aged 65+ years. North Eastern Ontario is aging 
much quicker than the Province of Ontario, overall. 
 
 
  

90



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 30 

 

Figure 1: Map of the North East LHIN by Hub Region 

 

 
 
The Sudbury-Manitoulin & Parry Sound District is the largest hub region; about twice the size of 
Nipissing & Temiskaming, which is second largest, followed closely by Algoma. It should be noted that, 
due to challenges counting on-reserve First Nations populations, the population of the Coasts may be 
under-estimated here; by our estimates the First Nation population in the Coasts hub region is closer to 
10,000. Of the southern hub regions in the NE LHIN, Cochrane is by far the smallest, with Timmins, the 
hub’s Census Metropolitan Area, and comprising over 43,000 people. The table below compares the 
population of the four largest hub regions to the population of the largest urban centres within each, to 
illustrate the size of the population that is more remote. 
 
 
 
 

91



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 31 

 

Table 2: Population of NE LHIN Hub Planning Areas Compared to Largest Urban Centres, Statistics 
Canada (2011) 
 

Hub Planning 
Area 

Total 
Population 

Largest Urban Centre Population Residing Outside 

Name Population Number Percent 

Algoma 115,870 Sault Ste. 
Marie 

75,141 40,729 35% 

Cochrane 76,856 Timmins 43,165 33,691 44% 

Nipissing & 
Temiskaming 

117,370 North Bay 64,043 53,327 45% 

Sudbury, 
Manitoulin & 
Parry Sound 

236,782 Greater 
Sudbury 

160,275 76,507 32% 

 
It is noted that the boundaries of the NE LHIN’s hub regions do not correspond to boundaries used by 
Statistics Canada in collecting and analyzing Census data, nor do they correspond to provincial 
boundaries used to delineate catchment areas for District Social Services Administration Boards and 
Consolidated Municipal Service Managers, or Public Health Units. As such, roles and responsibilities for 
regional health, housing and social services administration are assigned to different geographic areas. 
 
 

4.2 Vulnerability 
There is a long-established link between the experience of poverty and vulnerability to poor health 
outcomes, given that individuals and families living in poverty are likely to be exposed to multiple risk 
factors, as noted above. This may be referred to as “multi-vulnerability.” 
 
The concept of “multi-vulnerability” is important to understand in order to identify who is most 
vulnerable; whether in the NE LHIN, or any context.  
 
The University of California San Francisco’s Center for Vulnerable Populations at San Francisco General 
Hospital refers to vulnerable populations as those “for whom social conditions often conspire to both 
promote various chronic diseases and make their management more challenging.”4 This approach 
highlights the direct link between multi-vulnerability and multi-morbidity (i.e. multiple chronic 
conditions). More than one-in-five of residents of the NE LHIN have been diagnosed with multiple 
chronic conditions, compared to 15% in the Province, overall. 
 
Similarly, BMC Health Services Research completed a scoping review in 2013 that looked at the 
interrelationship between multiple vulnerability factors and health care disparities. They found that 
“high levels of vulnerability (due to the co-existence of multiple vulnerability aspects) would increase 
health care needs and would be associated to lower health care accessibility and quality.” The study’s 
authors point out that these studies are consistent with the findings of other similar studies completed 
in the Canadian context.  
 
Both sources point to the intersection not only between multi-vulnerability and negative health 

                                                            
4 https://cvp.ucsf.edu/about/  

92

https://cvp.ucsf.edu/about/


 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 32 

 

outcomes, but also to experiencing greater difficulty in managing those outcomes. This helps to explain 
the depth of vulnerability in rural, remote and northern communities where local populations not only 
tend to experience a lack of access to education and income-earning opportunities, but also lack of 
access to health and social care.  
 
As noted in the following chapter of the report, the literature points to particular population sub-groups 
as being among the most vulnerable. In the context of the North East LHIN, the following groups are 
likely to be among the most significant vulnerable groups, by population count: 
 

 Aboriginal, First Nations and Metis 

 Lone Parent Families 

 Seniors with Support Needs 

 Individuals with a Disability 

 Individuals with Serious and Persistent Mental Illness 

 Middle Aged Caucasian Men at Risk of Suicide 

 Immigrants and Racialized Groups 
 
The table below estimates the overall population of these vulnerable groups within the NE LHIN, and 
ranks the four hub regions in terms of where the populations are most and least concentrated.  Please 
note that since data is not available through Statistics Canada by the LHIN’s hub regions, we have sought 
data at the District level. For data collection purposes, the Districts included: Sudbury, Greater Sudbury, 
Parry Sound (Sudbury, Manitoulin & Parry Sound); Nipissing (Nipissing-Temiskaming); Algoma; 
Cochrane; and, Kenora – Unorganized (includes the Coasts).  
 
This data provides a picture of the relative size of vulnerable population groups in each of the LHIN’s hub 
regions, despite small differences due to the difference in geographic boundaries. 
 
Table 3: Estimated Size of Vulnerable Groups in the NE LHIN 

Population Group Estimated Size 
Community Ranking 

Number 

Aboriginal / First Nations / Metis  
(includes on and off reserve) 

63,277  Sudbury, Manitoulin & 
Parry Sound 

 Algoma 

 Coasts 

 Cochrane 

 Nipissing & 
Temiskaming 

Lone Parent Families 
(Including both Female and Male-Led Lone Parent 
Families) 

21,220  Sudbury, Manitoulin & 
Parry Sound 

 Algoma 

 Nipissing & 
Temiskaming 

 Cochrane 

 Coasts 

93



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 33 

 

Population Group Estimated Size Community Ranking 

Seniors with Support Needs 
(15%-18% of seniors; use 16.5% of ~100,000)5 

16,500  Sudbury, Manitoulin & 
Parry Sound 

 Nipissing & 
Temiskaming 

 Algoma 

 Cochrane 

 Coasts 

Individuals with a Life-Limiting Disability 
(15.4% of all Ontarians)6 

86,702  Sudbury, Manitoulin & 
Parry Sound 

 Nipissing & 
Temiskaming 

 Algoma 

 Cochrane 

 Coasts 

Individuals with Serious and Persistent Mental 
Illness  
(3% of all Canadians)7 

16,890  Sudbury, Manitoulin & 
Parry Sound 

 Nipissing & 
Temiskaming 

 Algoma 

 Cochrane 

 Coasts 

Middle-Aged Caucasian Men at Risk of Suicide 
(26.3 per 100,000 men in their 50’s)8 

10  Sudbury, Manitoulin & 
Parry Sound 

 Algoma 

 Cochrane 

 Nipissing & 
Temiskaming 

 Coasts 

Immigrants and Racialized Groups 1,655  Sudbury, Manitoulin & 
Parry Sound 

 Algoma 

 Nipissing & 
Temiskaming 

 Cochrane 

 Coasts 

 
The table above demonstrates that, by the numbers, the greatest numbers of vulnerable people reside in 
the Sudbury, Manitoulin & Parry Sound hub region. Given that this hub region is, by far, the largest of the 
five, this is to be expected. However, there is some variation; particularly in terms of the numbers of 
Aboriginal / First Nations / Metis people and lone parent families, which are found in greater numbers in 

                                                            
5 O’Keefe 
6 Canadian Disability Survey (2012) 
7 ONPHA (2015) 
8 http://www.cbc.ca/news/health/suicide-men-50s-causes-1.3263412  

94

http://www.cbc.ca/news/health/suicide-men-50s-causes-1.3263412


 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 34 

 

Algoma than in Nipissing-Temiskaming, although the latter has a larger total population. It is also 
important to note the size of the Aboriginal / First Nations / Metis population in the Coasts, which is 
relatively large in terms of both number and proportion given the size of the hub region’s total population.  
It is also worth noting that while the number of men at risk of suicide may appear low, the estimate only 
considers the risk of suicide among men in their 50’s, while research suggests that men in their 40’s and 
also senior men in their 80’s are also at a heightened risk. Moreover, the proxy measure employed is 
based on national statistics, which do not consider risk factors that may be more pronounced locally, 
such as the relatively low educational attainment, higher rate of unemployment and low income and 
more common use of substances in rural areas, which comprise over half of the NE LHIN region. That is 
to say that the number of Caucasian men at risk of suicide in the NE LHIN may be higher than 10, given 
the influence of local risk factors. 
 
Finally, while the number of immigrants and racialized groups may appear small, there is a trend of 
diversification in the NE LHIN that decision-makers should consider. Research on rural health outcomes 
in Canada has found a link between areas where immigrants comprise over 5% of the local population to 
poorer overall health outcomes. Recently, the NE LHIN, and other regions in Canada, welcomed a 
number of Syrian refugees, including a single mother with nine children.9 
 
Some of these same estimates have been prepared to determine the size of the vulnerable population 
residing in social housing in the NE LHIN. These findings are presented in Section 6.4.5 of this report. 
 
Background Report Two: Assessing Vulnerability in the NE LHIN further examines other elements of 
multi-vulnerability including the co-occurrence of housing issues with other risk factors, relative 
deprivation, and access to health and social care.    
 
Some key findings include:  
 

 Individuals experiencing housing issues, such as homelessness, also have multiple co-occurring 
issues, such as mental health issues, alcohol use, physical health needs, challenges meeting their 
basic needs, drug use, anti-social / negative behaviour, and risk of suicide or criminal 
involvement, which place their overall health and wellbeing at risk.  

 Results from the provincial Deprivation Index highlight that areas within the NE LHIN are among 
the most deprived in the province. 

 Challenges to meeting the health and social care needs of residents in the NE LHIN are 
compounded by the fact that the out-migration of young people appears to have destabilized 
the base of traditional informal caregivers in rural and remote communities.  

 Consultation results point to caregiver burnout as a key driver of admissions to hospital, and a 
lack of appropriate community care options for persons with complex needs create challenges in 
discharging from hospital. 

 Data on the number of missed shifts by CCAC practice area shows that of all missed shifts 
reported in the large communities of the NE LHIN, 94% were by personal support workers. 

 In many cases over one-third of all hospital days are dedicated to ALC in both 2014 and 2015.  
 
 
 

                                                            
9 https://www.baytoday.ca/local-news/new-refugee-family-coming-to-north-bay-268654  

95

https://www.baytoday.ca/local-news/new-refugee-family-coming-to-north-bay-268654


 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 35 

 

4.3 Summary 
Overall, there are many vulnerable populations in the NE LHIN who are at risk of suffering poor health 
outcomes and, at the same time, likely to experience difficulty managing those outcomes.  
 
Findings from research activities suggest that there is a need to enhance home and community care across 
the NE LHIN, including increasing access to in-home services and expanding the supply of specialized 
supportive housing that provides long-term term, flexible and, when necessary, more intensive supports to 
particular population groups who may not be appropriate to long-term care homes. Currently, it appears 
that there are significant populations of vulnerable groups suffering from multi-vulnerability whose unmet 
needs many not only create a risk for poor health outcomes and potentially avoidable health crises, but 
also lead to loss of housing, frequent use of emergency services, caregiver burnout and premature 
admission to long-term care homes, which may or may not be a good fit. 
 

5.0 Findings from the Literature 
The literature scan is aimed at providing a greater understanding of the needs, issues and gaps of 
vulnerable tenants living in social housing with a particular focus on mental health and senior support 
services needed to help maintain successful tenancies. 
  
The review is based on online resources from educational institutions, health care agencies, government 
bodies, support services agencies and community organizations.   
 
The following section presents a summary of the findings from the literature scan.  A full report is 
available as a separate document: Background Report One: Literature Scan.   
 

5.1 Defining Vulnerability in Social Housing  
Based on a brief scan of available literature, vulnerability is a dynamic term that tends to be used in 

reference to particular population groups who, due to their exposure to one or more risk factors, are 

predisposed to adverse social, economic and/or health outcomes; sometimes in the context of a 

particular set of circumstances. For the purposes of this research study the following definition from the 

Ontario Non-Profit Housing Association (2015) is most applicable: 

 

 “Anyone who needs additional support – for any reason – to maintain a successful tenancy. 
Tenants may be, or may become, vulnerable because of a mental or physical illness or disability, 
an addiction, trauma, dislocation, isolation, experience of violence or a history of homelessness or 
institutionalization. A tenant’s need for support may be episodic or increase or decrease over time, 
and may be exacerbated by the absence of support or a reluctance to accept support when 
offered.”  

5.2 Support Needs in Social Housing 
The following section provides an overview of key findings from the literature review.  Findings are 

organized by research topic and are aimed at identifying particular needs of various population groups.   

 

96



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 36 

 

Social Housing and Mental Health 

For individuals living in social housing and suffering from mental health illness, there is a gap in the 

availability, consistency and coordination of health services. There is a need for a clear understanding of 

roles in the provision of housing and the related support services. It is important that housing staff are 

adequately trained with the sensitivity, support and skills needed to deal with tenants suffering from a 

mental illness. There is a need to redefine the basket of services to address the range of determinants of 

health. A holistic basket of service will include services in 3 key areas: housing, clinical and peer 

supports. Sub-populations with mental health challenges living in social housing that are underserved 

include individuals with concurrent disorders, people with dual diagnoses, young adults under the age of 

24, and immigrants.  

 

There are areas of opportunity to address these gaps and needs. The introduction of on-site supports in 

housing may be beneficial in buildings with a high number of vulnerable tenants. Front line staff and 

tenants could be trained to spot emerging problems. Certain tenants require individualized and intensive 

supports. A peer-based support system in partnership with mental health agencies could be introduced. 

There is an idea to delink support services from housing to permit the flow of people through the housing 

system and meet the changing level of support need. Three levels of prevention were identified, (1) 

community building (2) identify & address problems immediately (3) provide on-going support for tenant 

needs. An area of opportunity from a different angle is to address not only the needs of individuals 

suffering from the effects of mental illness, but neighbours and staff who suffer the effects as well. 

 

Seniors in Social Housing  

From the literature scan it was revealed that seniors living in social housing face several barriers. There 

are built form challenges because the aging social housing building stock cannot easily accommodate 

modifications for accessibility. The community environment is a barrier because seniors feel unsafe in 

mixed-age buildings, the sites are not pedestrian friendly, and the lack of amenities nearby leads to 

social isolation. Seniors have increased support needs and are underserved. Forty-one percent (41%) of 

seniors with disabilities reported either not receiving the help they needed or need more. They are likely 

to live alone without the support of informal caregivers and no one to help them with medication, 

meals, exercise, or to recognize mental health challenges. Factors such as physical barriers, low-income, 

living alone, chronic health needs, and feeling unsafe in the building can lead to social isolation; and the 

lack of a supportive social network can lead to dementia and cognitive-health decline.  

 

Aboriginal / First Nation / Metis Populations in Social Housing 

Aboriginal, First Nation and Metis populations face higher rates of chronic diseases, co-morbidity, lower 

life expectancy, higher infant mortality, greater incidences of suicide, and higher rates of infectious 

diseases. This population group is nearly twice as likely to be living on low income, resulting in higher 

rates of diabetes, arthritis and chronic health conditions. The high rate of chronic diseases has led to 

faster aging; therefore, care needs to be extended to this younger group of older adults.  

 

Aboriginal women are nearly three times more likely than non-Aboriginal women to report being victims 

of a violent crime. Women fleeing abuse and trauma can serve as indicators of vulnerability in social 

97



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 37 

 

housing. Aboriginal, First Nation and Metis populations have unique cultural needs that need to be 

targeted through linguistically and culturally appropriate health care services, and partnering with 

Aboriginal health service providers. 

 

Northern, Rural and Remote Communities 

Northern, rural and remote communities experience increased physical, mental health and addictions 

issues and have a higher rate of individuals with complex care needs compared to the rest of Ontario. 

There are fewer health professionals per capita in Northern communities and the population is 

underserved by family physicians. As a result, diagnoses of mental health issues may go untreated. 

 

Remote housing providers highlighted the need for (1) adequate staff training and (2) identification of 

lead agencies to address housing and support needs. They also identified the following barriers that 

prevent people from accessing support needs which contributes to housing instability: 

 

 Existing service models do not meet aging needs 

 Existing service models do not meet youth-specific needs 

 Lack of transition aged youth services 

 Criminal justice support needs 

 Culture and gender specific needs 

 Non-existent inter agency partnerships 

 Insufficient staff training /skill level 

 Fragmentation of service delivery systems  

 

Areas of opportunity for Northern, rural and remote communities include making effective use of 

technology and implementing a Tele-Mental Health initiative.  

 

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgendered (LGBT) Communities 

There are steps that can be taken to provide the LGBT community with an inclusive living environment 

in social housing. It is key to adopt a comprehensive approach to promote and implement inclusivity. A 

comprehensive approach will include elements such as: providing LGBT sensitivity training for staff; 

having a paid staff member mandated to address the needs of LGBT tenants; including visual 

affirmations of LGBT presence; outreaching to the LGBT community to enrich programming; ensuring 

language used in all communications is inclusive; having inclusive hiring policies; and engaging in 

networking and information sharing.  

 

A point of contention in addressing this unique community’s needs is that LGBT initiatives are usually 

geared towards lesbian women and/or gay men. Bisexual and transgendered residents are often 

overlooked. It is important to ensure that the concerns and aspirations of LGBT residents are heard and 

responded to.  

  

98



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 38 

 

6.0 What We Heard 
Understanding the opportunities and priorities to better meet the needs of vulnerable tenants requires 
the perspective of stakeholders who connect with residents and families on a regular, sometimes daily, 
basis.  As part of this study, a number of community engagement initiatives were undertaken.   In-
person focus groups with both housing providers and support service agencies were held in Sault Ste. 
Marie, Sudbury, North Bay, and Parry Sound10.  In addition, two online (web-based) focus groups were 
held with stakeholders in the Cochrane District.  Overall 10 focus groups were held and two 
supplemental interviews.  Forty housing providers and 59 support service agencies participated in focus 
groups. 
 
Given the vast geography of the research study area, questionnaires were also used in an effort to 
gather input from a broader range of housing providers and support agencies across the NE LHIN.  In 
total 281 surveys were distributed across the area.  Forty-seven housing providers and 51 support 
service agencies completed a survey.   
 
To supplement these surveys, a third questionnaire aimed at social housing tenants was created and 
distributed through the local DSSAB/Service Managers.  In total 20 tenant surveys were completed and 
submitted.  While this is not nearly representative of the approximate 20,000 individuals living in social 
housing across the NE LHIN, the aim of the questionnaire was to hear from people living in social 
housing on where they felt the opportunities existed to better support tenants.   
 
A summary of findings from all of the above-mentioned activities is described in detail within 
Background Report Three: “What We Heard” Consultation Summary Report.  This report provides a 
summary of results by consultation activity, by stakeholder group, and by area.   
 
A number of key issues, challenges and opportunities were identified by stakeholders throughout the 

consultation activities.  These are summarized below.   

Rental Arrears and Hoarding Identified as Top Reason for Evictions 
Rental arrears was identified by all stakeholder groups as the main reason for eviction or risk of eviction.  

Mental health and addiction challenges were also emphasized by both housing providers and support 

service agencies.  Hoarding was a particular challenge identified putting tenants at risk of eviction.   

Housing Providers Often Find Themselves in Role of Support Provider or Advocate 
There are growing concerns about the number of individuals housed in social housing who need support services.  
Housing providers/landlords and volunteer staff often find they are in the position of first responder to tenants in 
need of assistance or in crisis, and typically do not have the resources or skills to meet these needs. 
 

Some Tenants Do Not Want Assistance, Even if Needed 
A particular challenge within social housing communities, is that a need for support might be identified 
but some tenants do not want support.  This puts landlords in a particularly difficult situation and 
several stakeholders, housing providers and support service agencies, expressed that there is little they 
can do to help.   

                                                            
10 Of note, the Parry Sound session was a combined group of both housing providers and support service agencies. 

99



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 39 

 

 

More ‘Life Skills’ Support Needed 
All stakeholder groups identified the need for more support with life skills (i.e. budgeting, cooking, 
housekeeping).  Many times tenants are living on their own for the first time and have not developed 
the skills needed to live independently.   
 

More Housing Options Identified as a Priority 
In general, stakeholders expressed the need for more affordable housing options across the NE LHIN.  
Several stakeholders noted that while ‘new’ social housing units would be helpful so would having 
portable rent subsidies.  Accessible housing was also identified as a need.   
 
Other housing forms, such as supportive housing models including models with 24 hour support, were 
identified as a need in many communities. 
 

Need for Early Intervention 
Several stakeholders expressed that early intervention with tenants can be critical.  It was suggested 
that some form of centralized assessment tool or mechanism could be really helpful. The tool or 
mechanism would evaluate life skills, mental health, physical health and social support needs.  Some 
suggested that an access point could be at the time of the housing application. 
 

Partnerships Exist But Greater Collaboration and Coordination Needed 
While several partnerships are in place and many are working successfully to better meet the needs of 
residents, stakeholders expressed the need for more coordinated work, more sharing of ideas, and more 
awareness of the partners and stakeholders in the ‘system’. 
 
Stakeholders also identified that partnerships and coordination of services should be broad and include 
a full range of support agencies/staff including primary care, hospitals, para-medicine, community 
agencies, housing providers, and informal support networks. 
 

Not Enough Support for Persons in Crisis 
Although early intervention is identified by stakeholders as a strategy to reducing the number of people in 
crisis, there is still a strong need for more support persons for individuals in crisis.  Stakeholders also 
emphasized that recruiting, training and maintaining staff with specialized training is essential. 
 

More Support for Persons with Mental Health and Addiction Challenges 
Persons with mental health and addiction issues were identified as a key population in need of more 
support.  Stakeholders acknowledge that there are good supports available such as ACT but often this is 
not enough and is not available in all communities.   
 
Persons with dementia was also identified as a specific population where it can be difficult to get the 
supports needed within social housing.   

 

Inequality of Access to Support Services across NE LHIN 
The geography of the NE LHIN is vast and includes large urban centres, small urban centres, rural and remote 
communities.  This presents a particular challenge in the delivery of support services.  Several stakeholders in 
remote areas expressed that support services, such as in-home care, are simply unavailable, delivery is inconsistent, 

100



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 40 

 

or they have to ‘fight’ to get them.  Other stakeholders expressed feeling ‘underserved’ in their community.   

Greater “Access” and “Presence” of Support Staff Fundamental 
Several stakeholders emphasized that having better access to support services can have a very positive 
impact on maintaining successfully tenancies by getting people connected to the right supports at the 
right time.  Greater presence of support agencies on site was also seen as positive in getting people 
more involved in their community and supporting one another. 
 

More Coordination with Hospitals Identified as Priority 
Tenants being discharged by hospitals back to social housing was a critical issue identified by many 
stakeholders, both housing providers and support service agencies.  Often support services needed, 
upon release from hospital, to support tenants’ transition back to home are not in place.  Stakeholders 
also emphasized the need for better communication between housing providers, support agencies, and 
hospital staff. 
 

Lack of Family Support and Need for “One Person for Everyone” 
Lack of family support, or the support of an informal (i.e. unpaid) caregiver was seen as one of the 
greatest risks for people living alone in social housing (or housing in general).  If there is no formal 
support in place, and no advocate for the tenant, often needs can go unnoticed and a person’s health 
and well-being deteriorate.  Isolation was identified as a particular challenge for many tenants.   
 
This need for informal support was emphasized in the tenant survey results, where most respondents 
(16) identified family as part of their support network.  Many also noted friends and neighbours.    
 
One of the largest priorities identified by participants is the need for tenant navigators, advocators or 
‘success teams’. Having “someone for everyone” was a key message to preventing evictions, and 
improving the overall health and well-being of tenants.  The tenant navigator/success team would assist 
tenants in identifying and accessing support services, assisting with life skill development as appropriate 
and simply being a ‘go to person’ for a tenant.  Participants further described ‘success teams’ as helping 
connect landlords with support services and conducting assessments to best determine supports 
needed by tenants.   
 
 

7.0 Social Housing Needs Analysis 
 

7.1 Introduction 
Social housing plays an important role maintaining healthy communities. It provides affordable rental 
housing for low to moderate income families who are otherwise unable to afford housing in the private 
rental market. Rents are typically set at 30% of gross household income (rent-geared-to-income (RGI) 
housing) or market rent – whichever is lower.  
 
The following sections provide a summary of the inventory of social housing across the NE LHIN as well 
as the inventory of support service agencies across the NE LHIN.  Following these inventories, an analysis 
of the number of vulnerable people living in social housing across the NE LHIN is presented.   
 

101



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 41 

 

7.2 Inventory of Social Housing 
This section of the report focuses on the supply and demand of social housing in the North East Local 
Health Integration Network (NE LHIN) area. Data was collected from current reports, local housing and 
homelessness plans and local District Social Services Administration Boards and Service Managers.  The 
inventory focuses on the number of social housing units by size and mandate.  
 
Data was collected for the following 8 service managers within the NE LHIN study area: 
 

1) Algoma District Services Administration Board 

2) Cochrane District Social Services Administration Board 

3) Manitoulin-Sudbury District Services Board 

4) District of Nipissing Social Services Administration Board 

5) Parry Sound District Social Services Administration Board 

6) District of Sault Ste. Marie Social Services Administration Board 

7) City of Greater Sudbury Consolidated Municipal Service Manager  

8) District of Temiskaming Social Services Administration Board 

 

 

7.2.1 Supply of Social Housing across NE LHIN 

The total number of social housing units for each service area is based on information provided in 
housing and homelessness plans. Where housing plans were not available, counts were taken from 
social housing registration forms and websites.  

 
The total supply of social housing in the NE LHIN is 14,154units11.  Over one-third of the supply is 
located in the City of Greater Sudbury (34.3%). Sault Ste. Marie (17.2%), Cochrane (16.3%), and Nipissing 
(16.1%) each have about half of the proportion found in the City of Greater Sudbury. Temiskaming 
(6.0%), Algoma (4.0%), Manitoulin-Sudbury (3.2%), and Parry Sound (2.8%) each have less than 10% of 
the total social housing stock and the fewest amount of units. 
 
The findings are generally consistent with population distribution across the NE LHIN.  Sudbury-
Manitoulin (6.7%) and Algoma (7.9%) have a slightly higher proportion of social housing units when 
considering the proportion of total population for the NE LHIN while Parry Sound (1.1%) and Sault Ste. 
Marie (14.6%) have a slightly lower (1.1%) proportion. 

 

                                                            
11 Based on total counts provided in area housing and homelessness plans, housing reports/documents, or 
provided directly by area DSSABs/Service Managers where available. 

102



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 42 

 

Figure 2: Total Number of Social Housing Units by Service Area; NE LHIN, 2016 

 
Sources: ADSAB Housing and Homelessness Plan, 2013; Cochrane DSSAB Community Profile Data Report, 2014; City of Greater 
Sudbury, 2016 (Email Reply); MSDSB Revised 10-Year Housing and Homelessness Plan, 2014; MSDSB Subsidized Housing Providers; 
DNSSAB Putting People First: 10-year Housing & Homelessness Plan - Current Housing Supply in Nipissing District. Sub Report #5, 
2013; DPSSSAB Application for Rental Accommodation, 2012; District of Parry Sound Housing and Homelessness Plan, 2013; 
DSSMSSAB Housing and Homelessness Plan Update, 2014; Source: DTSSAB Your Guide to Rent Geared to Income Housing, 2011 

 
Close to half of the social housing units in the NE LHIN have an ‘all’ or ‘mixed’ mandate (44.9%). More 
than a quarter of the units are mandated for seniors only (27.3%), followed by family housing (23.4%). A 
small proportion of the housing is designated Natives and/or Aboriginals (4.5%). A small proportion of all 
social housing units have been modified to be accessible. 
 
Figure 3: Estimated Proportions of Social Housing Units by Mandate; NE LHIN, 2016 

 
Sources: ADSAB Project Listings Update Form, 2016; ADSAB Housing Unit Locations, Accessed March 26, 2016: 
http://www.adsab.on.ca/en/social-services/housing/housing-unit-locations/; CDSSAB Application for Housing, 2012; City of Greater 
Sudbury Application for Rent Geared to Income Assistance, 2015; City of Greater Sudbury, 2016; MSDSB Subsidized Housing Providers; 
MSDSB Revised 10-Year Housing and Homelessness Plan, 2014; MSDB Social Housing Locations, Accessed March 25, 2016: 
http://www.msdsb.net/sh-housing-locations; MSDSB Subsidized Housing Providers; MSDSB Revised 10-Year Housing and Homelessness 
Plan, 2014; MSDB Social Housing Locations, Accessed March 25, 2016: http://www.msdsb.net/sh-housing-locations; Nipissing District 10-
Year Housing and Homelessness Plan, 2013; DPSSSAB Application for Rental Accommodation, 2012; DPSSSAB Summary Chart of Housing 
Providers in the District; DPSSSAB Details of Housing Units in the Service Area; DSSMSSAB, 2016; DSSMSSAB Housing Application Package, 
2015; DSSMSSAB Rental Locations, Accessed: March 27, 2016: http://www.ssm-dssab.ca/HousingProviders/index.cfm; DTSSAB, 2016; 
DTSSAB Your Guide to Rent Geared to Income Housing, 2011 

4,859 

2,430 2,310 2,285 

850 571 453 396 

G
reater

Su
d

b
u

ry

Sau
lt Ste.

M
arie

C
o

ch
ran

e

N
ip

issin
g

Tim
iskam

in
g

A
lgo

m
a

M
an

ito
u

lin
-

Su
d

b
u

ry

P
arry So

u
n

d

Family
23.4%

Senior
27.3%

All/Mixed
44.9%

Native/ 
Aboriginal

4.5%

103



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 43 

 

7.2.2 Supply of Social Housing By Community 

The supply of social housing by mandate is estimated using information provided on District Social 
Services Administration Board/ social housing websites, RGI application documents and information 
from housing providers.  The social housing unit counts by mandate differ from the total amounts 
provided in the various housing and homelessness plans, generally due to variations in the type of unit 
recorded by different providers (i.e. Investment in Affordable Housing Program units, rent supplement 
units, Aboriginal/Native housing portfolio). 
 
Algoma 
About two-thirds of the social housing stock in Algoma is mandated as mixed for singles & couples 
(29.8%) and singles & families (29.7%). A small proportion of housing is dedicated for seniors (13.9%) 
and an even smaller proportion for Native Housing (3.9%).  
 
Table 4: Estimated Number of Social Housing Units by Mandate; Algoma, 2016 

Mandate Number of Units 
Proportion of Total 

Units 

Single / Couple 182 29.8% 

Single / Family 181 29.7% 

Family 138 22.6% 

Senior 85 13.9% 

Native Housing 24 3.9% 

Total 610  

Source: ADSAB Project Listings Update Form, 2016; ADSAB Housing Unit Locations, Accessed March 26, 2016: 
http://www.adsab.on.ca/en/social-services/housing/housing-unit-locations/ 

 
The number of units by bedroom size was not reported by all housing providers and therefore has not 
been reported.  
 
Cochrane 
Nearly half of the social housing stock in Cochrane has a mixed mandate for families & singles (45.9%). 
This is followed by a mixed mandate for seniors & singles (26.6%), and seniors-only units (21.1%). A 
small proportion of units are for Native families (4.3%). Cochrane is the only service area to specifically 
mandate units as supportive/accessible. There are a total of 48 social housing units dedicated for those 
with supportive and/or accessibility needs, which make up 2.1% of Cochrane’s social housing supply. 
Other units within the portfolio have been modified to be accessible as well. 
 

The number of units by bedroom size was not available. 

 
 
 
 

104



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 44 

 

Table 5: Estimated Number of Social Housing Units by Mandate; Cochrane, 2012 

Mandate Number of Units 
Proportion of Total 

Units 

Family / Single 1,069 45.9% 

Senior / Single 620 26.6% 

Senior 492 21.1% 

Native 100 4.3% 

Supportive / Accessible 48 2.1% 

Total 2,329  

Source: CDSSAB Application for Housing, 2012 

 
City of Greater Sudbury 
The City of Greater Sudbury has a greater proportion of its social housing stock mandated for families 
(36.8%). This is followed by a mixed mandate for seniors, couples & singles (24.4%), seniors-only 
(19.2%), all household types (17.5%) and lastly Aboriginals (2.0%).   

 
Table 6: Estimated Number of Social Housing Units by Mandate; City of Greater Sudbury, 2016 

Mandate Number of Units 
Proportion of Total 

Units 

Family 1,690 36.8% 

Seniors / Couples / Singles 1,123 24.4% 

Seniors 884 19.2% 

All 806 17.5% 

Aboriginal 93 2.0% 

Total 4,596  

Source: Application for Rent Geared to Income Assistance, 2015; City of Greater Sudbury, 2016 

 
The City of Greater Sudbury reported a total of 4,859 social housing units within the service area. Unit 
sizes were not available for the 59 rent supplement units and are therefore removed from the unit size 
break down. 
 
The remaining 4,800 units range in size from bachelor to five-bedroom units. Close to half of the units 
are one-bedrooms (46.3%). A quarter of the units are two-bedrooms (25.1%); followed by three-
bedrooms (22.6%). A small proportion of the social housing stock is made up of four-bedroom (4.1%), 
five-bedroom (1.0%), and bachelor (0.9%) units. 

 

105



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 45 

 

Figure 4: Proportion of Social Housing Units by Bedroom Size; City of Greater Sudbury, 2016 

 
Source: City of Greater Sudbury, 2016 

 
Manitoulin-Sudbury 
There are a total of 453 social housing units in Manitoulin-Sudbury. Over half of the units are mandated 
for “all ages” (55.6%). These units are made up of one-bedroom (246 units) and bachelor (6 units) 
apartments. Seniors-only housing makes up 19.9% of the social housing stock; followed by 
Aboriginal/Native housing at 16.6%. Family units make up the smallest proportion of all household types 

at 7.9%. Family units have two-, three- and four-bedroom sized units. 
 
Table 7: Number of Social Housing Units by Mandate; Manitoulin - Sudbury, 2016 

Mandate Number of Units 
Proportion of Total 

Units 

All Ages 252 55.6% 

Seniors 90 19.9% 

Aboriginal/Native 75 16.6% 

Family 36 7.9% 

Total 453  

Source: MSDSB Subsidized Housing Providers; MSDSB Revised 10-Year Housing and Homelessness Plan, 2014; 
MSDB Social Housing Locations, Accessed March 25, 2016: http://www.msdsb.net/sh-housing-locations 
 
The number of units by bedroom size was not reported by all housing providers and therefore cannot be 
accurately reported. 
 
Nipissing 
There are a total of 2,285 units in Nipissing’s social housing portfolio. The social housing stock is split 
between family (48.6%) and seniors-only (45.8%) units. The small remaining portion of units has a mixed 
mandate for both families & seniors (5.6%). It was noted that of the total units, 56 units are native 
housing for families and seniors, which equals to 2.5% of the total social housing stock.  

Bachelor
0.9%

1 BR
46.3%

2 BR
25.1%

3 BR
22.6%

4 BR
4.1%

5 BR
1.0%

106



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 46 

 

Table 8: Number of Social Housing Units by Mandate; Nipissing, 2013 

Mandate Number of Units 
Proportion of Total 

Units 

Family 1,110 48.6% 

Seniors 1,046 45.8% 

Family  / Senior 129 5.6% 

Total 2,285  

Source: Nipissing District 10-Year Housing and Homelessness Plan, 2013 
 
The number of units by bedroom size was not available. 
 
Parry Sound 
There are a total of 396 social housing units in Parry Sound. Over half of the social housing supply has an 
all-inclusive mandate for singles, families & seniors (51.3%). The remaining stock is made up of seniors’ 
only units (40.4%) and Aboriginal family units (8.3%). 

 
Table 9: Number of Social Housing Units by Mandate; Parry Sound, 2012 

Mandate Number of Units 
Proportion of Total 

Units 

Single / Family / Senior 203 51.3% 

Seniors 160 40.4% 

Aboriginal 33 8.3% 

Total 396  

Source: DPSSSAB Application for Rental Accommodation, 2012; DPSSSAB Summary Chart of Housing Providers in 
the District; DPSSSAB Details of Housing Units in the Service Area 

 
The number of units by bedroom size was not reported by all housing providers and therefore cannot be 
accurately reported. 
 
Sault Ste. Marie 
There are 2,234 social housing units in Sault Ste. Marie. Half of the units have a mixed mandate for 
families & singles (49.6%). Seniors housing makes up a larger portion of the social housing stock at 
37.7% compared to Aboriginal & Native (5.7%), family (5.3%), and single (1.7%) units which make up 
considerably smaller portions of the social housing supply.  

 
 
 
 
 

107



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 47 

 

Table 10: Number of Social Housing Units by Mandate; Sault St. Marie, 2016 

Mandate Number of Units 
Proportion of Total 

Units 

Family / Single 1,107 49.6% 

Senior 843 37.7% 

Aboriginal / Native 127 5.7% 

Family 118 5.3% 

Single 39 1.7% 

Total 2,234  

Source: DSSMSSAB, 2016; DSSMSSAB Housing Application Package, 2015; DSSMSSAB Rental Locations, Accessed: 
March 27, 2016: http://www.ssm-dssab.ca/HousingProviders/index.cfm 

 
The Sault Ste. Marie Housing and Homelessness Plan Update (2014), identifies that there are 2,43012 
units in the social housing portfolio. The report breaks down the total number of units into percentages. 
Over half of the units are one-bedrooms (51%) followed by two-bedrooms (24%), three-bedrooms 
(18%), bachelor units (4%), and four or more bedrooms (3%).  

 
Figure 5: Proportion of Social Housing Units by Bedroom Size; Sault Ste. Marie, 2014 

 
Source: Housing and Homelessness Plan Update, 2014 

 
Temiskaming 
There are a total of 850 units of social housing in Temiskaming. Over half of the units have a mixed 
mandate for seniors & singles (51.8%) and are all one-bedroom units. Temiskaming has the greatest 
proportion of Aboriginal/Native housing at 18.9% compared to the other service areas in the NE LHIN. 

                                                            
12 The number of units in the Housing and Homelessness Plan Update (2,430) is greater than the total by mandate 
(2,234) because it includes a number of rent supplement units that could not be identified by mandate.  

Bachelor
4%

1 BR 
51%

2 BR 
24%

3 BR 
18%

4+ BR
3%

108



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 48 

 

Seniors-only units make up 15.9% of the social housing stock and are comprised of one-bedroom (116 
units) and two-bedroom (19 units) sized units. Family units make up the smallest portion of all housing 
types at (13.4%).  

 
Table 11: Number of Social Housing Units by Mandate; Temiskaming, 2011  

Mandate Number of Units 
Proportion of Total 

Units 

Seniors / Singles 440 51.8% 

Native Housing (Family Units) 161 18.9% 

Seniors 135 15.9% 

Family 114 13.4% 

Total 850  

Source: DTSSAB, 2016; DTSSAB Your Guide to Rent Geared to Income Housing, 2011 

 
The number of units by bedroom size was not reported by all housing providers and therefore cannot be 
accurately reported. However, based on the above proportions of total units by mandate, one-bedroom 
units make up at least 65.4% of Temiskaming’s social housing portfolio. The remaining portion is made 

up of two- to five-bedroom units.  
 

7.2.3 Modified/ Accessible Units in the NE LHIN 

Based on available data, there are at least 375 modified social housing units13 in the NE LHIN, making up 
just less than 3% of the total social housing supply. It is likely that there are additional modified units as 
not all housing providers reported on this unit type. 
  
Table 12: Estimated Number of Modified Social Housing Units by Service Area; NE LHIN, 2016 

Service Area Modified Units 
Proportion of Total Units 

in Service Area 

Algoma 16 2.6% 

Cochrane -- -- 

Greater Sudbury 140 3.2% 

Manitoulin-Sudbury 6 1.3% 

Nipissing 68 3.0% 

Parry Sound 8 2.0% 

Sault Ste. Marie 127 5.7% 

Temiskaming 10 1.2% 

                                                            
13 Data was not available for all areas. 

109



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 49 

 

Service Area Modified Units 
Proportion of Total Units 

in Service Area 

Total 375 
 The following section provides an overview of the number of modified units by community.   

 
Algoma 
There are 16 social housing units modified for accessibility in Algoma. The majority of the modified units 
are in seniors-only buildings and are identified as ‘handicap’ units. Additional modified units are 
available but specific counts were not provided. 

 
Table 13: Estimated Number of Modified Social Housing Units; Algoma, 2016 

Mandate Modified Units 

Family 3 

Senior* 11 

Single/Couple 0 

Single Family 2 

Native Housing 0 

Total 16 

Source: Algoma District Services Administration Board, 2016 
* Additional units available 

 
Cochrane 
There are several modified social housing units available for all housing types in Cochrane.  However, 
the specific number of units was not identified.  
 
The modifications are made for wheel chair accessibility. The availability of modified units is more 
frequent in family/singles, and seniors-only mandated units than in senior/single units, and Native 
housing. 
 
In addition to the modified social housing units, Cochrane has 48 units of social housing mandated for 
supportive housing/accessible units.  
 
City of Greater Sudbury 
The City of Greater Sudbury reported modified unit data on 4,448 units of its social housing stock (data 
was not available for 411 units of Federal Cooperative housing). Of the 4,448 units, 140 are modified 
units. There are a greater number of modified one-bedroom units (83 units), compared to half as many 
modified two-bedroom units (41 units).  

 

110



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 50 

 

Figure 6: Proportion of Modified Social Housing Units by Bedroom Size; City of Greater Sudbury, 2016 

 
Source: City of Greater Sudbury, 2016  

 
Manitoulin-Sudbury 
There are six modified social housing units in seniors-only buildings in Manitoulin-Sudbury. In addition, 
there is an all-ages non-profit building in Mindemoya that is fully accessible and often houses victims of 
violence.  
 
Nipissing  
There are a total of 68 modified social housing units in Nipissing. The majority are for family household 
types (47 units; 69.1%), followed by a limited number for seniors-only household types (12 units; 
17.6%). 

 
Table 14: Number of Modified Social Housing Units; Nipissing, 2013 

Household Type Modified Units 

Families 47 

Seniors 12 

Families / Seniors 9 

Total 68 

Source: 10-Year Housing and Homelessness Plan, 2013 

 
Parry Sound 
There are eight modified social housing units in Parry Sound, five of which belong to all-inclusive 
mandated units and three belong to seniors-only units.  
 
Six of the modified units are one-bedroom units and two are three-bedroom units. 
 
Sault Ste. Marie 
There are 127 units described as “special needs / modified” in Sault Ste. Marie’s social housing portfolio. 
The majority of the units belong to family/single mandated units (67.7%), and seniors-only units (27.6%). 
The remaining small proportion of special needs / modified units are family units (3.1%) and Aboriginal / 
Native housing (1.6%).  

1 BR
59.3%

2 BR
29.3%

3 BR
11.4%

111



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 51 

 

Table 15: Number of Modified Social Housing Units; Sault Ste. Marie, 2016 

Mandate 
Special Needs / 
Modified Units 

Family 4 

Family / Single  86 

Senior 35 

Single 0 

Aboriginal / Native 2 

Total 127 

Source: DSSMSSAB Housing Directory, 2016 

 
Temiskaming 
A total of 10 social housing units have been modified for wheel chair accessibility. Five of these belong 
to family mandated units and another five belong to seniors-only units. The District of Temiskaming also 
noted that several walk-in showers have been installed in approximately 75 single units. 

 

7.2.4  Rent Supplement Supportive Housing Units in the NE LHIN 

A number of agencies have LHIN-funded rent supplement units for tenants with mental health and 
addictions challenges. In 2015, there were a total of 484 units across the NE LHIN. Of the total units, 430 
units were dedicated for tenants with mental health challenges (88.8%) and 54 units were dedicated for 
tenants suffering with addictions (11.2%). The majority of the units are located in the Districts of 
Cochrane-Temiskaming (33.3%), the District of Algoma (29.8%), and the City of Greater Sudbury (27.3%). 
The remaining units are located in Nipissing District (9.7%). 

 
Table 16: Rent Supplement Units by Agencies; NE LHIN, 2014 - 2015 

North East LHIN Mental Health Addictions Total  

Algoma Health Unit 130 14 144 

CMHA Cochrane Temiskaming 149 12 161 

CMHA Nipissing 23 12 35 

CMHA Sudbury 116 16 132 

North Bay Community Housing Initiative 12 0 12 

Total 430 54 484 

Source: Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care, 2014-2015 

 

 

 

 

 

112



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 52 

 

7.2.5 Waiting for Social Housing in the NE LHIN  
Waiting list statistics are based on The Ontario Non-Profit Housing Association’s (ONPHA) 2015 Waiting 
Lists Survey report. The report details findings and statistics from the social housing waiting lists of the 
47 municipal service managers across Ontario.  
 
In communities across the NE LHIN, there are a total of 6,615 active households on social housing 
waiting lists as of December 31, 2014. Cochrane, Sault Ste. Marie, Nipissing, and the City of Greater 
Sudbury each have over 1,000 active households on their social housing waiting lists. Manitoulin—
Sudbury, Temiskaming, Parry Sound and Algoma each have less than 500 active households. 

 
Table 17: Active Households on Social Housing Waiting Lists by Service Area; NE LHIN, 2014 

Service Area 
Active Households on 

Waiting List 
Social Housing Units 

Cochrane 1,583 2,310 

Sault Ste. Marie 1,274 2,430 

Nipissing 1,185 2,285 

Greater Sudbury 1,068 4,859 

Manitoulin-Sudbury 437 453 

Temiskaming 410 850 

Parry Sound 350 396 

Algoma 308 571 

Total 6,615 14,154 

Source: ONPHA Waiting Lists Survey, 2015 

 
Active households on social housing waiting lists are organized by the following household types: 
Seniors, Families, and Single Adults & Couples. The City of Greater Sudbury has the greatest proportion 
of single adult & couple households waiting for social housing in the NE LHIN (72.3%). The City of 
Greater Sudbury, Temiskaming, Sault Ste. Marie, and Parry Sound each have over half of their subsidized 
social housing waiting lists represented by single adult & couples family household types. 
 
Manitoulin-Sudbury has the greatest proportion of seniors on their social housing waiting list at 43.7% in 
the NE LHIN. Cochrane is the only service area to have senior households as the greatest proportion of 
all household types waiting for subsidized housing.  
 
Although there are family household types waiting for social housing, they do not represent the majority 
proportion of active households on social housing waiting lists in the NE LHIN. Of all the service areas, 
Cochrane has the greatest amount (495) and proportion (31.3%) of family households waiting for 
subsidized housing in the NE LHIN. 

 
 
 

113



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 53 

 

Figure 7: Proportion of Active Households on Social Housing Waiting Lists by Service Area and 
Mandate; NE LHIN, 2014 

 
Source: ONPHA Waiting Lists Survey, 2015 

 

7.2.6 Waiting Lists By Community 

Algoma 
There are a total of 308 active households on social housing waiting lists for subsidized housing. Active 
households on the waiting list represent 2% of all households14 in Algoma. There are a greater number 
of single adult & couple household types (127) on the waiting lists and nearly equal numbers of senior 
(91) and family (90) households.  

 
Table 18: Active Households on RGI Waiting Lists; Algoma, Dec. 31 2014 

Household Type Total 
Average Wait Time 

(Years) 

Seniors 91 1.04 

Families 90 0.90 

Single Adults & Couples 127 1.00 

Total  308 
 

Source: ONPHA Waiting Lists Survey, 2015 

                                                            
14 ONPHA Waiting Lists Survey, 2015 
Calculation based on 2011 total household data.  

29.5%
39.4%

14.0%

43.7%
32.7%

19.4% 15.1% 18.0%

29.2%

31.3%

13.8%

21.3%

26.0%

24.6% 28.2%
12.7%

41.2% 29.4% 72.3% 35.0% 41.4% 56.0% 56.7% 69.3%

A
lgo

m
a

C
o

ch
ran

e

G
reater Su

d
b

u
ry

M
an

ito
u

lin
-Su

d
b

u
ry

N
ip

issin
g

P
arry So

u
n

d

Sau
lt Ste. M

arie

Tim
iskam

in
g

Seniors Families Single Adults & Couples

114



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 54 

 

Cochrane 
There are a total of 1,583 active households waiting for subsidized housing. Active households on the 
waiting list represent 5% of all households in Cochrane.  There are a greater number   of senior households 
(623) waiting for subsidized housing followed by family households (495) and single adults & couples (465).  

 
Table 19: Active Households on RGI Waiting Lists; Cochrane, Dec. 31 2014 

Household Type Total  
Average Wait Time  

(Years) 

Seniors 623 3.16 

Families 495 1.24 

Single Adults & Couples 465 3.37 

Total  1,583 
 Source: ONPHA Waiting Lists Survey, 2015 

 
City of Greater Sudbury 
There are a total of 1,068 active households on the social housing waiting list for subsidized housing. 
Active households on the waiting list represent 2% of all households in the City of Greater Sudbury.  The 
number of single adult and couple households (772) waiting for subsidized housing far exceeds the 
number of senior (149) and family (147) households.  

 
Table 20: Active Households on RGI Waiting Lists; City of Greater Sudbury, Dec. 31 2014 

Household Type Total Units 
Average Wait Time 

(Years) 

Seniors 149 3.24 

Families 147 0.57 

Single Adults & Couples 772 2.10 

Total  1,068 
 Source: ONPHA Waiting Lists Survey, 2015 

 
Manitoulin-Sudbury 
There are a total of 437 active households on the social housing waiting list for subsidized housing. 
Active households on the waiting list represent 4% of all households in the Manitoulin-Sudbury. There 
are a greater number of senior households (191) waiting for subsidized housing followed by single adults 
and couple (153) and family (93) households.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

115



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 55 

 

Table 21: Active Households on RGI Waiting Lists; Manitoulin-Sudbury, Dec. 31 2014 

Household Type Total Units 
Average Wait Time 

(Years) 

Seniors 191 2.42 

Families 93 0.98 

Single Adults & Couples 153 0.59 

Total  437 
 Source: ONPHA Waiting Lists Survey, 2015 

 
Nipissing  
There are a total of 1,185 active households on the social housing waiting list for subsidized housing. 
Active households on the waiting list represent 4% of all households in Nipissing. There are more single 
adult and couple households (490) waiting for subsidized housing followed by senior (387) and family 
(308) households.  

 
Table 22: Active Households on RGI Waiting Lists; Nipissing, Dec. 31 2014 

Household Type Total Units 
Average Wait Time 

(Years) 

Seniors 387 1.64 

Families 308 1.10 

Single Adults & Couples 490 1.98 

Total  1,185 
 Source: ONPHA Waiting Lists Survey, 2015 

 
Parry Sound 
There are a total of 350 active households on the social housing waiting list for subsidized housing. 
Active households on the waiting list represent 2% of all households in Parry Sound. More than half of 
the active households on the waiting list are single adults and couples (196); followed by family (86) and 
senior (68) households.    

 
Table 23: Active Households on RGI Waiting Lists; Parry Sound, Dec. 31 2014 

Household Type Total Units 
Average Wait Time 

(Years) 

Seniors 68 4.10 

Families 86 3.10 

Single Adults & Couples 196 3.30 

Total  350 
 Source: ONPHA Waiting Lists Survey, 2015 

 

116



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 56 

 

Sault Ste. Marie 
There are a total of 1,274 active households on the waiting list for subsidized housing. Active households 
on the waiting list represent 4% of all households in Sault Ste. Marie. More than half of the active 
households on the waiting list are single adults and couples (722); followed by family (359) and senior 
(193) households.  

 
Table 24: Active Households on RGI Waiting Lists; Sault Ste. Marie, Dec. 31 2014 

Household Type Total Units 
Average Wait Time 

(Years) 

Seniors 193 1.50 

Families 359 0.75 

Single Adults & Couples 722 1.50 

Total  1,274 
 Source: ONPHA Waiting Lists Survey, 2015 

 
Temiskaming 
There are a total of 410 active households on the social housing waiting list for subsidized housing. 
Active households on the waiting list represent 3% of all households in Temiskaming.  The number of 
single adult and couple households (284) waiting for subsidized housing far exceeds the number of 

senior (74) and family (52) households.  
 
Table 25: Active Households on RGI Waiting Lists; Temiskaming, Dec. 31 2014 

Household Type Total Units 
Average Wait Time 

(Years) 

Seniors 74 2.93 

Families 52 0.54 

Single Adults & Couples 284 1.75 

Total  410 
 Source: ONPHA Waiting Lists Survey, 2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

117



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 57 

 

7.3 Support Service Inventory 
This section of the report focuses on support services offered in communities across the NE LHIN area.  The 
inventory was created based on information provided by the NE LHIN, CMHA Sudbury-Manitoulin and 
through an online scan.  The inventory was updated based on feedback received as part of consultation 
activities.   
 
The inventory is not a complete inventory of support services available across the area; rather, it is a 
starting point for support services available to assist social housing tenants either directly within the 
housing itself or within the community (i.e. drop-in centres, day programs).  
 
The inventory of community service providers is organized into the following sectors.15  
 
 Community Care Access Centres 

In collaboration with family health care providers, hospitals and other health care partners, 
CCACs help Ontarians of all ages to access and navigate the health care services they need, 
when and where they need them. 

 
Community Health Centres 

Provide primary care, health promotion, education and illness prevention services using a 
community development approach. Health Centres are staffed by health care professionals 
including physicians, nurse practitioners, nurses, counsellors, community workers and dietitians. 

 
Community support services 

Are intended for seniors, or people with disabilities who prefer to stay at home. Services can be 
offered at the client’s home or in the community. 

 
Hospitals 

Provide a variety of inpatient and outpatient programs and services. Many provide learning 
opportunities for health science students and participate in the conduct of health and medical 
research. 

 
Mental Health and Addictions 

Community mental health programs provide a variety of services to help support people who 
have serious and ongoing mental health issues living in the community. Services offered include 
information and referral, advocacy, case management, housing advocacy, rehabilitation, 
employment assistance, counselling, support groups and social and recreational opportunities, 
and peer support services for consumers and survivors. 
 

Public Health Units 
Provide programs that protect and improve the health of the community through 
comprehensive efforts to prevent, control and eradicate communicable disease; eliminate 
environmental health hazards; and recognize, prevent and control occupational health hazards 
and illnesses. 

 

                                                            
15 Definitions provided by the North East Health Line website  

118



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 58 

 

Data was provided and analysed based on the following regions: 
1) Algoma 

2) Cochrane-Temiskaming 

3) Sudbury/Manitoulin (including the City of Greater Sudbury) 

4) Parry Sound 

5) Nipissing  

6) James and Hudson Bay Coasts 

 

The purpose of the inventory is provide a greater understanding and awareness of the support service 
network that is available to social housing tenants. The inventory will provide information on the 
existing supply of support agencies in the NE LHIN and help identify where service improvements are 
needed. It forms the basis of the needs analysis.  

 
7.3.1 Support Service Network in the NE LHIN  

Based on our existing inventory, there are a total of 233 support agencies in the NE LHIN area. Over half 
of the agencies fall under the Community Support Services sector (53.2%). This is followed by mental 
health & addictions (26.6%), hospitals (8.6%), community health centres (4.3%), public health units 
(4.7%), and Community Care Access Centres (2.6%).  
 
The majority of identified services are located in the Sudbury/Manitoulin (26.6%) and Cochrane-
Temiskaming (26.2%) regions. The regions of Algoma (15.0%), the Coast (14.6%), and Nipissing (13.3%) 
have relatively the same number of agencies. Parry Sound (4.3%) has the least amount with 10 
identified agencies in the area. 

 
Table 26: Number of Support Agencies by Sector & by Region 

Sector Algoma Coast Cochrane-
Temiskaming 

Nipissing Parry 
Sound 

Sudbury/
Manitoulin 

Total 

Community Care Access 
Centre Sites 

1 0 1 3 0 1 6 

Community Health 
Centre 

1 2 3 2 0 2 10 

Community Support 
Services 

15 8 35 16 6 44 124 

Hospital  5 1 9 1 1 3 20 

Mental Health & 
Addictions 

12 17 12 8 2 11 62 

Public Health Unit Sites 1 6 1 1 1 1 11 

Total  35 34 61 31 10 62 233 

 
Looking at communities across the NE LHIN, the Coast region has the greatest proportion identified 
support agencies providing mental health & addictions services at 50%. Parry Sound and the Coast are 
the only regions that do not have a Community Care Access Centre Site. The largest number of hospitals 
are located in the Cochrane-Temiskaming region (9 Hospitals).  

 

119



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 59 

 

Figure 8: Proportion of Support Services by Region and Sector; NE LHIN  

 
 
A review of support services by area is provided in Appendix A. 

 
 

7.4 Estimating Number of Vulnerable People in Social Housing 
The following section estimates the number of vulnerable persons living in social hosing across the NE 
LHIN.  Estimates are based on research findings from the literature and applying these 
findings/calculations to the supply of social housing in the NE LHIN presented in the above sections.    
Results are provided for vulnerable tenants in general (based on ONPHA definition and research 
findings), as well as particular vulnerable population groups including tenants with a serious and 
persistent mental illness, seniors, and persons with disabilities. 
 
 

7.4.1 Vulnerable Tenants 

There are 13,70516 social housing units in the North East LHIN with approximately 20,558 tenants.  While 
a large proportion of these tenants only require supports in the form of financial assistance, there are a 
proportion of tenants who require additional supports, including assistance with activities of daily living 
and help with life skills.   
 
There are different approaches to estimate the number of tenants in social housing who require 

                                                            
16 The number of social housing units in the North East LHIN is based on SHS Calculations from reports and email 
requests. 

3.2% 2.9% 1.9%

0.0%

3.9%
3.2% 5.7% 5.6% 0.0%

3.9%

38.7%

22.9%

51.9% 66.7%

68.6%

16.1%

2.9%

16.7%
11.1%

5.9%35.5%

48.6%

22.2% 22.2% 15.7%

0.0%

17.1%

1.9% 0.0% 2.0%

A
lgo

m
a

 C
o

ast

C
o

ch
ran

e-
Tem

iskam
i

n
g

P
arry

So
u

n
d

Su
d

b
u

ry/
M

an
ito

u
lin

Public Health Unit

Mental Health &
Addictions
Hospital

Community Support
Services
Community Health
Centre

120



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 60 

 

supports.  For example, an ONPHA study found that in recent years, social housing providers filled 
vacancies with Special Priority applicants or local priority applicants including those who had 
experienced violence, those who were homeless or persons with special needs.  This study found that 
54.6% of vacancies in all social housing units were filled with people who identified themselves as 
vulnerable in some way17.  Using this proportion, there are an estimated 11,224 vulnerable tenants in 
social housing units throughout the NE LHIN.  These tenants would likely have a wide range of support 
service needs, from personal care to assistance with life skills.  Estimates on several vulnerable 
population groups are further explored in the following sections. 
 
 

7.4.2 Tenants with a Serious and Persistent Mental Illness 

There are also tenants living in social housing with serious and persistent mental illness.  Serious and 
persistent mental illness, or SPMI, is the term mental health professionals use to describe mental 
illnesses with complex symptoms that require ongoing treatment and management, most often varying 
types and dosages of medication and therapy18.   
 
It is estimated that approximately 3% of all Canadians have a serious and persistent mental illness19,20.  
In addition, research found that the prevalence rate for serious mental illness and concurrent disorders 
is greater for people in low socioeconomic groups, with the lowest socioeconomic groups showing rates 
of mental illness at approximately 2 to 2.5 times that of higher socioeconomic groups.  Based on this, 
the ONPHA report, Strengthening Social Housing Communities: Helping Vulnerable Tenants Maintain 
Successful Tenancies (2015), estimates that 7% of tenants in rent-geared-to-income (RGI) housing and 
3% of tenants in market rate social housing have a serious and persistent mental illness21.  Using this 
methodology, there are between 617 and 1,439 social housing tenants in the NE LHIN who have a 
serious and persistent mental illness.  While some of these tenants may already be receiving supports, it 
is highly likely that there is a proportion who are not receiving any supports and others who are not 
receiving enough supports. 
 
 

7.4.3 Seniors Requiring Supports 

As experienced in communities across Ontario and Canada, the population is aging, including the 
population living in social housing.  ONPHA estimates that there are as many seniors living in social 
housing as there are in long term care and that a great proportion of waiting lists for social housing are 

                                                            
17 ONPHA (2015).  Strengthening Social Housing Communities: Helping Vulnerable Tenants Maintain Successful 
Tenancies. 
18 UNC School of Medicine, Department of Psychiatry. Found at: https://www.med.unc.edu/psych/cecmh/patient-
client-information/patient-client-information-and-resources/clients-and-familes-resources/just-what-is-a-severe-
and-persistent-mental-illness 
19 ONPHA (2015).  Strengthening Social Housing Communities: Helping Vulnerable Tenants Maintain Successful 
Tenancies AND Ontario Ministry of Health and Long Term Care (2009).  Every Door is the Right Door: Towards a 10-
Year Mental Health and Addictions Strategy. 
20 It is not certain whether the definition of persons with serious and persistent mental health includes persons 
with addictions.  This population, however, is likely captured within the percentage of vulnerable tenants outlined 
in Section 5.5.1.  
21 ONPHA (2015).  Strengthening Social Housing Communities: Helping Vulnerable Tenants Maintain Successful 
Tenancies p.10 

121



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 61 

 

made up of seniors22.  Indeed, our analysis as shown above finds that 1,176 senior households are on 
waiting lists for social housing in the NE LHIN service area, representing about 27% of all social housing 
applicants.   
 
Keefe, et. al. (2007) estimates that between 15% and 18% of seniors 65 years and older will require 
assistance with everyday activities (e.g. shopping, personal care, housework and meal preparation) 
based on disability rates and the availability of supports.  While the proportion is projected to remain 
constant from 2001 to 2031, Keefe, et. al notes that the number of seniors requiring assistance will 
greatly increase due to the aging of the baby boomers.  Applying Keefe’s estimates to the number of 
tenants in senior and non-family social housing units in the NE LHIN, it is estimated that there are 
currently 2,224 – 2,669 seniors living in social housing who require supports. 
 
 

7.4.4 Tenants with a Disability 

Using data from the Canadian Survey on Disability, 2012, Arim (2015) found that 15.4% of all Ontarians 
15 years and older and 14% of Canadians overall have a disability that limits their daily activities.  When 
applied to social housing tenants in the NE LHIN, this shows that there are about 3,166 tenants who 
have a disability which limits their daily activities.  While many of these tenants likely have some 
supports, Turcotte (2014) found that 1.6% of the population 15 years and older who have a chronic 
health condition do not receive the help they require.  When this is applied to the estimated number of 
tenants in social housing in the NE LHIN, approximately 51 tenants have a disability but are not receiving 
the supports they require. 
 
The following table shows the estimates based on the approaches discussed above for the number of 
tenants who require supports in each of the communities within the NE LHIN as well as the total number 
for the entire LHIN.  It should be noted, however, that there may be some double counting, particularly 
with regard to the estimated number of vulnerable tenants using the 54.6% proportion as well as the 
fact that different sources of information have been used.  In addition, these estimates consider only the 
number of people who are currently living in social housing and do not take into account the number of 
people who are applying for social housing in the NE LHIN, which stood at 6,615 as of the end of 201423. 
 

                                                            
22 ONPHA (2015). Ibid, p.11 
23 ONPHA (2015).  2015 Waiting Lists Survey. 

122



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 62 

 

7.4.5 Summary of Vulnerable Persons Living in Social Housing across NE LHIN 

Based on the above findings, the following Table provides a summary of the estimated number of vulnerable persons living in social housing 
across the NE LHIN.   
 
Table 27: Estimated Number of Vulnerable Persons Living in Social Housing across the NE LHIN  
  Total 

Number 
of Units1 

Estimated 
Number of Social 
Housing Tenants2 

Estimated Number of Tenants 
with Serious and Persistent 

Mental Illness3 

Estimated Number of 
Seniors Requiring 

Supports4 

Estimated 
Number of 

Tenants with 
a Disability5 

Estimated Number 
of Tenants who 

have Unmet Help 
or Care Needs6 

Estimated 
Number of 
Vulnerable 

Tenants7 

    1.5 3.0% 7.0% 15.0% 18.0% 15.4% 1.6% 54.6% 

Algoma 610 915 27 64 101 121 141 2 500 

Cochrane 2,281 3,422 103 240 491 589 527 8 1,868 

Greater Sudbury 4,596 6,894 207 483 633 760 1,062 17 3,764 

Manitoulin-Sudbury 453 680 20 48 77 92 105 2 371 

Nipissing 2,285 3,428 103 240 264 317 528 8 1,871 

Parry Sound 396 594 18 42 82 98 91 1 324 

Sault Ste Marie 2,234 3,351 101 235 448 537 516 8 1,830 

Temiskaming 850 1,275 38 89 129 155 196 3 696 

All LHIN 13,705 20,558 617 1,439 2,224 2,669 3,166 51 11,224 
1The total number of units is based on email correspondence from housing providers and data from reports and websites 
2The estimated number of social housing tenants is based on the average number of adults per household with children and without children in Ontario from ONPHA (2015). 
3The estimated number of tenants with a serious and persistent mental illness is based on the approach used in the ONPHA (2015) report based on a prevalence rate of 3% among all Canadians and 7% 
prevalence rate among adults in RGI housing. 
4The estimated number of seniors requiring supports is based on Keefe et. al. (2007). 
5The estimated number of tenants with a disability is based on the prevalence rate of disability in Ontario from Arim (2015) which uses data from the Canadian Survey on Disability, 2012. 
6The estimated number of tenants who have unmet help or care needs is based on Turcotte (2014) using the rate of the population 15 years and older who needed help for a chronic health condition 
but did not receive it. 
7The estimated number of vulnerable tenants is based on ONPHA (2015) which states that 54.6% of vacancies in all age social housing were filled by people who identified themselves as vulnerable. 

123



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 63 

 

7.5 Summary of Social Housing Needs Analysis 
Based on the review of social housing across the NE LHIN there are approximately 14,000 social housing 
units across eight service areas.  Almost half of these units (45%) are for all housing types, just over one-
quarter (27%) are for seniors, 23% for families and about 4% for Aboriginal and First Nation households.  
Approximately 3% of the units are modified for persons with disabilities.  In addition there are 
approximately 484 NE LHIN funded supportive housing units for persons with mental health and 
addiction challenges.    
 
By area, over one-third of the supply is located in the City of Greater Sudbury (34.3%). Sault Ste. Marie 
(17.2%), Cochrane (16.3%), and Nipissing (16.1%) each have about half of the proportion found in the 
City of Greater Sudbury. Temiskaming (6.0%), Algoma (4.0%), Manitoulin-Sudbury (3.2%), and Parry 
Sound (2.8%) each have less than 10% of the total social housing stock and the fewest numbers of units.   
 
These findings are generally consistent with population distribution across the NE LHIN.  Sudbury-
Manitoulin (6.7%) and Algoma (7.9%) have a slightly higher proportion of social housing units when 
considering the proportion of total population for the NE LHIN while Parry Sound (1.1%) and Sault Ste. 
Marie (14.6%) have a slightly lower (1.1%) proportion. 
 
The following Table summarizes the supply and demand for social housing across the NE LHIN by area as 
well as estimates of vulnerability within the social housing supply. 
 
Table 28: Summary of Demand and Supply of Social Housing across the NE LHIN 

Area Proportion 
of Social 
Housing 
Supply 

Proportion 
of Social 
Housing 
Demand 

Estimated 
Number of 

Social 
Housing 

Tenants24 

Households 
on Waiting 

List 

Estimate of Number 
of Tenants with 

Serious and 
Persistent Mental 

Illness25 

Estimate of 
Number of 
Vulnerable 
Tenants26 

Algoma 4% 5% 915 308 64 500 

Cochrane 16% 24% 3,422 1,583 240 1,868 

Greater Sudbury 34% 16% 6,894 1,068 483 3,764 

Manitoulin-
Sudbury 

3% 7% 680 437 48 371 

Nipissing 16% 18% 3,428 1,185 240 1,871 

Parry Sound 3% 5% 594 350 42 324 

Sault Ste. Marie 17% 19% 3,351 1,274 235 1,830 

Temiskaming 6% 6% 1,275 410 89 696 

All LHIN 100% 100% 20,558 6,615 1,439 11,224 

 
 
 

                                                            
24 The estimated number of social housing tenants is based on the average number of adults per household with children and 
without children in Ontario from ONPHA (2015). 
25 The estimated number of tenants with a serious and persistent mental illness is based on the approach used in the ONPHA (2015) report 

based on a prevalence rate of 3% among all Canadians and 7% prevalence rate among adults in RGI housing. 
26 The estimated number of vulnerable tenants is based on ONPHA (2015) which states that 54.6% of vacancies in all age social housing were 

filled by people who identified themselves as vulnerable. 

124



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 64 

 

8.0 Summary of Gaps and Opportunities 
Throughout the various research activities a number of common themes and key messages emerged.  
These key messages are organized by three critical elements to creating more successful tenancies: 
supports, housing, and partnerships. 
 

8.1 Supports 
Vulnerability 
The definition of vulnerable tenants utilizes the ONPHA definition of vulnerability in social housing which 
is essentially “anyone who needs additional support – for any reason – to maintain a successful 
tenancy”.  Based on the methodology within the ONPHA Strengthening Social Housing Communities 
report (2015), it is estimated that there are approximately 11,224 vulnerable tenants across the NE 
LHIN.  Particular populations were identified within the literature and through the consultations as being 
at a greater risk of losing their housing as a result of an unmet need.  These groups include persons with 
mental health and addictions, seniors, persons with disabilities (in particular persons with dual diagnosis 
and concurrent disorders), Aboriginal and First Nation persons, youth, persons living in rural and remote 
communities and also persons within the LGBT community.   
 

Access 
Many stakeholders expressed concern with a lack of access to various support services, in particular within the 
NE LHIN’s remote and rural communities.  As identified within the literature, there are fewer health 
professionals per capita in Northern communities which can result in an increase in a number of health issues. 
 
In addition to concerns regarding access to support services within particular communities, awareness 
and access in general to support services was identified as a critical component of maintaining 
successful tenancies.  The literature review highlights that connecting people to the right supports at the 
right time is important.  Stakeholders shared success stories and examples where having on-site 
supports or coordinated response teams can make a huge difference in maintaining tenancies and 
providing proper supports to residents in need.   

 

Family and Peer Support 
A lack of family support or other forms of informal support (i.e. neighbour) was seen as one of the 
greatest risks for people living alone in social housing.  This family or peer support can be critical in 
identifying needs, advocating for supports, and connecting with appropriate agencies.  In addition, the 
literature points to declines in health and well-being resulting from a lack of supportive social networks.  
 

Early Intervention 
The literature emphasizes the importance of early intervention, as did our study stakeholders.  Some 
form of mechanism or framework for identifying and evaluating life skills, mental health, physical health 
and social supports was considered a key aspect in creating successful tenancies and providing the 
supports needed before a crisis occurred or the issue worsened. 
 
Study stakeholders also identified that a particular challenge within social housing communities is that a 
need for support for a tenant may be identified, either by a housing provider or support agency, but that 
individual does not want help.  Early intervention may help to address issues sooner when the tenant 
may be more open to seeking assistance.   

125



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 65 

 

Life Skills 
As identified by stakeholders, often tenants of social housing are living on their own for the first time 
and do not have the necessary life skills to maintain a successful tenancy.  This might include 
housekeeping, healthy eating and budgeting.  Similar to the note above regarding early intervention, 
understanding these needs quickly can help maintain successful tenancies before there is any risk of 
eviction.   
 

Crisis Support 
While early intervention and prevention is key, also identified as equally important is the need for more 
support services for individuals in crisis or in need of complex care and support.  Having sufficient staff 
and adequately trained staff was identified as a concern, and emphasized as a particular gap within rural 
and remote areas of the NE LHIN, by study stakeholders. 
 
 

8.2 Housing  
Affordable 
As identified within the needs analysis there are approximately 6,615 applicants waiting for social 
housing across the NE LHIN, creating long waiting lists (typically several years).  Stakeholders also clearly 
identified the need for more affordable housing options, in particular, the need for additional rent 
subsidies.  Portable rent subsidies were seen as a preferred option as these provide choice and flexibility 
to tenants.   

 

Accessible 
The needs analysis also points to a gap in the number of accessible units, which was also articulated 
through the various consultations.  The built form can have challenges for seniors and persons with 
disabilities as well as people with dementia and other mental health issues.   In some areas, an aging 
housing stock cannot easily accommodate modifications for accessibility. 

 

Supportive 
In addition to social housing, stakeholders identified the need for more supportive housing options; in 
particular, intensive support homes for persons with severe mental health needs.  While rental arrears 
was identified as the greatest risk to eviction, stakeholders emphasized that there are often other 
factors contributing to rental arrears such as mental health issues or lack of budgeting and life skills.   
 
 

8.3 Partnerships 
Housing Providers 
Outlined clearly by housing provider stakeholders and validated within the literature review, landlords 
and housing providers typically do not have the resources or skills to meet the growing support needs of 
tenants.  Yet, they are frequently in the position of responding to a need or crisis either directly through 
the tenant or through neighbours and family.  Including housing providers within the ‘Circle of Care’ is 
important for the tenant and also can help providers understand what services are available in their 
community and how to connect tenants to the right support agencies.  
 

126



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 66 

 

Hospitals 
Hospitals were identified as a key partner in providing care and supports to social housing tenants.  
Many stakeholders raised concerns regarding a lack of communication between support agencies, 
hospitals and housing providers, which can leave tenants with inappropriate or insufficient support 
services in place to help them transition back into their home, ultimately making them extremely 
vulnerable to eviction. 
 

‘System Stakeholders’ 
In addition to hospitals and housing providers noted above, a number of support service agencies are 
involved in providing care and supports to social housing tenants.  While there are many partnerships 
across communities in the NE LHIN, study stakeholders highlighted that there is a strong need for more 
coordinated work, more sharing of ideas and more awareness of each other and the services provided 
within the ‘system’.   Included in the system are local agencies such as Canadian Mental Health 
Association, Community Living, Red Cross and many others. Also included are primary care physicians, 
informal support networks (i.e. family, neighbours, church), public health units and community health 
centres, emergency medical services, municipalities/local service managers/DSSABs, as well as CCAC and 
the LHIN itself.  Other potential partners might include local school boards, transportation services, and 
post-secondary institutions.  
 
 
 

  

127



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 67 

 

9.0 The Way Forward 
There is currently a gap in the availability, consistency and coordination of support services for persons 
living in social housing across the North East LHIN. 

 
Based on the research activities described in the above sections, there is a strong need for a 

coordinated model of service delivery to persons living in social housing.   As shown, more than 10,000 

vulnerable tenants live in social housing across the area, and it is critical that this type of coordinated 

system be set in place to help meet their needs and reduce the risk of eviction and homelessness.  Using 

the key findings from this research the following recommendations are put forward for consideration by 

CMHA Sudbury-Manitoulin, the NE LHIN and partners across the area. 

 
Recommendation 1: Move forward in developing a coordinating service delivery model for persons 

living in social housing 

The model should integrate a vision that there is “someone for everyone”, that essentially each tenant 

has someone to call that can help identify and access support services, assist in life skill development as 

appropriate, or simply be a friend or a ‘go to person’.  

To support this vision, the model should also consider the following four principles: 

 
COMMUNITY BUILDING – a collaboration of committed partners with a shared responsibility to 

better meet the support needs of residents. 

Goals might include: 

 Adequate resources and skilled workers 

 Adequate housing 

 Effective and inclusive partnerships 

 

RESPONSIVE – identifies, responds and is flexible to changes in tenant needs. 

Goals might include: 

 Early intervention/prevention (i.e. assessment tool) 

 Appropriate transitional support 

 Responsive crisis care 

 

INCLUSIVE – an accessible system of supports for individuals and families from all communities. 

 
Goals might include: 

 Equal access to support services 

 Identification of resource hubs 

128



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 68 

 

CONTINUOUS CIRCLE OF CARE – that residents are supported in their unique needs and 

experiences which are central to planning and decision making. 

Goals might include: 

 Care team approach 

 Continuum of support (prevention/early intervention to life skills to intensive care to crisis 

support) 

 On-site support or access to 24 hour support 

 Effective use of technology and mobile options 

Recommendation 2: Conduct a review of housing options across the North East LHIN 
The North East LHIN is a large geographic area with a diverse range of urban, rural and remote 
communities.  Through this research study, an inventory of social housing was identified.  However, 
there is little understanding and awareness of other forms of housing, such as supportive housing 
models, across the LHIN.  Preparing housing profiles across various service areas would be helpful in 
understanding the housing gaps and opportunities. 

 
Recommendation 3: Share and further develop the support agency inventory 
Currently, the inventory developed as part of this study includes 233 agencies.  The database is a 
comprehensive document which includes agency names, lead staff and contact information and can be 
sorted by community and by sector.  Sharing this resource with stakeholders would help create a greater 
understanding of the services available within communities.  Expanding on this database over time 
would also help identify resources and potential gaps in the types of services offered.   This means not 
only adding agencies and organizations to the database but including which services they offer (such as 
in-home care, meal program, transportation, etc.). 
 
Recommendation 4: Build on current best practices 
A number of success stories were identified throughout this research.  Moving forward in developing a 
coordinated service delivery model should consider and build on current best practices such as: CMHA 
Sudbury-Manitoulin’s successful partnership with the Manitoulin-Sudbury District Services Board to 
offer transitional on-site supportive housing at a social housing building in Espanola; the Housing 
Success Team in Nipissing, which offer housing supports and referrals to individuals experiencing various 
housing issues in the community; and, the Community or Rapid Mobilization Teams, which involve local 
multi-agency, and cross-sector, partnerships to assess and respond to the needs of vulnerable 
individuals and families in crisis.  
 
Recommendation 5: Leverage non-traditional and informal support options 
While there are certainly a number of partnerships across the North East LHIN, there may be 
opportunities to leverage non-traditional and informal support options to help fill current ‘gaps’ in the 
system.  For example, looking at some of the case studies, the research identifies an opportunity to work 
with post-secondary institutions to encourage volunteerism among neighbourhood residents, and 
provide on-site programs such as after school homework programs, nutrition classes, and resume 
writing lessons.  Another example includes creating opportunities for local residents to provide services 
to help people age-in-home (i.e. SMILE program).  Services might include laundry, assistance with 
housekeeping and yard maintenance, and transportation.  While helping people live at home longer, it 
also promotes local economic development and could be of particular assistance in more rural areas.   
 

129



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 69 

 

Recommendation 6: Engage Tenants 
A research limitation of this current project was the engagement of tenants.  Given the timeframe and 
scope of the study, only twenty tenants participated in the research.    For the purposes of this 
background research study, emphasis was placed on identifying findings from the literature and 
gathering feedback from housing providers and support service agencies.  Moving forward in developing 
the coordinated service delivery model, it will be important to engage tenants within the 
implementation and evaluation of the model.  It is recommended that the evaluation component 
incorporate a participatory approach incorporating several methods for the involvement and co-
leadership from the people most impacted by the project.   

  

130



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 70 

 

10.0 Bibliography 
 
Arim, R. for Statistics Canada (2015).  Canadian Survey on Disability, 2012:  A profile of persons with 
disabilities among Canadians aged 15 years or older, 2012.  Catalogue no. 89-654-X.  Accessed from: 
http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-654-x/89-654-x2015001-eng.htm  
 
Keefe, J., Legare, J. and Carriere, Y. (2007).  Developing New Strategies to Support Future Caregivers of 
Older Canadians with Disabilities: Projections of Need and their Policy Implications.  Canadian Public 
Policy, Vol. XXXIII. 
 
ONPHA (2015). Strengthening Social Housing Communities 
 
ONPHA (2015).  2015 Waiting Lists Survey. 
 
Ontario Ministry of Health and Long Term Care (2009).  Every Door is the Right Door: Towards a 10-Year 
Mental Health and Addictions Strategy. 
 
Turcotte, M. for Statistics Canada (2014).  Insights on Canadian Society:  Canadians with unmet home 
care needs.  Catalogue no. 75-006-X.  Accessed from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-006-
x/2014001/article/14042-eng.htm 
 
 
  

131

http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-654-x/89-654-x2015001-eng.htm
http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-006-x/2014001/article/14042-eng.htm
http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-006-x/2014001/article/14042-eng.htm


 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 71 

 

11.0 Appendix A: Support Services by Area 
 
Algoma 
The Algoma region has a total of 36 support agencies. It is mainly serviced by the community support 
service (41.7%) and mental health & addictions (33.3%) sectors. There are five hospitals (13.9%), and 
one Community Care Access Centre (2.8%), community health centre (2.8%), public health unit (2.8%), 
and women’s shelter (2.8%). 

 
Table 29: Number of Support Agencies by Sector; Algoma 

Sector 
Support 
Agencies 

Proportion 

Community Care Access Centre 1 2.8% 

Community Health Centre 1 2.8% 

Community Support Services 15 41.7% 

Hospital  5 13.9% 

Mental Health & Addictions 12 33.3% 

Public Health Unit 1 2.8% 

Women's Shelter 1 2.8% 

Total 36   

 
 
Cochrane-Temiskaming 
The Cochrane-Temiskaming region has a total of 61 support agencies. Over half the support service 
network is made up of community support services (57.4%). This is followed by mental health & 
addictions services (19.7%), hospitals (14.8%), community health centres (4.9%), one public health unit 
(1.6%), and one Community Care Access Centre (1.6%).  
 
Table 30: Number of Support Agencies by Sector; Cochrane-Temiskaming 

Sector 
Support 
Agencies 

Proportion 

Community Care Access Centre 1 1.6% 

Community Health Centre 3 4.9% 

Community Support Services 35 57.4% 

Hospital  9 14.8% 

Mental Health & Addictions 12 19.7% 

Public Health Unit 1 1.6% 

Total 61   

 
 
 
 

132



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 72 

 

Sudbury/Manitoulin 
The Sudbury/Manitoulin region has a total of 62 support agencies. It is primarily serviced by community 
support services (71.0%). There are eleven mental health & addictions support agencies (17.7%), three 
hospitals (4.8%), two community health centres (3.2%), one Community Care Access Centre (1.6%), and 
one public health unit 1.6%) servicing the area.  

 
Table 31: Number of Support Agencies by Sector; Sudbury/Manitoulin 

Sector 
Support 
Agencies 

Proportion 

Community Care Access Centre 1 1.6% 

Community Health Centre 2 3.2% 

Community Support Services 44 71.0% 

Hospital  3 4.8% 

Mental Health & Addictions 11 17.7% 

Public Health Unit 1 1.6% 

Total 62   

 
 
Parry Sound 
There are a total of 10 support agencies in the Parry Sound region. There are six community support 
service providers, two mental health & addiction providers, and one hospital and one public health unit. 
There are no community health centres or Community Care Access Centres.  

 
Table 32: Number of Support Agencies by Sector; Parry Sound 

Sector 
Support 
Agencies 

Proportion 

Community Care Access Centre 0 0.0% 

Community Health Centre 0 0.0% 

Community Support Services 6 60.0% 

Hospital  1 10.0% 

Mental Health & Addictions 2 20.0% 

Public Health Unit 1 10.0% 

Total 10  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

133



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 73 

 

 

Nipissing  
The Nipissing region has a total of 31 service providers. It is primarily serviced by 16 community support 
service agencies (51.6%). There are eight mental health & addictions service providers, three Community 
Care Access Centres, two community health centres, one hospital, and one public health unit. 

 
Table 33: Number of Support Agencies by Sector; Nipissing  

Sector 
Support 
Agencies 

Proportion 

Community Care Access Centre 3 9.7% 

Community Health Centre 2 6.5% 

Community Support Services 16 51.6% 

Hospital  1 3.2% 

Mental Health & Addictions 8 25.8% 

Public Health Unit 1 3.2% 

Total 31   

 
 
James and Hudson Bay Coasts 
The Coast region has a total of 34 support agencies. The 17 mental health & addictions service providers 
make up half of the support service network. This is followed by eight community support service 
providers (23.5%), six public health units (17.6%), two community health centres (5.9%), and one 
hospital (2.9%). There are no Community Care Access Centres located in the Coast Region. 

 
Table 34: Number of Support Agencies by Sector; James and Hudson Bay Coasts 

Sector 
Support 
Agencies 

Proportion 

Community Care Access Centre 1 2.9% 

Community Health Centre 2 5.7% 

Community Support Services 8 22.9% 

Hospital  1 2.9% 

Mental Health & Addictions 17 48.6% 

Public Health Unit 6 17.1% 

Total 35  
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

134



 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 74 

 

Appendix 3  
 
Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario: 
 
Financial Modelling Tool (Note: This Financial Modelling Tool can be Accessed at 
http://share.hscorp.ca ) 
 
Purpose: 
In support of the strategy development of the Innovative Housing and Health Supports in 
Northeastern Ontario, the North East Local Housing Integration Network (NE LHIN) commissioned 
a project to develop a financial modelling tool as the first step to analyze and assess a potential 
range of innovative funding mechanisms to aid in the development/ creation, renovation or re-
purposing of a range of adequate, affordable, safe and energy efficient housing through various 
funding mechanisms.  This aligns with “Innovative Housing” goal of the Strategic Plan.  
 
Housing Services Corporation (HSC) in consultation with the NE LHIN and the Expert Panel, 
created the financial modelling tool27 outlined in the attached spreadsheets. The financial tool is 
designed to assist in developing, sustaining, enhancing and growing the affordable housing 
supply. The tool templates are to be utilized in undertaking financial analysis and developing a 
business case to support decision making when considering financing options to develop 
affordable housing in Northern Ontario.  
 
The base model is designed for a new build and financing the project but also integrates four 
scenarios such as exploring additional revenue and municipal incentives, undertaking financing 
upgrades and retrofits and sub debt.  

About the Financial Modelling Tool 
The tool is structured to conduct financial analyses to determine the financial structure, shortfall 
in financing (if any) and viability of a project. In addition it allows stress testing of a project when 
considering various financing options. The templates integrated in the tool enable users to input 
information, with variables that can be changed to determine outcome.  

The key components of the tool are: 
 Project capital cost  

o Capital cost structure of a new build or retrofit 
 Project funding  

o Proponents equity 
o Grants (federal, provincial, municipal, other) 
o Gifts/donations 
o Debt financing required to cover shortfall 

 Project operating budget 
o Revenue 
o Expenses ( building and operational expenses ) 

 Debt Service Coverage Ratio (see additional explanation for Debt Service 
Coverage Ratio) 
 

                                                            
27 The financial modelling tool and its usability were presented to the Expert Panel and at the 2016 Forum.  

135

http://share.hscorp.ca/


 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 75 

 

The model has the ability to factor in supportive services and partnerships but the cooperative 
housing example used is for demonstration purposes only and does not include supportive 
services data (long term and flexible service agreements).  
 
Using the base model, HSC has stress tested various scenarios as outlined in the spreadsheets 
and noted below (PLEASE SEE http://share.hscorp.ca ).  
 
Scenario ( A ) Base Model of a New Build and the Financing the Project 
Scenario ( B ) Additional Revenue - Rental space (i.e. Shared Space) for a Service Providers 
Scenario ( C) Additional Municipal Incentives 
Scenario ( D) Financing Upgrades and Retrofits 
Scenario ( E ) Sub Debt is introduced to replace equity reduction.  Equity is reduced in order leverage 

another property.   
 
Users of these models are encouraged to adjust the variables identified to actual conditions 
and amounts in order to develop appropriate funding strategies for each of the projects under 
consideration.  This should be done with a view to arriving at an overall funding strategy to get 
to a DSCR that is higher than 1.0, for the housing project they are considering.  
 
BASE MODEL- EXAMPLE 
 

A cooperative housing corporation in Northern Ontario would like to build 34 residential 
units. The assumptions used for the base model are:  
 

 Funding for these units has been requested from the Ontario Ministry of Housing and 
the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC).  

 The proposed units will form a seniors’ residence/community living environment.  
  A needs analysis had been undertaken and the need for such an affordable housing 

facility was shown and confirmed.   
 A longstanding non-profit is willing to address the need and bring forth the project.  
 The local municipality offered the coop a parcel of land to develop for the proposed 

housing facility.  
 
The information for the model was compiled from a variety of actual and considered projects in 
Northern Ontario however; the information/examples used by Housing Service Corporation are 
for illustration purposes only and do not reflect an actual case.  
 
The Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR) is an indicator of the financial viability of the project.  
The ratio signifies the ability of the net operating income (Earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA)) to service the annual principal and interest payments.  
  
To warrant financing and to make the business case to go ahead with developing the housing 
under consideration, the Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR) will need to exceed a ratio of 1.0. 
 
DSCR = Net Operating Income (EBITDA) 
                 Total Debt Service  
 
Any debt service coverage ratio below 1.0 indicates that there is not enough cash flow to cover 
loan payments.  Debt coverage of 1.2 or higher is generally considered sufficient in these types 
of projects to achieve adequate funding and ensure that the project can proceed and operate in 
a financially sustainable manner. 

136

http://share.hscorp.ca/


 

Innovative Housing with Health Supports in Northeastern Ontario| 76 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

137


	Draft Agenda - Board Meeting Oct 28 2020 2
	Date:  Wednesday, October 28, 2020
	1.1 Call to Order
	Opening remarks by the Chair
	Approval of Agenda for October 28, 2020

	DRAFT September 23 Board Meeting Minutes without in camera
	REGULAR BOARD MEETING – WEDNESDAY SEPTEMBER 23, 2020
	1:30 PM VIA ZOOM
	MEMBERS PRESENT:
	CALL TO ORDER Resolution No. 2020-90
	Carried.
	DECLARATION OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
	Adoption of the Agenda
	Resolution No. 2020-91
	Resolution No. 2020-92-A
	Resolution No. 2020-92-B




	DRAFT Sept 23 Finance and Administration Committee Meeting Minutes
	FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE MEETING  WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 23, 2020
	12:00 PM VIA ZOOM
	MEMBERS PRESENT:
	DECLARATION OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
	No conflicts were declared.
	Adoption of the Agenda


	RESOLUTION:  FA #2020-07

	B18-20 Strategic Plan Update BN_Oct2020 (2)
	BRIEFING NOTE B18-20
	☒ For Information                     ☐ For Approval

	EMS03-20  Vehicle Maintenance RFP Briefing Note FINAL Oct 2020
	BRIEFING NOTE EMS03-20
	☒ For information     For Approval

	B08-20 Travel Meal  Hospitality Policy_FINAL_Briefing Note_Oct_2020
	Briefing Note B08-20
	(For Information   or X For Approval

	B08-20 Policy - Travel Meal and Hospitality Expenses FIN ADM 03 FINAL Oct 2020
	B15-20 Unsolicited Quotes Policy FINAL Report Oct 2020 mz
	BRIEFING NOTE B15-20
	   For information   X For Approval

	Unsolicited Quotations or Proposal Policy FINAL Oct 2020
	Unsolicited Quotations or Proposals Form FINAL Oct 2020
	HS34-20 NDHC Briefing Note - final edit (2) (2)
	BRIEFING NOTE HS34-20
	(For Information or ☒For Approval
	 Maplecrest I is owned by NDHC (with DNSSAB as the sole shareholder) and is operated by the DNSSAB’s Housing Operations department. As such, the DNSSAB has full control over the future direction of this project.
	 These family units, which are in the City of North Bay, have strong demand and contribute greatly to the stock of community  housing options in the City.
	 Recent upgrades funded through the SHEEP program have improved the efficiency and the environmental impact of these units.
	Appendix A – Financial Implications




